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Thursday, February 27, 2013

--- Upon commencing at 9:33 a.m. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.  

     We will just take a second to readjust everything here, after not sitting yesterday.  

     Mr. Cass, I see some undertaking responses up here; is that correct?  Would you like to -- oh, sorry.  

     [Laughter] 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Stevens, hello.  I see 

some undertaking responses here.

     MR. STEVENS:  Yes, that's correct.  Yesterday afternoon or yesterday evening, I believe there were four undertakings which were provided.  Enbridge continues to work away at the remaining undertakings, and we will provide them as they're completed.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. STEVENS:  Just as one other preliminary matter, before the hearing began, Mr. Quinn, on behalf of FRPO, provided a chart to be filled in with some information about some various items related to gas supply and storage. 

     I am informed that the completed chart will be provided before the end of the day today. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And do you have an ETA on J1.2?  That is the utilities financial results. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Right.  I know that work is underway.  When I last -- when I was speaking with one of the witnesses about it yesterday, it appeared highly unlikely that it will be completed before the end of this week. 

     I think it probably is safest for me to check at the break, and inform you after that. 

     MS. CONBOY:  If you could do that, great.  We were 

anticipating it this week, so hopefully we will be able to see that before the week's end. 

     Are there any preliminary matters before we start with 

cross-examination for today?  

     MR. STEVENS:  I have just one. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Please go ahead. 

     MR. STEVENS:  I am informed by the panel -- and I don't know exactly the substance of this as they're under cross-examination, but I am informed they believe it would be helpful just to make a brief clarifying comment at the beginning, as to the scope of their panel as compared to the other capital panels, just to make sure everybody is on the same page as to the evidence and issues that each of the respective panels will be addressing. 

     MS. CONBOY:  I think that is a good idea, and perhaps we could have that as a practice for the subsequent panels as well. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  Thank you.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 2, resumed


Jim Sanders, previously affirmed

Patricia Squires, previously affirmed

Lisa Lawler, previously affirmed

Linda Au, previously affirmed
     OPENING STATEMENT BY WITNESS PANEL: 

MS. SQUIRES:  Okay.  Good morning.  Pat Squires.  Thank you very much.  

I wanted to just take a few minutes to do two things. One is to orient the Board and the intervenors to our evidence, and this is coming from some of the questions that we received from Mr. Brett on Tuesday, which led us to believe that perhaps it wasn't self-evident how our evidence was laid out and what some of the content of our tables pertained to.  So I wanted to just take a few minutes to clarify that for everybody. 

     So we updated two tables in evidence, I think just before the hearing started, with 2013 actuals.  They're tables 2 and 13 in Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1.  It is the new page 44 and 45, and Mr. Brett had some questions about those tables that I wanted to clarify. 

     First of all, table 2, found on page 44 -- and we have that up now -- the format of this table is something that is probably familiar to most of you that have been involved in our proceedings in the past.  This is a format we used in many of our previous applications before the Board. 

     This format lays out our capital forecast by plant grouping.  And it includes departmental labour costs, administrative and general costs, and interest during construction, but those amounts are allocated to each line item. 

     That's why you don't see something at the bottom of that table summarizing what those amounts are.  And those allocations are done in accordance with our capitalization policies. 

     In contrast, table 13, which is found on page 45, actually contains the same information, just laid out in a slightly different way.

     This format shows our capital forecast grouped by business area, which aligns more closely to our organizational structure and the way our budgets were developed for this application. 

     And the reason we felt it was important to include the table in this format is because our capital panels, this one as well as subsequent ones, will be able to speak to line items in this table, table 13 format, much more easily. 

     The key difference you will notice, though, is that the departmental labour costs, administrative and general, and interest during construction amounts are aggregated at the bottom of the table. 

     So the amounts for each line item, for each capital amount shown, are direct costs for those line items. 

     The totals at the bottom of each column, you will see are the same in both tables.  So hopefully that clarifies the differences between those two tables for you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  I believe there was an undertaking to provide that allocation of loading on the page 45 of 45; correct?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  The undertaking was to provide the allocation of those amounts to the "System integrity" line, which we have provided. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Just a couple of more additional comments, again with respect to the content that this panel will be able to speak to, as well as subsequent capital panels. 

     This capital overview panel is intended to provide the Board and intervenors with an understanding of the following aspects of our capital plan: the high-level drivers of our overall capital forecast, the process that was followed in order to arrive at this plan, the nature and magnitude of the productivity challenge embedded in our plan, how the asset plan links to and supports our application, how indirect capital costs such as 

departmental labour costs are allocated to the various categories of capital spend. 

     These aspects are covered, for the most part, in the capital budget overview filed at Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1 of our prefiled evidence.  

     Subsequent capital panels have been designed to provide the Board and intervenors with access to subject matter experts that can speak to the detailed aspects of our capital plan, and those items are captured in our evidence in the B2 series of exhibits that follow the capital overview. 

Having said that, this capital overview panel will do our best to answer any questions that you have for us, and when necessary, we will defer to subsequent capital panels.  

Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

I have an order of cross-examination that sees Mr. Quinn going first, and I understand that Mr. Mondrow has provided you with his questions, as he is unable to attend today. 

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please go ahead. 

     MR. QUINN:  I appreciate you understood Mr. Mondrow couldn't be here, and I have his questions.  I also will be asking questions of this panel, as we were encouraged the other day, to put some scrutiny on the capital panel.

To the extent that I am over any time, I am willing to sacrifice time from later panels, because I understand this panel is the panel I need to speak to in this area. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  I think that that’s a fair request from you and from others, with the caveat that we're allowing this given that it is all under the capital umbrella.  So the system of banking time from, say, capital to OM&A, that, we're not going to allow for.  But particularly with today's clarification, I think that that is a fair one. 

     But if you could just -- you know, we will see how we go, in terms of planning our timing.  But that's a fair request, Mr. Quinn. 

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  With concise answers, I should not be more than a half hour or so.  Beyond that, it wouldn't be more than 45 minutes.  But I will be specific about where I pull back my time from to Board Staff, so they're aware of it. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And that goes for everybody else.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. QUINN:

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn and I represent the Federation of Rental-Housing Providers of Ontario.  Predominantly, my questions may be for you, Mr. Sanders.

In providing your responses to Mr. Brett on Friday, a number of times you stated that you were not a regulatory expert.  However, can I confirm that you are a member of the executive management team of Enbridge?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  And if I understand the testimony of Mr. Fischer on panel 1, you are the only member of the executive management team that is scheduled to testify in this proceeding; is that correct?

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  In your role on the executive management team, you would have been privy to discussions that talked about the relative risks of capital recovery, given an I-X versus a cost of service or building block approach.  

Is that correct, that you were privy to those discussions?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Other than the scope in 2013 and my 

involvement in the capital oversight committee, prior to my 

taking this role, I have not been subsequently a part of any of those conversations.  

MR. QUINN:  But the executive management team would 

have had to have recommended to your board the approach you're taking in this proceeding; is that not correct?

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, I believe all that occurred in 2013, and I am trying to recall subsequently any modification of that.  I don't recall being part of any conversations to that effect.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I may ask my questions, and to the extent that you don't have answers, then we would appreciate and accept an undertaking to that effect.  Thank you.  

     So, now I want to understand, then, the fundamental premise for the need for the customized IR plan that Enbridge is applying for here.  Would it be acceptable to describe Enbridge's position that this is -- that it is the increase in capital cost and the variability and lumpiness of those costs through the IR period that is the main driver for the ineffectiveness of an I-X approach to provide sufficient funding for Enbridge's revenue requirement?  Is that an adequate working summary?  

     MR. STEVENS:  Before we get into this area, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, I am concerned that we're going to end up re-ploughing ground around what is the model, why was it chosen. 

     And this panel is certainly here to speak to the details of the capital budget that underlie it, but I would have expected that questions about suitability and choice of model would have gone to the first panel. 

     I am not sure whether it is clear from Mr. Sanders' testimony, but my understanding -- and I am sure he will confirm this -- is he became a member of the executive management team in September of 2013, so three to four months -- about three months after this filing was completed, so I am not sure how the questions, A, will be answerable by him, and B, really relate to this panel. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Quinn?

     MR. QUINN:  I was trying to establish a fundamental premise for the rest of my questions.  I was just looking for a working summary.  We have all heard the evidence, and Mr. Sanders, I'm sure, has been informed of this evidence.  I was just trying to get a fundamental working definition to launch into my questions, which will not speak specifically to the model but to the contention of why they need the model.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Is that reasonable?  

     MR. STEVENS:  I am happy to have the questions proceed and see where we end up.  I have indicated my concern about going through items that are really relevant to the first two panels. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  We will see how the questioning goes, but I think it is a fair enough question if the capital group is going to be operating under this model that they're proposing, that they have a good understanding of how the model is going to work, why it was implemented over other choices, given that they're going to be having to work within it for the next five years. 

     So why don't we just proceed?  And the panel will do as best they can.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I just pose that question again.  Is that an adequate working summary from your perspective, Mr. --

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Quinn, if you could repeat your summary?  I can't recall it.  

     MR. QUINN:  That it is Enbridge's position that the increase in capital cost and the variability and lumpiness of those costs through the IR period is the main driver for the ineffectiveness of an I-X approach to provide sufficient funding for Enbridge's revenue requirement.  

     MR. SANDERS:  I believe that's fair.  Again, I am not up on all of the details around this, and I believe the previous panel had spoken to the model requirements and all the implications of that, but I do accept that the capital -- and as I have mentioned in my opening statement, it is certainly a change in how our capital has functioned in the past. 

     The very large projects like the GTA project, like the WAMS replacement project, are factors in our capital planning going forward.  And as I have talked about, our need to address the fundamental shift in the system integrity and reliability area is certainly giving us concern in how we put the plan forward.  Again, I believe I have already spoken to that in my opening statement. 

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, you did, and I will be bringing that up just in a moment, thank you.


So what I was just trying to establish, Mr. Sanders, is your capital needs are new and they're lumpy and your evidence is the customized IR approach does not provide sufficient funds, but we can be comforted that there has been rigour applied to your capital budget process?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


So in your opening statement provided in-chief on Tuesday, you stated -- and I am reading this as a direct quote:

"The 2012 version of the Ontario pipeline regulations now require pipeline operators to introduce and maintain a pipeline integrity management program that covers 100 per cent of the operating assets."

     Stopping there, is it the company's position that the integrity management program is a recent regulatory requirement of the Technical Standards and Safety Authority?

     MR. SANDERS:  So, Mr. Quinn, as I pointed out in my opening as well, the fundamental shift is the difference between applying the integrity management program approach to only the 30 percent SMYS and greater pipelines, versus now applying that approach to all of the distribution assets.

     MR. QUINN:  So it is specifically the integrity program as applied to pipelines operating less than 30 percent as specified minimum yield strength?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct.  And I might add too, Mr. Quinn, I would also consider the -- going deeper into it and looking at the code requirements in Z-662, the language it talks about specifically identifying risk and failures before they occur, I see that as one of our fundamental shifts going into this next IR term.

     Our obligation is to identify those risks and hazards and mitigate them before the failure occurs.  I see that as a fairly fundamental shift. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And the word I used, though, was "recent" regulatory requirement of the TSSA.  To your knowledge, when did the TSSA first introduce the need for Ontario utilities to have this distribution system integrity management program?  

     MS. LAWLER:  The distribution system integrity management program language started around 2008.  But if I can point you to Exhibit I.B18.EGDI.SEC.82, the attachment to that is the code adoption document from the Technical Standards and Safety Authority. 

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, Ms. Lawler. 

     MS. LAWLER:  And under -- in that attachment you can see that there is a clause -- they have amended clause 12.10 of the Z-662 to add 12.10.16, that indicates that pipelines operating with an MOP of less than 30 percent SMYS need to be included.  And that is new.  

     MR. QUINN:  And Mr. -- 

     MR. SANDERS:  I think the data on that was issued in November of 2012.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Mr. Sanders, I am going to point you back to an earlier period of time.  I am asking my questions specifically.

When did the Technical Standards and Safety Authority first introduce the need to have a distribution system integrity management program?  Do you or Ms. Lawler know when that date is?

Would you take it, subject to check, that it was in 2006, Ms. Lawler?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Subject to check.  I believe that we get into the history in the asset plan, and if you would -- I can look for that in the asset plan. 

     MR. QUINN:  Well, just in terms of being efficient with our time, if you can take that it is 2006, subject to check, while you are checking that could you determine, if you don't have it with you, when the initial implementation of the program was ordered by the director of the fuel safeties branch of the TSSA, and when the implementation and documentation needed to be completed by?

     MS. LAWLER:  Again, I believe that is where the 2008 number comes from.  

     MR. QUINN:  I think you are correct.  If you would take it subject to check, there was April 30th, 2008 is when the director's order required utilities to have a plan in place.

Would you take that, subject to check, or would you like to take an undertaking to provide a response?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Subject to check.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  

     So when did Enbridge complete this initial program as ordered by the TSSA?

     MS. LAWLER:  We have had a distribution system integrity management program that is compliant with the language of the time.  

     MR. QUINN:  So that April 30th, 2008?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you be able to provide by way of undertaking the results of that initial program implementation?  

     MS. LAWLER:  By way of undertaking, yes.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, I respect it does take time -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, sorry, can I just -- Mr. Quinn, I am just going to give that a number. 


MR. QUINN:  Yes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  It is J5.1. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  TO PROVIDE THE RESULTS OF THE INITIAL DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM INTEGRITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION.

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


Now, I do respect that it does take time to perform studies, but would you agree with me that these are not new requirements first instituted in 2012?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Correct.  But if I could clarify, the need to have a systematic, structured way to evaluate risks and determine if the mitigations that the company has are sufficient, and that we are identifying all failures and -- that could happen.  And getting in front of those failures, again, I believe that there is a fundamental shift in the nature of the legislation with respect to the TSSA code adoption document of November 2012.

MR. QUINN:  And that may in fact be the case, although the actual study was produced -- you have already taken the undertaking to produce that, so we might be able to do a comparison at that point of any relevant changes.

     Now, just moving into a little bit different area,  Enbridge has used the term "lumpy."  Can you turn up Interrogatory SEC 7?  

     Bonnie is pretty good at this, but it is A1.EGDI.SEC.7.  

     Now, in response to SEC's inquiry regarding the lumpy nature of the spending, EGD produced these graphs, and I would like to focus on -- after seeing a glimpse of the first graph, if we can take a look at the graph on the second page.

     And with the verbiage that is above the graph, it is clear that this is the graph that Enbridge is using to demonstrate the lumpy nature of its capital requirements.

Would you agree with that assessment?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, we believe that illustrates some aspects of the lumpiness.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     Now, we -- and I think Mr. Sanders referred to this just briefly.  In this application, Enbridge has applied for variance account protection on both the GTA and the Ottawa expenditures; is that correct?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I can't recall if it's variance account 

treatment or Y factor treatment.  And I believe it is for the GTA project.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     If we could then turn up TCU2.15, I trust that you would have the corrected version, as there was a glitch with the initial version.  

Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you, Bonnie. 

     So on page 2, you see that same picture again that 

demonstrates the total capital expenditures as being a spike in the 2014, 2015 and 2016 range. 

     However, the question was asked by Energy Probe to remove Ottawa and the GTA, and take another look at what the expenditures look like related more to the core capital. 

     I think that you will find that, if you would advance it to page 4.  And clearly in the above graph, we can see a considerable reduction in the magnitude of expenditures when you exclude GTA and Ottawa.  

     Looking down further into the absolute difference, which is the same representation that Enbridge used to describe its lumpy expenditures when asked initially by SEC, we can see an interesting picture that compares the last IR period to this IR period.  

     Would you agree with me that this representation would 

say that the variability of expenditures in the last IR period and this IR period are pretty similar?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That illustration -- I would agree that 

illustration does suggest that. 

     However, just referring back to my earlier comment, the GTA, WAMS and Ottawa projects are just one aspect of the lumpiness characterization of our capital. 

     I would also like to mention that we have made every effort to try and intentionally smooth the capital profile over the forecast period by removing a lot of the variability that we anticipate, and much of that variability is captured in the -- what we have called the variable costs, which have been stripped out 

of our forecast.  And there is a number of interrogatories, SEC 11 being one of them, that lay out what those variable costs are. 

     So while that profile does appear smooth, our expectation is that the drivers of our capital will continue to be irregular.  

     MR. QUINN:  I appreciate your interpretation of that, but I would refer to the fact that the budget you have proposed is captured in that graph with only GTA and Ottawa removed; is that correct?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  So WAMS is still in there.  Would you agree with me it would be contributing to some of that early period variance from the mean?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Probably.  I haven't done the math, but I would expect so. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, you have also provided to us that we can take comfort in the fact that there is rigour applied to your budget process. 

     How would you define rigour in this context?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Quinn, when we started this process -- in fact, I will say I was not directly involved at the beginning of the process.  I was brought in probably around review 2 of the process. 

     Mr. Mandyam and myself actually were charged with delivering the lowest possible prudent capital budget.  We assembled a team of roughly a dozen people in that process.  Those people included technical experts, legal experts, regulatory experts, financial experts.  

     In that team, we on the construction engineering and 

operations side, we had a team of people that had over a hundred years of direct experience in those areas. 

     That team went through, as you can see in the evidence, many reviews to critically assess the requirement to arrive at that lowest possible prudent capital budget. 

     We have done our best to present that in evidence and 

through some of the interrogatories, to show the iterations that we went through looking at each of the projects and programs to critically assess them and determine if there were a number of options. 

     I went through some of those criteria in my opening 

Statement, of how we tackled and looked at those particular 

reviews. 

     MR. QUINN:  So a large team, many iterations, but would you agree with me that with a portfolio of projects, moving projects in and out of the portfolio demonstrates trade-offs of wants versus needs, but that process does not provide any evidence of the rigour of the individual project estimates?

     MR. SANDERS:  If you wanted to talk about, again, unit cost, that is a factor that you have to consider. 

     So the productivity issues that we have addressed upfront, I think, would demonstrate the need to further reduce in those areas. 

     Again, as I mentioned in my opening statement, simply looking at the area of growth as an example, we're committed to using the attachment cost per customer to the pre-2012 level, which is a reduction, I believe, subject to check, on the 2012-2013 actual unit cost per attachment.

So those are the kind of examples that we would use to say that yes, we recognize there is a need for 

improvement on the unit cost side, and we have built those as productivity factors into the plan. 

     MR. QUINN:  Now, I understand you had encouraged us to ask questions about customer additions to a later panel, so I don't want to go down that road with you, but I do want to focus on the system integrity capital projects. 

     To aid that, could you turn up A1.EGDI.SEC.11 that you referred to a few minutes ago?  Do you have that?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. QUINN:  I want to flip ahead to the table that is found on page –- well, attachment 1, page 1 of 1, I think is probably the best starting point.  

Do I have that correct, that attachment 1 summarizes the respective projects and budget allocations over the six reviews done by Enbridge?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. QUINN:  Now, I will defer my specific project questions, with the exception of one, to later panels. 

     However, when I survey this -- and I know it is a bit of an eye test, but I see project allocations going up and down over the course of the iterative reviews, but I don't see systemic reductions in project lines.  

     Would you agree with me that, from an overall sense, this table represents projects being moved in and out, and not individual projects being reduced in cost?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Actually, Mr. Quinn, I would not agree with that.  And again, subject to check -- and I am equally challenged at the font as well -- but there were a number of projects that were reduced over the iterations, and there were projects that fluctuated through the review process.  And this was, again, challenging the scope of the project, challenging the pace of the project, challenging it on potential alternatives for the projects. 

     So there were a number that were increased during that term or -- and in fact, I do recall some projects perhaps even showing up during the review process because of the time frame that it was taking place.  But also, there were a number of projects that were either eliminated or reduced at the same time. 

     MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me that in any program there's a learning curve?  Practices improve, costs go down? 

     MR. SANDERS:  That is one potential outcome, that costs go down, but also, costs can go up as you learn more about a program and the need for the program as well. 

     MR. QUINN:  Well, I've reviewed these numbers, and I appreciate that with the scope that you have, Mr. Sanders, you may not have got down into this detail once again after being through it a few times before. 

     Can you, by way of undertaking, provide to us those projects that have incorporated a project learning curve or a reduction in cost over time that demonstrates that rigour was applied to the individual project estimates?

     MS. LAWLER:  In general, the holding 2017 and '18 flat is an implicit productivity expectation of all of the line items. 

      MR. QUINN:  So you're saying because inflation wasn't added in the latter two terms, that's the level of rigour that we can expect?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Quinn, I would also point you to Interrogatory B -- or, sorry, Exhibit I.B-18.EGD.STAFF.55, page 2 of 2.  I believe that table is fairly helpful in -- and may be helpful to your question in some of the projects and programs that, in fact, were reduced. 

     And I appreciate this is a summary at somewhat of a higher level, but I could use, for example, the amp fitting program, which is "Amp fitting replacements" at B2, tab 5, schedule 3, attachment 2.  And you can see in -- I think between reviews, looking at the 2014 to 2015 and 2016 amounts, $27 million was removed from the initial recommendation on the program.  

     MR. QUINN:  And was that not done as a result of learnings from earlier on in that project?  Your decay curve didn't advance at the level you expected it would for those fittings?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Perhaps, Mr. Quinn -- I am challenged a little bit by your question.  When you say "learnings" from the program, are you referring to actual execution of the project itself, the replacement of the fittings?  Or are you referring to the engineering work that was occurring before executing on the program?  

     MR. QUINN:  I would have to go back to the table, Mr. Sanders.  I am going to handle it this way.  There is a subsequent panel that amp fittings would have more detail on, would there not be?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then I will defer the specific questions on that.  I was asking you more generally, going back to SEC 11, with the projects that were reviewed and going over the six reviews and the relative costs that are in the projects for the years '14, '15 and '16 -- I know we can't speak to '17 and '18 -- but can you, by way of undertaking, show those projects that have had a systematic reduction that recognizes that there will be improvements in the learning curve and therefore rigour in the estimates that we -- you are being -- asking this Board to accept?

     MS. LAWLER:  So again, just for clarity, you are asking if we have built unit cost reductions to multiply by the number of units that we do in what has been presented; is that correct?

     MR. QUINN:  I would not narrow the scope that tightly.  I would say if you have told us that there is rigour in the estimates, I'm saying show us.  So I am giving you an opportunity to show this Board where the rigour is in these 

estimates.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Quinn, could you help us with what you mean by "learning curve"?  Because I feel like I have heard it two ways.  I feel like I've heard you describing "learning curve" in the context of these studies or projects being underway and the company learning something through that exercise.  And I feel like I have also heard it described as if it is a learning curve through the budgeting process.

And to me, those seem like different things, and to be able to answer the question fully it would be helpful for me to understand that. 

     MS. CONBOY:  I am struggling a bit with understanding your question, Mr. Quinn. 

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I am speaking specifically, Madam Chair, to the engineering knowledge that is gleaned from doing a project.  Materials are understood better.  Project workforces are better equipped and organized to deliver improvements, to Ms. Lawler's point.  Sometimes it is unit cost reductions in replacements. 

     Some of these projects have been underway.  Enbridge has been learning what its risks are and should -- in my understanding, should have applied that in their budget allocations. 

     I am relying on them when they have said they have applied rigour in their estimates, and I am giving them an opportunity to show us where that rigour is.  This would just be one aspect of that rigour.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Is that more clear for you?  

     MR. STEVENS:  It's perhaps more clear.  I am just still -- perhaps it is the premise of the question that started on the chart that looked at six budget reviews that ran from January until May that I am stuck on. 

     Are you looking at what learnings Enbridge had from a program delivery perspective through that period, which allowed it to change its budget estimates through the different iterations that are seen on SEC 11?  

     MR. QUINN:  Mr. Stevens, some of these projects have been underway for years.  Amp fittings, Mr. Sanders gave us as an example.  There are other projects that have been underway.  An organization learns about what it really needs to replace and how best to replace those, in this case amp fittings, or in other cases station regulators.


Whatever the project is, there is a learning curve that comes by actually accomplishing the project and determining what you found in the field. 

     MR. STEVENS:  It strikes me it could be an enormous amount of work to go through each of the items on this budget and say:  Here's the learnings that informed our initial budget, for each of the -- I think there is five pages of tiny font on page SEC 11 -- and that is how we have a rigorous starting budget, and then we went through the budget, and here is how we further refined it. 

     MR. QUINN:  That is not what I'm asking for, Mr. Stevens.  I am asking that Mr. Sanders provide a summary for those projects that have had a rigorous application of project knowledge that has resulted in a reduction across the reviews, or over the years that the numbers are budgeted for.

That's each of those lines.  It doesn't require a detailed explanation; it requires a numeric calculation.  

     MS. CONBOY:  So what you're saying is, for example, if there was a certain project that was going to cost -- going into the initial budgeting process was going to cost $2 million, and then Mr. Sanders sits down with his team and says:  Well, actually, we have been doing this for the last five years.  It might not be $2 million.  It might be a million and a half dollars.  Okay.  Let's put down a million and a half dollars.  

     MR. QUINN:  Exactly that. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Does that help?  

     MR. STEVENS:  I don't want to speak for the witnesses.  I don't know what information we have available, but that is more clear to me. 

     MR. SANDERS:  So thanks, Mr. Quinn and Panel Members.  It is helping me to understand the question.  I believe we can take this as an undertaking to have a look at this. 

     My difficulty, Mr. Quinn, I think is the same as Mr. Stevens, that going through a process of trying to address every one of the projects within a five-year capital plan is a rather daunting task. 

     We could undertake to find specific examples that might be helpful to this proceeding.  

     MR. QUINN:  What I would like to suggest, Mr. Sanders, because I have been through this, is a lot of them, the project cost doesn't change at all.  You don't have to look at those.  Just look at those where the project cost has changed, and that will give you opportunity to focus on the 

ones that really may be able to demonstrate rigour. 

     MR. SANDERS:  And I appreciate your clarification that it is a change, not necessarily a reduction.  Thinking through that process, some of those costs, in fact, may actually increase. 

     I would point out again, though, I think as Ms. Lawler was starting to comment on, that -- and I do appreciate the fundamental build-up of the cost estimate requirement -- but in the process, again, our approach to this was to try and find a reduction in possibilities across broad categories as well. 

     As you can appreciate, we looked at the growth as an 

example again, and appreciating that we were trying to hold that cost flat over the IR term.  So right off the bat, that demands a productivity improvement within the growth capital category. 

     So in a number of -- and this is why I was pointing you to the Staff 55 interrogatory response.  That table was attempting to provide a list of the areas where we specifically removed the costs that had some level of uncertainty, that we wanted to see a reduction in.  

     MS. CONBOY:  There are -- I appreciate there are a lot of numbers here.  So in order to move this along, why don't we assign this an undertaking number -- best efforts, please -- to look at it? 

     I am assuming there's some documentation behind these tables that explains where you might have started with one number and ended up with a different number.  It is written down somewhere.  If you could go through and look at that, that would be great.  We're here to try and determine five years' worth of costs with productivity improvements in them.  We need to be able to understand where those improvements are.  

So we will give it a number, please.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  J5.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY PRODUCTIVITY IMPROVEMENTS.
     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Mr. Quinn, I might be able to offer a helpful reference for you, and that is in an undertaking from the technical conference.  

It is technical conference Undertaking 3.1, and that is the undertaking that captures all of Mr. Shepherd's 

technical conference questions, so it is a very long undertaking.  

But it is SEC Question 49 as part of that undertaking, and it outlines the evolution of the company's thinking, and the process over the course of those six reviews.  

So it highlights the point, I think, that over the course of the six reviews, our thinking on our model that we would eventually file changed, and at that point -– review 3, for example, is when we made the decision to pull out the variable costs.

So some of that may help explain the up-and-down pattern that you see over the six reviews. 

     MR. QUINN:  I have read that, thank you, but I will review it again with your request.  I don't think we got the undertaking number, and I want to give Ms. Sebalj that opportunity.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  We did. 

     MR. QUINN:  We did?  Okay.  Before I leave this one area, this is a question Mr. Mondrow and I discussed. 

     You’ve used the term "fundamental technical 

regulatory shift" that requires the company to assess these 

failures. 

     By a separate undertaking, would you be able to show which of those projects are qualified under that fundamental technical regulatory shift, so that we could see those projects specifically?

     MS. LAWLER:  Amp fittings is a very good example of that.  We want to move from finding leaks and fixing them to proactively replacing the fitting before it fails. 

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, I understand that evidence, and I hopefully will have a chance to speak with your amp fitting panel about that.  But I was looking at all of the projects, and that is what Mr. Mondrow was trying to determine, which of these projects are driven by this fundamental technical regulatory shift.  

If you just, by way of undertaking, could differentiate those projects, that would be helpful to Mr. Mondrow, and, I trust, the Board. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Okay.  We will take that as an undertaking. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  J5.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  TO SHOW SPECIFICALLY WHICH PROJECTS ARE QUALIFIED UNDER WHAT THE COMPANY DESCRIBES AS A FUNDAMENTAL TECHNICAL REGULATORY SHIFT, AND RELATE THAT TO LINE ITEMS ON EXHIBIT B2, TAB 5, SCHEDULE 1, TABLE 2. 
     MS. SEBALJ:  -- table 2
     CHAIR CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. QUINN:  This is the last question in this area, and I have one more area of questions.

Just on an overall basis, we have talked about what can be done in the course of a project; you learn, you apply, and sometimes you have to expand.  I accept that. 

     But to the extent that a program expands, the need is driven at the same risk level, but it expands.  Is it true that Enbridge can choose to vary the pace of the program?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  I think you will see that through the budget review process that we went through. 

     And amp fittings is a good example of that as well, because despite the replacement curve that we have in our evidence, that doesn't peak until 2017, we have accepted that we are going to hold to a 2016 level.  

And I can further state that we have reviewed this with the Technical Standards and Safety Authority, and 

they -- their opinion when we met with them was that we were not being aggressive enough. 

     So I have the unenviable position to defend to this 

Panel the financial costs of our programs, and to the Technical Standards and Safety Authority the safety aspect of what we're trying to accomplish.  

In reviewing with the Technical Standards and Safety Authority, they were -- they were supportive of the approach that we were taking with respect of the asset plan process.  

     The specifics around the amp fitting was a level of 

discomfort for them, and it is for me as well.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

My last area of question is –- 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Madam Chair, let me just jump in.

Maybe I misunderstood that.  Are we hearing hearsay evidence about what somebody else said, or did I misunderstand that?  Is the witness giving evidence as to what the TSSA thinks?  

MR. STEVENS:  I heard the witness speaking as to what she understood from comments made by the TSSA to her.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think -- unless they're going to bring the TSSA here, I don't think that is appropriate evidence.  

     MR. STEVENS:  I heard the witness speak to her level of comfort or non-comfort with what's being proposed, given her experience and the responsibilities of her role, which include dealing with others.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Well, we can -- you can address that in your final arguments, Mr. Shepherd. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking that that evidence should be disqualified; it is not evidence.  

Whether the TSSA likes their plan or not is not on the record here, and should not be on the record here.  They can bring the TSSA to talk to us about that, to talk to the Board about that.  But they haven't, and they shouldn't be able to bring it in sideways. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  We will consider your objection over the break, Mr. Shepherd, as to whether we allow that to remain on the record or take it off. 

     And, Mr. Quinn, if you could continue? 

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and thank you, Mr. 

Shepherd. 

     The load shed plan -- it is described in your B2 evidence that, I understand, you're testifying to.  But just at a high level, is it Enbridge's evidence that a supply disruption on the TCPL system has informed EGD that it should look at the size of its load shed zones on its distribution system?  Do I have that right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  There were many factors; that is one of the factors, absolutely. 

     MR. QUINN:  Now, Mr. Sanders, you and I worked together previously at Union Gas; that's correct, is it not?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  And I think we would then -- because we worked on the distribution systems together, we would share knowledge of Union's approach called "emergency control areas"?

     MR. SANDERS:  Which I believe has subsequently been updated, but yes, that was the case way back when. 

     MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And in your recollection, when did Union Gas undertake its ECA program system?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I am not aware of when it was initiated, but it was probably before I had even started at Union Gas. 

     MR. QUINN:  And it was before I started there also.  Would you take it, subject to check, that it was 1973?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Subject to check. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And in its system, it had a maximum number of customers that it sought to be able to isolate without losing other customers.  Do you recall what that number was?  

     MR. SANDERS:  No, I don't recall. 

     MR. QUINN:  Would you take it, subject to check, that it was 3,000?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Sure, subject to check.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So Union has had this system in place for decades, updated as it may be, but in the day was seeking to isolate customers no more than 3,000.  

Your evidence is that you have load shed zones in the order of 10,000?  

     MR. SANDERS:  In fact, Mr. Quinn, I believe -- and again, subject to check, and some of the other panels, subsequent panels, will be able to speak to it in more detail, I believe.

Some of our areas are larger than that; in fact, in the tens of thousands of customers. 

     So that is why, in this evidence and through the planning process for the capital plan, it was addressed as a gap and an issue that Enbridge thought was important to address, to try and further reduce those load shed zones. 

     MR. QUINN:  But you would agree that this risk mitigation strategy is not new to the gas industry?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I would agree. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In 2012, Enbridge surveyed the Canadian Gas Association to evaluate -- this is your evidence from B2, tab 1, schedule 2, where it says:

"In  2012, Enbridge surveyed the Canadian Gas Association to evaluate current load shed planning methodologies and practices used in the industry, including the number of customers and the number of valves." 

     Mr. Sanders, was that study filed with the Board, to your knowledge?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Quinn, I will defer this to the subsequent panel.  There will be other people that can speak to the details of the load shed program and the approach we have taken.  I am not aware of any documents that we filed beyond the evidence that has been filed. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I would appreciate we can go into the detail with them, but as a heads-up, if it has not been filed we would be looking for you to undertake to file it, please. 

     And actually, if it is in advance of that panel, it would be helpful to have that to be able to discuss with the panel. 

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Quinn.  Can you clarify?  What was the request?  

     MR. QUINN:  The Canadian Gas Association, you surveyed the Canadian Gas Association to evaluate current load shed planning methodologies, practices used in the industry, including the number of customers and the number of valves.

     MR. SANDERS:  That -- just for clarification, that may have not resulted in a report or a document.  That may -- the survey could have just -- could have been a verbal conversation with different companies, but we will undertake to determine what the outcome was. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And then if it was not a report -- and that is a good clarification, Mr. Sanders -- I would like any summary communication that came from that, and I'd ideally like it in advance of that panel, which would maybe reduce our questions because the evidence will already be on the record.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Why don't we give that an undertaking number now?  And then if it has been filed and you have just missed it, Mr. Quinn, Enbridge will be able to advise you of that. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay. 

     MS. CONBOY:  So it is one document, and if there is no report, then the undertaking is for a summary?  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  J5.4. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4:  TO PROVIDE SUMMARY INFORMATION ON 2012 SURVEY OF CANADIAN GAS ASSOCIATION, OR ADVISE IF THERE IS ALREADY INFORMATION ON RECORD.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
     MR. QUINN:  And thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I have been watching the clock, and I am 40 minutes, approximately, and I will deduct from future panels.  Thank you very much. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And I will add your time -- sorry, I will add Mr. Mondrow's time to your overall time.

     I believe, Mr. Thompson, am I correct that you are next?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that's my understanding.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  I've got you down for 45 minutes.  I am wondering if we should -- I've got a question of Ms. Sebalj, but I wonder if after I hear that we should take the break.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine. 

     MS. CONBOY:  And then you can take us up afterwards. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Sebalj, you heard Mr. Shepherd's objection to the conversation that the witness had with the TSSA with respect to hearsay evidence.  

     Before the Panel considers this over the break, is there something you would like to add?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I mean, obviously -- two things, I guess.  The way I understood Ms. Lawler, she was speaking with respect to her -- her -- a conversation that she had, and I guess it should be up to her to clarify for the record whether any of that is hearsay in the legal sense, in the sense that she was speaking to conversations or an understanding that she had that isn't her direct understanding. 

     The second thing is that there is some flexibility with respect to adjudicative tribunals with respect to whether or not they allow hearsay evidence, and then it will go to weight, as to whether or not -- it goes to the weight of the evidence, that you put on that evidence.

In my view, there is some flexibility that isn't afforded a court, for instance, that could be afforded here.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  I don't know if Mr. Shepherd has a response to that. 

     [Board Panel Members confer]

     MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Lawler, would you be able to clarify for us the conversation that you were referring to with the TSSA?

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  Prior to filing the asset plan in -- as part of our evidence, we wanted to make sure that the TSSA, the Technical Standards and Safety Authority, was aware of the asset plan and the findings that we were presenting that were going to be part of the public record. 

     So we had a presentation with the Technical Standards and Safety Authority.  Through the course of that presentation, the Technical Standards and Safety Authority was sufficiently uncomfortable -- they were comfortable with our approach with respect to our asset plan process and our risk identification process and risk mitigation process, but they were sufficiently uncomfortable with the specifics of the amp fitting program that they requested a follow-up meeting with us, which we did have.

And I can undertake to provide both presentations to

this Panel, as well as the minutes from that meeting.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, go ahead, Mr. Shepherd. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have no problem with the witness giving evidence that they had meetings with the TSSA.

I don't believe that this Board can be influenced by what the witness says is the opinion of the TSSA.  I don't think that is appropriate in the circumstances.  

     MS. CONBOY:  I understand your objection, Mr. Shepherd.  Does the fact that Ms. Lawler has offered to provide these as undertakings allay any of your concerns?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Unless the TSSA is willing to tell us what their opinion is directly and be available for cross-examination, I don't think that that opinion is part of the evidence in this proceeding and should be.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


We will consider everything that's been said and provide you with direction after the break.  We will break until quarter to 11:00, and start off with you, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 10:29 a.m.

     --- Upon resuming at 10:49 a.m. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, everyone.  

RULING:
     MS. CONBOY:  The Panel has discussed School's objection over the break, and we've decided we will not strike the evidence of Ms. Lawler that was objected to. 

     We accept that to be Ms. Lawler's understanding of the 

conversation that she had with the TSSA, and what the TSSA thinks, and we will give it the appropriate weight.  We will also not accept the undertakings for that.  

     Mr. Thompson?

     MR. STEVENS:  Excuse me.  Sorry, Ms. Conboy, just before we start, I was to report on J1.2. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Yes, please. 

     MR. STEVENS:  I am informed that Enbridge is not going to be able to file it before the end of the week, but will file it on Monday, as early in the day as possible. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just at the outset, I think there is a package of material in front of you.  I sent an e-mail out, or a few e-mails out yesterday pertaining to some documents, and either the company or the Staff or a combination have been kind enough to provide copies.

I would like to mark those at the outset of my examination. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  There are four documents.

The first I would like to mark is the excerpt from the Board's Decision with Reasons in EB-2005-001/EB-2005-0437.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  K5.1. 

EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  BOARD'S DECISION WITH REASONS IN EB-2005-001/EB-2005-0437.
     MS. CONBOY:  That is the one that starts with the intervenors' proposed 2006 capital budgets?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.  It is the Board's findings, paragraphs 2.2.1 through to -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  This is back when we weren't as diligent with our headers and footers, so I wanted to make sure I had the right one. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  The second is the company's 2012-2021 asset plan, which was presented in the rebasing case. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  K5.2. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  EGDI'S 2012-2021 ASSET PLAN, PRESENTED IN THE REBASING CASE.
     MR. THOMPSON:  The third is copies of diagrams that appear within that Exhibit K5.2.  I would ask that those be copied, because they can easily then be compared to the similar charts in the 2013 asset plan.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  K5.3. 

EXHIBIT NO. K5.3:  DIAGRAMS FROM EXHIBIT K5.2.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And lastly, I asked for capital spend, 

actual capital spend in 2013 by month, and the company has 

provided a document showing those numbers.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And that is K5.4 

^ EXHIBIT NO. K5:  EGDI'S ACTUAL 2013 CAPITAL SPEND BY MONTH.
     MS. CONBOY:  Just by way of clarification, K5.4 was 

provided by Enbridge, so these are -- there's no issue with the numbers?  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

     MR. THOMPSON:  So if I might, panel, just start with Exhibit K5.4, and if you could turn up as well Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 44, this is the update to the 2013 actual capital expenditures.  

     In that latter document, the overspend in column 2 is broken down between the subtotal of core capital expenditures at line E and then, at line H, 1.7, we have total leave to construct. 

     I wonder if you could break out what you provided in K5.4 between those two categories of capital, by way of undertaking?

     MS. AU:  Yes, we can do that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  J5.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF ACTUAL 2013 CAPITAL SPEND ON CORE CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND TOTAL LEAVE TO CONSTRUCT.
MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I would like to begin, if I might, panel, with just an understanding of the capital budgeting process for ratemaking purposes.  

     Let's take 2013, the 2013 base year, as an example.  When does the capital budget for -- capital budgeting for ratemaking purposes begin, in connection with a prospective test year?  Is it early in 2012 for 2013?  

[Witness panel confers]

     MS. SQUIRES:  Typically in the first quarter of the year.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that budgeting process gets presented to the Board, and eventually either settled in the -- with intervenors, or, if not, settled then litigated, and the Board determines the outcome of the budgeting -- the appropriate budgeting level; is that fair?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Well, you are asking about typical situations, and I don't know that we have had a typical year.  Are you speaking about specifically our rebasing year, 2013?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Unfortunately, I can't speak to the timing of that.  I wasn't personally involved in the budgeting process. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know how much the company was seeking by way of a capital budget for 2013?  

The reason I ask this is that you discuss it in your testimony, at least you discuss the outcome of the process.  I think it is on B2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5, in paragraph 9.  

     There is a discussion there of the budget being presented in 2013 greater than the Board-approved settlement amount.  So you came in asking for something in 2013.  Do you know what that amount was?  

     MS. AU:  Yes, I can tell you.  Our initial filing was $483.9 million.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry?  I missed that. 

     MS. AU:  $483.9 million. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  $483.9 million, and then that went through a discovery process -- well, sorry, let me back up. 

     And supporting that request was your 2012-2021 asset plan, K5.2; is that fair?  

     MS. AU:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And that budget went through a discovery process, and eventually the company agreed to accept, if I am not mistaken -- and maybe I don't have this correct, but did the company agree to accept 386, the numbers shown on that -- 

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct.  386.6. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Does the 483 number reflect core, or does it include some major projects?  

     MS. AU:  The $483.9 million included 51.1 million estimated for GTA reinforcement and Ottawa.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So comparable to the $386.6 million, it was, what, 400 and, how much, 69 from 83?  Is that correct?  

     MS. AU:  Comparable?  Sorry.  386 was what we agreed to settle, and the amounts of 51.1 million were excluded for Ottawa and GTA.

So the total of those is 437.7.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it was about a $45-million reduction; have I got that straight?  

     MS. AU:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  I assume the company accepted that because they considered it to be a reasonable envelope for 2013, excluding major projects?  

[Witness panel confers]

     MS. SQUIRES:  I can confirm that the company agreed to 

settle on that amount.  None of the panellists here were involved in the settlement agreement personally, so the -- all I can do is confirm that we accepted it. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And can you confirm for me that the 386 represented a material increase over the historic norm as of that point in time?

When I say "historic norm," I am talking about the period 2008 to 2012, during which you operated under the auspices of the incentive regulation plan.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Sorry, you are comparing the 386 that was our settled amount to the historical actuals?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  Historical norm, yes.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Well, I am looking at an undertaking response, Exhibit I.B18.EGDI.SEC.86, which contains historical capital spend back to 2007.  And during the last IR term, there were a few years where actuals were below that amount and a few years where the actuals were above.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so what is the average for those years prior to 2013?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I think somebody is just calculating it here for you. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Is it possible to pull up that Schools 86 so we could just have a visual of the historical numbers?  And a magnifying glass, please.

[Laughter]

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MS. AU:  314. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  The average appears to be 314.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we're talking about a -- more than a $70-million increase for the average -- 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Sorry to interrupt.  It looks like we may have an error.  We've got old technology here. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I like the error.

[Laughter]

     MS. CONBOY:  And is it line E we should be looking at for comparative purposes?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's the line we're using. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  374.  We will double-check that on the next break. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I don't like that number.  All right.  Thank you.  

     Now, the Board approved that number as part of their approval of the settlement, approved the 386.6 that we're discussing.  And then, according to your evidence, if I understand it correctly, the company took that number –- this, again, back to paragraph 9, B-2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5 -- took that number and sought to finalize the 2013 capital budget in the context of what the Board approved.

Is that the process?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so what that suggests to me is that the presentation to the Board is, in effect, to seek some sort of envelope, following which the company takes the envelope and translates it into an operating capital budget.

Is that a fair description of the process?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That was certainly the process for 2013.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And when does the board of directors approve a capital budget for operation purposes?  Is it after that process takes place?

     MS. SQUIRES:  We can't answer that question.  I don't know the timing of it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could you undertake to provide a response, please?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Certainly.  Yes, we can.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  J5.6. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  TO EXPLAIN WHEN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS APPROVES A CAPITAL BUDGET FOR OPERATION PURPOSES.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks. 

     And based on the information that you provided there in paragraph 9, it seems to suggest that following your receipt of the Board's approval of the settlement agreement, the budget that was established for operation purposes was higher than the 386; is that right?  Or did that come later?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  It came very shortly after the settlement, towards the end of 2013, when that realization occurred.  2012, I'm sorry. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  What was the, quote, "realization" that struck you to suddenly depart from the 386 that you had accepted in the settlement?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  The process of initiating that budget allocation, as you referred to a few minutes ago, the allocation of that budget envelope to the various business needs as we were going through that detailed budgeting process and as the 2012 actuals became more apparent to us towards the end of the year, that's how that realization occurred. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So is there what I have called an operating capital budget?  Is there a document that gets sent out within the company to show what has -- what the OEB approval has been translated into for operation purposes?  There must be somewhere.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I am not aware of a document that translates the OEB Decision, other than communication of the Decision itself and provision of the Decision document to people in the company. 

     Then what would happen, and what did happen, is that we then understood what the budget envelope was, and a budgeting exercise was underway to allocate that budget.  So in some ways we knew what the limit was, so we had that constraint on developing our 2013 budget.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I am looking for the document that contains that allocation.  Can I have an undertaking to produce that, please?  

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. SQUIRES:  Mr. Thompson, I can undertake to find out what documents are available.  I can't at this point say that there is a document, other than the budget that ultimately got implemented into our financial system.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that is what I'm looking for.  That will be a number higher than 386.6.  That is what I understand you to be saying.  

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. SQUIRES:  I understand that the budget that was entered into the financial system did match the regulatory commitment, but the business understood that there was -- there was a gap, in terms of what we would be able to achieve, and that there would be that productivity or efficiency challenge that we would have in implementing that budget during the year.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, now I am confused.  So what documents can you provide me to show me what I understood was an allocation greater than 386.6?

     MS. SQUIRES:  I will have to explore that by way of an undertaking.  I don't know what documents exist.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  That is J5.7. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.7:  TO PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION SHOWING THE ALLOCATION WAS GREATER THAN 386.6.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


All right.  From there, then, the company operates under the auspices of the allocation and whatever other documents you're going to try and find.  

     Now, concurrently, was the company engaged in preparing the capital budget for 2014 and beyond?

MR. SANDERS:  In the evidence, B2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 21, paragraph 65, that lays out the timetable that the IR budgeting process took.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right, yes.  And that is why I asked the question, because that process began November 1, 2012, which, I believe, was before the Board's 2013 Decision, but I may be mistaken.  No?  

     MR. STEVENS:  My recollection, Mr. Thompson, is that the Board may not have made a final Decision on the settlement agreement, but it had been circulated and effectively agreed upon by everybody by, if memory serves, the first week of October.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right. But according to this evidence, the company didn't start reacting to that until the Board had approved it; that's paragraph 9.  

     In any event, witness panel, can you help me with whether the budgeting process for this case and your adjustments to the -- or your response to the Board's approval of the 2013 settlement agreement were concurrent?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm not sure I understand the question 

exactly, but I will say that the -- that was an input. 

Again, I will offer that I did not get engaged in the process until around the February time frame, but I do understand that the Board-approved 2013 capital plan was one of the inputs into the planning process for this proceeding.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so what triggered the refresh?   Was it the plans for this proceeding, or something coming out of the process dealing with your allocation of the 2013 budget?  

[Witness panel confers]

     MR. SANDERS:  Are you referring, Mr. Thompson, to paragraph 55 in B2, tab 1, schedule 1?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, yes, that as well as back in paragraph 9.  You're talking there about the capital refresh, budget refresh process in paragraph 10.  

     MR. SANDERS:  I see. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  In that part of the evidence, you seem to be suggesting that was triggered by something coming out of the 2013 approval. 

But I am suggesting to you that this case triggered the capital refresh.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yeah, I can't say exactly where the 

terminology came from, but I will say that the "refresh" probably is an unfortunate turn of phrase to describe the overall budgeting process that we went through to prepare for this case.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  So that the sixth review is triggered by this case?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:   All right.  Thank you.

Now, coming back, again, to board of director approval, has the board of directors approved anything for 2014 by way of an operations capital budget?  

[Witness panel confers]

     MS. SQUIRES:  We're not aware that the board of directors has approved any particular amount for 2014.  This panel is not aware of that.  

     However, I can say that, operationally, we are operating currently to the budget that we filed in this proceeding for 2014.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I am taking that to mean the board of directors has not approved anything for 2014; is that correct?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's not what I said.  I meant to -- I meant to say we don't know.  We don't have that information on this panel. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Then will you undertake to check?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, yes, that is the same undertaking as the last -- two undertakings ago, I believe, just to confirm -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  We were talking about 2013 then, and  I'm talking about 2014 now.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Okay. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Just a minute, Mr. Thompson. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark it separately as J5.8. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.8:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS HAS APPROVED ANYTHING FOR AN OPERATIONS CAPITAL BUDGET FOR EACH YEAR OF THE PERIOD 2014-2018.

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct that –- well, perhaps you better check to see whether the board of directors has approved anything for 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 as well.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  We can include that as part of that response. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     Now, moving on to the criteria to be applied by the company, this brings me to the excerpt from the Board's 2006 rates Decision, K5.1. 

     I assume everybody involved in the capital budgeting process at Enbridge has this in their manual?  I am kidding, but are you folks familiar with this?  

     [Laughter] 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Were you familiar with it before I brought your attention to it?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I think probably most of us would have read the Decision at the time, although most if not all of us would have been in different roles at the time.

So its relevance might have been different to us at that time.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's read a bit of it together.  

At paragraph 2.2.1, in describing the process within the company for capital budgeting, the Board said -- and I am looking at the second sentence -- sorry, third sentence:

"This process within the company must involve a thoughtful and programmatic assessment and prioritization of projects that have ripened to the extent that there is confidence that they can and should be accomplished within the period."  

     Were you familiar with that criterion before you embarked on this five-year capital budgeting process?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I will say, Mr. Thompson, in a general sense, yes.  But again, I had not refreshed my memory of this in 2013.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, shall -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  And hopefully this is what we are demonstrating through the hearing.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you are trying.  

     MS. LAWLER:  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I will give you that.  I don't know if you get over the finish line, but in any event, that is what we're probing.  

     Now, one aspect of your presentation that puzzled me is -- and I think it is in paragraph -- it is somewhere in your evidence, where you say that you're not seeking actual year-end -- you're not seeking to recover, in the rate base is the way I interpreted it, actual expenditures to year-end 2013.  

     Do I understand that correctly?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  We're not seeking to recover them until the next rebasing. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, so 2019. 

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Why on earth would you do that? 

     MS. LAWLER:  Because there is a need of the business that we're trying to demonstrate through this hearing.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, there's --

     MS. LAWLER:  There is a business need for the capital that went above and beyond the settlement agreement of the last -- of the last case.

And if you look back to the 2012 actuals, in essence we are holding ourselves to -- and the 2013 actuals, and then 2014 through 2018, we are essentially holding the capital, the core capital, flat.  

     MR. SANDERS:  So, Mr. Thompson, let me make sure -- if your question is:  Why would we do that?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Are you suggesting that we should be including it in this application for recovery immediately?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, normally when a company comes in for a rate increase following a cost of service year, they true-up their rate base to the year-end numbers.  And you're saying:  We're not doing that.

     MR. SANDERS:  I certainly like your idea better.  But again, this panel I don't believe is in a position to comment on the rationale in the regulatory framework why that decision was made.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  But if we can change it, that would be great.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what it suggests to me is you have somehow folded into your 2014 and beyond budget this coverage for this overspend in 2012 and '13.  Have you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Absolutely not.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know what -- does anybody on this panel know what the deficiency impact is of this proposal not to true-up to year-end 2013?  Or is that for another panel?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe it is a sufficiency, for all I know.  

     MR. STEVENS:  While the panel is conferring, Mr. Thompson, I can confirm that Enbridge's final witness panel is speaking to deficiency/sufficiency questions, and the panel immediately prior to that, the cost of capital and rate base panel, is speaking to the annual rate base amounts.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  And the other thing I'll point out is just to remind everybody of the timing of this application.  I think it went in in June of 2013, before we would have known what our variance would have been for the 2013 year.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am puzzled by that, because you would have known what your 2012 over-spend was, and you tell us that you didn't like the Board's approved budget and you budgeted more.

So you must have been anticipating? 

     MS. SQUIRES:  No.  I don't believe that is what I said.  We agreed to the settlement amount because we felt it was the right amount to settle on, given the information we had at that time. 

     My point was simply that at midway -- not even midway through 2013, we would not have known what the 2013 actuals were going to be, and in fact we weren't expecting them to be quite as high as they turned out to be.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will move on from that. 

     Now, in the opening statement and throughout your evidence, there's discussion of this refresh process produced big numbers, and then there were six reviews to weed out variable costs, and then in your opening statement you tell us you are at risk for variable costs of 164 million.

There's 30 million relating to customer attachments, there's 16 million relating to the cap on departmental labour costs, and there's 20 million for customer growth.  

     So you're telling us you are at risk for over $200 million with respect to this capital budget that you have presented for five years; have I got that straight?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I believe, Mr. Thompson, that is a little larger number than I was thinking about.  The 164, I believe what we were intending to convey is that we removed that cost, not expecting that 100 per cent of it would occur, but that some subset of that may occur. 

     So if we take the growth components that I mentioned in my opening, would be about 70 million, the 16 million on top of that, and then some subset of the 164 million.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So what do you think you are at risk for?  

     MR. SANDERS:  All I can say is I will say I believe it is somewhere north of the $100 million range. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  100 million.  So that is 100 over five years; is that right?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct.  I will also say, though, that -- again, there are unknown elements of this, and this is the difficulty we're having, is in introducing new condition monitoring programs such as the ILI program that we're expanding into -- 20 percent SMYS lines, for example -- until we do the inspections of those pipelines we don't know necessarily what the outcomes are going to be. 

     The MOP verification, which is the maximum operating pressure verification program, as well could yield the requirement for significant replacements of pipelines.


So those are the elements or the items that we believe could occur for much larger amounts.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So you think it could be more than 100, is what I interpret that to be saying.

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But you are prepared to take that risk.  This is surprising to those of us that have dealt with Enbridge for years, because it is the most risk-averse utility on the planet, but you are prepared to take that risk?

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, we are. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the reason you're prepared to take it, according to what you said in opening -- and I am looking at the statement that was circulated -- is because these other capital challenges can be managed through a combination of productivity improvements and project prioritization.

Do you recall those words?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So give me -- do you know what -- have you any idea what these productivity improvements are that could accommodate a $100-million over-spend?  

     MR. SANDERS:  At this stage we haven't identified all of those productivity improvement requirements, but again, the subsequent panels will be able to speak more into the details in the particular areas. 

     We do know that we're going to have to –- again, I will use the growth item as an example.  We do know based on holding it to pre-2012 levels that we're going to have to find efficiencies in those programs. 

     And what those are, it could be a number of things.  We look at how we contract our work.  We could look at our material suppliers.  We could look at planning and scheduling.  We'll have to basically turn over every stone in that area to find the efficiencies we need to meet that target. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, have you identified any productivity improvements?  Potential?  And if so, what are they?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Perhaps the best approach to handle that would be an undertaking to look at it.  Again, I am not sure to what extent you would like to go through the level of detail, and the subsequent panels again may be able to speak to more of those in individual areas.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, perhaps we should take an undertaking.  I would like a list of them and the potential that you have identified, dollar potential for each of them.  Could that be done?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Mr. Thompson, the undertaking may be challenging for us, in that we haven't identified many specific productivity initiatives.  The point we're at now is where we have identified the magnitude of the productivity challenge, and in Mr. Sanders' opening comments he gave you some figures that, in round figures, pointed to the magnitude of that productivity challenge. 

     I would say operationally how we're going to find those will come about through a combination of tighter management oversight on project execution, governance on capital spending decisions.  It's -- frankly, it is a -- I believe it will be a cultural change in the company, in terms of how tightly we monitor and review every capital spend decision.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  I'll also just -- sorry, one additional point.  We have also committed, through our productivity tracking and reporting evidence, to provide the Board with a summary of productivity initiatives as they occur -- I believe it is on an annual basis through our ESM filing -- a summary of those productivity initiatives each year as they occur.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, so what I hear you saying is there is no list.  It sounds like you could give a generic list of them, but maybe not quantify the potential at this stage.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  We could investigate, or we could potentially look at areas of the business that we expect to find those productivity savings in.  But you are right; there is no definitive list at this point. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could you, by undertaking, give us your current list, a generic list of where you are going to find these productivity improvements?

     MS. SQUIRES:  I could give a list as to where we hope to find those productivity opportunities.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  And are you able to estimate now some potential that you expect to find?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Where possible, we will. But I can't -- I can't promise that will be the case for every 

initiative. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  Could we have a number for that? 

     MS. SEBALJ:  It’s J5.9. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J 5.9:  TO PROVIDE A GENERIC LIST OF AREAS WHERE THE COMPANY HOPES TO FIND PRODUCTIVITY IMPROVEMENTS, AND THEIR POTENTIAL IMPACT, IF KNOWN.
     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Thompson, I will add, too, that the expectation -- and again, I will use the growth as -- as we  provided in our opening statement, the expectation is that we will find those amounts that were provided in the opening statement. 

     So the total there for the growth component, we expect to find that over the IR term.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, through these productivity improvements that are going to be listed; is that right?  Or is it some other way you are going to find that money?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Well, again, as we've said, we will have to find new productivity improvements, things that we haven't necessarily identified at this point.  

     And some of these items, we'll -– we will undertake to see what we have in that list right now.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That is one category of activities that are going to protect you from this risk. 

     The other is project prioritization.  What that means to me is deferral of projects.

Is that what it means to you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Not necessarily.  I think, again, as we said in our evidence, safety and reliability is a priority for the organization, and I'll say personally I would not find it acceptable for us to defer any safety and reliability activities. 

     What we'll have to do is prioritize the capital in other areas, other than safety and reliability potentially, depending upon the outcome of the proceeding.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So do you have a list of areas where you could achieve up to $100 million of savings through project prioritization?  

     MR. SANDERS:  No, we do not.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have any list of project 

prioritization opportunities?  

     MR. SANDERS:  At this stage, we're operating under the 

assumption that the plan we submitted is a reasonable and prudent plan, and that's what we're proposing to execute on at this point in time.  

So we have not gone through an additional step to 

prioritize the projects. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That wasn't my question.  Can you identify the areas where you can take this project 

prioritization initiative, and thereby reduce capital 

costs?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Well, just to clarify again, there is no prioritization initiative at the moment. 

     It was a suggestion that if the need came, that the capital cost requirements in the -- over the IR term were greater than what we have submitted, or if the capital approved through this process is less than what we submitted, we would have to go through the project list again and determine what are the priorities, based on those particular outcomes. 

     We don't know what those outcomes are at this point in time, so it would be difficult to create a prioritization.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, you haven't done it, is what you're telling me?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But the criterion that I read to you at the outset from the Board's Decision said you are supposed to do it before you present a capital budget.  

     MR. SANDERS:  The prioritization that would have gone into the submission of the plan has already been done.

And perhaps I am misunderstanding your question, if you were looking for a reprioritization or different prioritization after the approval is completed.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I took your opening statement to mean that there is project prioritization available that can help you mitigate a risk of more than $100 million, which led me to believe you haven't done that project prioritization yet.  

     MR. SANDERS:  We have not.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But you're saying in your opening statement:  We can do it, if necessary.  

     MR. SANDERS:  We may have to do it, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     Now, in terms of the details of the capital budget -- this will be my last area, because I think I'm probably into overtime already -- this takes me to your evidence about system integrity in the B2, tab 1 area, if I can find it here.  

      Sorry, I think it's -- it starts at page 13 of your prefiled B2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 13.  

You first talk about the November 1, 2012 changes in -- is it legislation?  Is that what we call that, the technical standards --

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Then somewhere else -- you talk about the San Bruno incident in paragraph 43; have I got 

that straight?

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  But those aren't new developments, are they?  

     MS. LAWLER:  So if I can take you to page 57 of the asset plan at Exhibit B2, tab 10, schedule 1, page 57.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

[Witness panel confers]

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm there.  

[Witness panel confers]

     MS. LAWLER:  Sorry, the San Bruno event happened in 2010, and industry has reacted to that, including Enbridge and the regulators. 

     And you can see at the bottom of that page, page 57, the quote from the NTSB, the National Transportation Safety Board, that looked to the root cause contributing factors for the San Bruno event. 

     If you look at that quote, the second sentence is that the contributing factor was the:

"... inadequate pipeline integrity management program, which failed to detect and repair or remove the defective pipe section."

     And frankly, when I read that I had a chill, because for every future event that Enbridge has, the secondary root cause can be the failure of the integrity management program to identify and fix the problem before it is a problem. 

     If I turn then to page 58, this is the description of the evolution of the legislation, where from 2007 to 2011, at the bottom paragraph of that page, the Canadian Standards Association Z-662 and the corresponding Technical Standards and Safety Authority quoted option documents required the consideration of annex N, and versus the -- now -- sorry, the requirement was to consider annex N and the now obsolete annex M for pipelines operating below 30 per cent SMYS, and now it is a must.

It is not a "should."

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But my question is:  Those events aren't new; they're described in your 2012 asset plan?  

     MR. SANDERS:  So, Mr. Thompson, when you're referring to the fact they're not new, industry reacted to those events starting in -- immediately, but in 2011 and 2012 the studies, the reports, the outcomes were starting to be applied.  And it is not unique to this particular incident; of course, a very tragic one. 

     But you can see that our company reacted to that, starting, I will say, immediately, but certainly by 2011, 2012.  A number of the integrity programs and the enhanced condition monitoring programs that we introduced were considering this incident as a significant event to pay attention to. 

     So when you look at our actual spends in 2011, 2012, 2013, part of that is attributable to that kind of reaction.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But my point is you considered that in developing your 2012 to 2021 plan.  If you go to Exhibit K5.2 and you go to page 39, for example, the second-last paragraph on the page, you have anticipated here in developing this asset plan the requirement that -- of the legislation.  

     You're saying, in terms of system integrity:

"EGD must meet its regulatory obligation to comply with the standard.  EGD will be required to comply with annex N when that adopts the standard, likely later this year."  

     So you have anticipated the legislation change.  And over on the next page you refer directly to the San Bruno explosion and the Philadelphia explosion as influencing your plans at that time for system integrity and reliability, going out to 2021; isn't that fair?

Were you folks involved at that time?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes, yes, absolutely.  I was involved.  And I believe it was a prudent approach.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But now when you have your capital refresh and you dive in there again, just on this point, if we turn up your system integrity and reliability chart in the 2002 asset plan, which is at page 84 -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  Sorry, which asset plan?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  The asset plan in this case, 2013 to 2021, B2, tab 10, schedule 1, page 84.  

     MS. LAWLER:  Okay.  I've got it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you compare that to the chart that appears on page 57 of K5.2, you will see that your system integrity expenditures in the period 2014 through to 2018 have been ramped way up.  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  On the basis of circumstances that are supposedly reflected in the 2012 to '21 asset plan.

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  Part of the expectation of the legislation is that we have a continuous improvement cycle, and our intent is to apply that continuous improvement on an annual cycle.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there any taking of costs beyond 2021 and jamming them in here to the 2014 to '18 period?

And this is quite an extraordinary increase in capital expenditures for this item when you compare the numbers in these two tables.  It's pushing -- at the end of the term it's -- you've got 190 million in the 2013 asset plan compared to 114 million, 115 million in the plan one year previously.  And you can do the calculations of the other numbers.


This is quite an extraordinary increase in capital spend.  How could it change so dramatically between one asset plan and another?  

     MS. LAWLER:  We have an undertaking that tries to go to that question, if I can direct you.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sure.  

     MS. LAWLER:  SEC Interrogatory 145, Exhibit IE.48.EGDI.SEC.145.  And this undertaking walks through changes in the risks that were identified between the two versions of the asset plans and new risks identified.

Actually, Mr. Shepherd asked a series of questions similar to this, so the changing in the priority of the risks is SEC 146. 

     So there is in evidence the -- sort of the changes between the approach in the two versions of the asset plan.  One of the differences between the numbers is that we included inflation in the second version of the asset plan.

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Thompson, I will also offer that in the earlier version of the asset plan, that was the, I believe -- and I was not involved at the time, but the very first effort that Enbridge had made at doing a comprehensive asset plan.

And the subsequent plan was the second iteration of that approach. 

     As that process matures, it is developing more and more insight into the methods of determining risk and how we apply the risk to the existing assets. 

     But even stepping back from that broad look at the asset plan, I just do some quick math in my own head.  Just based on the total quantity of assets we've got, we have got 36,000 kilometres of pipe in the ground.  We've got 2 million services in the ground.  At the rate that we're currently replacing these assets, we're somewhere in about three centuries before we replace all our assets. 

     So -- and that is not even dealing with our regulating and measurement stations. 

     So I look at the asset planning process as a very good tool.  It is a good process to go through to start to quantify and understand your assets and the life cycle of those assets to develop a reasonable plan for replacement.

     But clearly, the quantity of replacement that we're undertaking right now is not sustainable in the long term, and again, I believe the asset planning process is the right way to do that, is the right method to arrive at the optimized life cycle of our assets. 

     But I am very sceptical that the asset planning process is going to yield a lower number going forward.  My belief is that that number is just going to climb.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, would you take, subject to check -- I am reading from Exhibit B-1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 5 in the rebasing case, 2013.  This is what was said about the asset plan in that case, if you would take this subject to check:

"The asset plan will give context to forecast distribution system capital costs for a given year.  It will provide guidance as to expected future needs and spending and will outline the utility's prioritization of system spending requirements over a period of ten years."


Would you take that, subject to check?

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm sorry, what was your reference again?  This was the --

     MR. THOMPSON:  It's B-1, tab 3, schedule 1 in the 2013 case.  

     MR. SANDERS:  So we don't have that information, but subject to check I will accept that. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Fine.  

     And what I hear you saying is on system integrity and reliability capital, the 2012 plan didn't provide much guidance as to future needs and spending, because you are now way over.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, as I said, that was the first pass of doing an asset plan.  The process has become more refined, more detailed, and I am sure it will continue to be improved as we go.

But the -- your characterization that it didn’t provide any guidance, I am not sure I would agree with that.  I am sure it provided some guidance to the process. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's move on.

The last point about 2017-2018, and what -- the way I interpret what you are proposing is you have an envelope of $442 million for those two years.  

You are proposing to live within that envelope, is what I hear you saying; have I got that straight?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Subject to two exceptions, which are deferral accounts, right?  For relocations and something else?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Replacements. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Main replacements. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So that sounds like a pretty open envelope to me.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Those are the two areas that we found or felt there could be significant and material requirements, based on the outcome of the condition monitoring programs that we're now launching into. 

     I think I have already spoken to the one example of using inline inspection tools for a broader set of steel mains. 

     Until we complete those inspections, we're not sure what the outcomes will be. 

     This could mean, in some cases, that significant systems -– and I will use an example of the Collingwood lateral, and I believe this is the pipeline that goes from Barrie over to Collingwood, built in the 1950s -- could have broader issues, which would require a significant project to replace that pipeline, or segments of that 

pipeline. 

     We believe that that risk going into 2017 and 2018 was too extraordinary to accept.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  You are not really asking this Board to set rates based on a firm capital plan for five years?  You want it open-ended beyond the three years; is that not fair?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm not sure that's fair.  I think we're 

offering a reasonable projection into 2017 and 2018, and with those two exceptions in areas that we think are open to some variation.  And the second one being relocation, which is beyond our control, from third parties. 

     Now, also I will mention that most of the variable cost areas that we have defined do not have variance accounts.  So we did not include anything in 2017 and 2018 for stations, we did not include anything for any of the service requirements, or any of the other areas of capital spend. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Suppose the 442 is -- the actual spend on those items for those years is $342 million.  Who gets the benefit of the 100, the shareholder -- the return on the hundred?

MS. LAWLER:  I can assure you I will be pushing to have amp fittings replaced at a faster rate, if we have excess capital.  I don't believe we have excess capital in this filing. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That does not really answer my question, but I will -- 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Mr. Thompson, perhaps you have seen this 

evidence already, but I will refer the Board and others to our variance account evidence at Exhibit D1, tab 8, schedule 6.  

That lays out in detail how those two variance accounts will work, and the fact that there is a threshold amount that has to be pierced before those variance accounts would take effect.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And what is that threshold amount?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  It is $1.5 million in requirement.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Associated with what?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  With those two categories of capital, 

relocation and replacement mains. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That is really not my question.  My question related to the other areas where you've got $442 

million of envelope coverage.  

If you are not using that, what you've kicked in on these deferral accounts, I understand you to -- the company's proposal to be:  We keep the benefit of that phenomenon. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  I understand your question now, and I would reinforce what Ms. Lawler said a few minutes ago, and referring back to Mr. Sanders' testimony probably 20 minutes ago about the cost pressures that we are anticipating are -- I think his words were north of 100 million. 

     So it is not our expectation that we would come -- that we would come anywhere close to your hypothetical situation of under-spending to the tune of a hundred million. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I may not be around then, but somebody will to check you up on that. 

     You say you can't budget these numbers for 2017 and 2018, but isn't that exactly what is done in these asset plans?  I mean, I look at page 91 of the current asset plan and I see amounts for these years, 2017 and 2018.  

     MS. LAWLER:  So the budget process that Mr. Sanders referred to stripped the variable amounts out of the various line items.  So what is reflected in the asset plan is inclusive of variable amounts.  

     MR. SANDERS:  I will offer, too, Mr. Thompson, that the asset plan approach at this stage is not a budgeting process. 

     The asset plan is a process we go through to identify risk and reasonable expenditures over longer periods of time.  I think you can appreciate that the farther out we go, the more variable those forecasts are going to be. 

     It does offer guidance, it offers insight into what those amounts could be, but I wouldn't suggest it is actually a budget. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  I will leave it there, Madam Chair.  I apologize for the overrun, but I will make it up somehow.  

     [Laughter] 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. Do we have a -- 

     MS. SEBALJ:  I believe I am next. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Pardon me?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I believe I am next in the order.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  I am looking at the time and the time you have allotted, and do you feel okay to press on and we can break at 12:30?  Is that agreeable to everybody?  

Okay.  Please go ahead, Ms. Sebalj. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SEBALJ:
     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  My name is Kristi Sebalj, and I am counsel for Board Staff. 

     I am going to bounce around a little bit; having been 

preceded by my friends, there's a lot of ground that's been 

covered. 

     But just to start, Mr. Sanders, my understanding from 

previous discussion that's been had during the hearing is that you are the only person that will be available during the course of this hearing who is a member of the executive management team at Enbridge; is that correct?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And obviously we heard this morning that your new title is relatively recent.  But I did want to ask whether you were involved in the review of the financial statements before they were released by management in February -- February 14th, I believe it was.  

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm pausing because I am trying to remember exactly what elements I would have looked at.  But not in a substantial way, I was not. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  So the normal review process before they're released, you were not part of that process?  

     MR. SANDERS:  No. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And my understanding, then, is that -- I have questions -- just so you know where I'm going, I have questions related to the SRC, which I know this panel is not responsible for, but I have concerns about the fact that there is no one on the SRC panel who is part of the executive management team.  

     I am happy to defer those, but I just wanted to get on the record from counsel, I suppose, that there will be someone on the SRC panel that can answer questions with respect to the financial statements?  

     MR. STEVENS:  Certainly, Ms. Sebalj, I can confirm that there will be somebody on that panel who will be knowledgeable, in terms of what's recorded on the financial statements and what they mean. 

     To your earlier question of whether there's somebody who effectively signed off on these from an executive perspective before they were filed or approved, the answer to that is no, there won't be anybody on that panel who is who has specifically undertaken that task. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  I think that is satisfactory.  I am not particularly concerned about sign-off.  I just -- with respect to the regulatory liability, if someone is knowledgeable about that and the extent to which it is discussed on the financial statements, that is sufficient for our purposes.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we confirm it is certainly our 

expectation at least one of the witnesses on the panel will be able to speak knowledgably to that. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Thank you.

So just by way of taking a fairly large step back just for a few moments , because I think we've been into the detail here, but I wanted to confirm with you, Mr. Sanders, the total capital budget for the five-year plan term is -- the capital budget request is $2.8 billion; is that correct?  Or in the range of, I think it is, 2.864 or something like that?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I don't actually have the total in front of me, but subject to check, that sounds about right. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Thanks.


And in that figure we of course have the leave-to-construct projects, Ottawa and GTA, and my understanding is that those account for about $560 million; is that correct?

     MR. SANDERS:  Actually, I did I make a note to myself.  It is about $590 million that I have for Ottawa and GTA, and -- yes, I think that is about the number I have. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  590?  Okay.  So that leaves roughly $2 billion outside of those two projects?

     MR. SANDERS:  Roughly. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Roughly?  Okay.  And all of that 2 billion, except for WAMS -- which I have down as about 70 million -- is core capital?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And just to follow on with what I think Mr. Thompson was asking, you are asking for approval now for that full $2 billion?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And if we look to table 1 of B2-1-1, B2, tab 1, schedule 1, which is on page 3, I believe, we see that the core capital you have there, subtotal core capital expenditures -- and I am now looking at the "forecast 2014 through 2016" -- there's a low of 441.9 and a high of 446.6, and I think the point has been made several times with this panel and others that those numbers don't look particularly lumpy by anyone's observation; is that correct?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Subject to the explanation I provided earlier about how we've dealt with the lumpiness, I would agree that those numbers present a fairly flat profile. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And as I understood your explanation, Ms. 

Squires, what you basically said -- and you can correct me.  I thought I had written it down, but I have so many scribbles.  That I believe you referred to stripping out the variable costs, which I will talk about in a moment, and that there's been smoothing. 

     Can you explain to me what you mean by "smoothing"?  Like, what exactly was done in order to -- there was more lumpiness within this, other than the variable costs?  Or is it just the variable costs that you're talking about that have led to this smoothing?

     MS. SQUIRES:  It is primarily the removal of the variable costs, which are costs that we had some degree of uncertainty related to them.  That, plus the three large projects that we have talked about already.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And just so that we're clear about 2017 and '18, those will be the 2016 numbers.  So the core capital for '17 and '18 is 441.9; correct?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  And you talked to us this morning, Ms. Squires, about table 2, and there's a table 2 at page 4 of that same exhibit, and there is a table 2 at page 44.

And as I understand it, the only difference between the two tables is that page 44 has 2013 actuals; is that right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So I guess that is the best one to work with.  And the delta between 2013 budget and 2013 actual is about $68 million, by my math, on total CAPEX; is that right?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Sorry, you said 58 or 68?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  68. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, that's about right.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And when I look down that column, column 2 of page 44, and I try to identify where the biggest changes occur, it seems to me that it is really -- under "System improvements and upgrades, relocations and replacements" there's about -- there's more than $10 million with respect to services relays, and then there is quite significant numbers with respect to customer-related sales, mains and services.


There may be other areas, and of course the Ottawa reinforcement when we look at total looks to be about $20 million more than budget.  

     Are those the main areas, as I look at it, of change between budget and actual?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Those are the main areas, yes. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And the customer-related are -- is that because there were just more customer additions?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  No.  In fact, we filed an undertaking response yesterday that provided our actual customer additions for 2013, which turned out to be lower than budget. 

     The main drivers of the variance on the customer-related capital have more to do with customer mix and costs associated with what we call scattered services, customers that are more geographically dispersed and a different mix of residential/commercial customers, those types of pressures on costs.


And that would be about the extent of my explanation.  Our capital panel that is coming up related to customer capital will be able to give you more details. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Thanks for that.


And then the relocations and replacements, this is the -- this is what we've talked about with respect to your current -- the current case.  This would be the relocations and replacements due to both system integrity, if I understand it, and outside external requests?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Primarily those are driven by third parties.  That's correct.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And where in this budget would I find -- or in this delta would be integrity management program-related costs?  

     MS. LAWLER:  It is a subset of the "System improvements and upgrades," the B category.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  But it's not its own line item?  It cuts across many of these line items; is that how I understand it?

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  And if I can direct you to table 13, it's the line -- exhibit reference B2-5-1, is the other, the alternate presentation. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And so there, I had looked at that.  That is about a $30 million change between budget and actual; correct?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And that is entirely integrity management planning –- program?  Sorry, wrong P.  

     MS. LAWLER:  System integrity and reliability.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  So I guess that is my question.  Within system integrity and reliability -- I am trying to sort of get down to -- you have -- you have -- on table 2 you have something called "System improvements and upgrades," and then when I go to table 13, I have "System integrity and reliability," which is a subset of that. 

     And then "Integrity management planning" is, again, a subset of "System integrity and reliability"?  Is that how I understand it?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  Under B2, tab 5 you'll -- as you get into the more detailed capital panels, you will see the roll-up of those costs and what's included in those costs.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And in B2, tab 5, if we go there, in B2, 

tab 5, schedule 1 in particular, you have a couple of tables, I had thought.  Yes, but neither of those has actuals for 2013; is that correct?  

     MS. LAWLER:  That's correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And those are nowhere else in the evidence; is that right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  No.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Can I ask you to provide those by way of undertaking?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  That is J5.10. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.10:  TO PROVIDE 2013 ACTUALS FOR EXHIBIT B2, TAB 5, SCHEDULE 1, TABLE 1 AND TABLE 2.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And I just want to -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  Sorry, specifically which tables do you want?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I should -- it is Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 1.  There is table 1 on page 2, and there is table -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  Table 2. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  -- table 2 on page 8.  Table 2, as I understand it, is just a breakout of the numbers from table 1 into categories.  But if both of those could be updated to provide a new column for actual 2013.  

     MS. LAWLER:  That's fine. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  I just want to make sure I'm clearly getting what I think I want.  

In J5.3, you were asked to provide what projects are directly related to the fundamental shift, I think from Mr. Thompson, that was described with respect to the integrity management program and the TSSA regulations and 

codes. 

     I want to make sure that when you do that -- when I look at table 2 on page 44 of the first piece, B2-1-1, that when you do that, if you are able to break it out for us so that we understand what line items we're talking about.  I don't know if you were going to do that anyway in describing this. 

     So as I understand it, Mr. Thompson has asked you what 

projects are related to this fundamental shift, and what I would like to know -- and I don't think I need a new undertaking -- is within that undertaking, if you can relate that back to the line items that -- what you have already provided in the evidence, so we can see what portion of those line items are dedicated to this 

fundamental shift in integrity management planning.  

Does that make sense?  

     MS. LAWLER:  It does, and I think we can do that.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Can I just clarify?  When you say line items on the table, are you talking about the table 2 or the table 13 version?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think I am talking about the table 13 version, as I now understand the evidence a bit better. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  So if we can add that to J 5.3?  I don't think it needs to be a separate undertaking, unless you want it -- 

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm sorry.  I believe - I'm not trying to create more work for ourselves here, but cross-referencing it to table 2 might actually be more helpful than table 13. 

     Table 13 would end up having only B2, tab 5, schedule 1 as one line for the majority of that.  It may be more helpful to do it to table 13 -- sorry, to table 2.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps, Kristi, we can undertake to provide that information opposite the most relevant presentation within the evidence.  As we go through, we may find that there is something even more relevant.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  As long as I can understand that it is 

integrity management planning and not some higher level 

budget. 

     And if you have it more granular than that, with respect to what within integrity management planning has changed as a result of the shift, then that is great, too.  

     And just while we're there, you have been asked a lot about the timeline and what the company knew when with respect to the -- with respect to the changes that resulted in the TSSA requirements.  

But I recall that when the initial -- when the 

greater than 30 percent specific minimum yield strength 

piece happened, there was a director's order that preceded the TSSA and CSA changes; correct? 

     MS. LAWLER:  Subject to check.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  I am wondering if there was a director's order -- and you may have answered this with Mr. Quinn, and I wasn't following the discussion closely enough.  But was there a director's order that preceded the fundamental shift from greater than 30 percent to all, all surmise -- was there a director's order that preceded that actual regulatory change?  

[Witness panel confers]

     MS. LAWLER:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  I am just wondering if there was a director's order that preceded the change in the regulatory framework, I will call it, whether it was a code or -- I know that you operate under TSSA; I think it is regulation 210.01 or something like that.

But whatever that regulatory change was, prior to that was there a director's order that signalled that that was coming?  And if so, when?  

     MS. LAWLER:  I don't recall such a document. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay. 

     MS. LAWLER:  So, again, if I can take you to Exhibit B2, tab 10, schedule 1, page 58, there's a description of the evolving legislation. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  So that is to the best of your knowledge, and it doesn't include a director's order?  

     MS. LAWLER:  That's correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Perhaps it is helpful, too.  To the best of my knowledge, when the regulation change occurs, they're done through the updates to the code adoption documents.  So I think the document we have already referenced in here, the FS196-12, that would signal the change in the regulation, once that document is adopted by the TSSA.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  I am going to shift gears just for a second and go to a little bit of follow-up on the productivity discussion that you’ve had this morning.  

     We seem to be throwing around the word "productivity" quite a bit, and I have some confusion around what that means. 

     And I had some discussion with the company panel with 

respect to SEIM, for instance, and what was going to be included as a SEIM initiative, and I was given assurance that implicit cost-cutting that has been included in the budget will not be a SEIM -- any project intended to address that implicit cost-cutting is not going to be a SEIM-eligible project. 

     So my question to start, I guess, is:  Is cost-cutting -- what is productivity, in your view?  Is it cost-cutting?  Or is it an actual program, or a different approach to an existing program that creates productivity?  Or is it both?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I think the simple answer is it could be both.  In the highest level, for myself, what I would view as productivity is I'm going to get the same result for a lower cost.  So the outcome would be the outcome, the desired outcome I am looking for, but I am getting it at a lower unit cost or a lower total cost. 

     How you arrive at that outcome, there are many avenues 

to doing that.  And not to oversimplify that it is always about doing more with less, some of that may include deciding that you don't need to do it through study, through investigation, that we convince ourselves that the initial outcome or the initial path isn't necessarily the correct path. 

     So those are two ways of getting at, again, the same 

outcome, the same result, but for a lower cost.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  That's helpful, but I want to make sure that deferring a project indefinitely or into the next rate period isn't productivity.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Generally, I would agree with you.  Again, you want to achieve the same outcome, but you want to do it for a lower cost.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And you've mentioned a couple of times this morning this concept of productivity tracking, I think; I think Ms. Squires has mentioned it a couple of times, so I just want to be clear.  

Productivity tracking, I thought in your evidence, had a -- and not in particular this evidence, but had a connotation -- I thought it was attached to the SEIM; is that -- is that not right?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Well, I am not an expert on the SEIM 

mechanism.  However, I can comment that any productivity 

initiatives or productivity outcomes that we are able to achieve will be considered for input to the SEIM calculation, depending on whether it meets certain criteria.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So productivity tracking is broader than what might -- may or may not be SEIM-eligible?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Absolutely. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And can you walk me through -- I am assuming that members of this panel will be part and parcel of what the company is going to do to operationalize productivity generally and the SEIM specifically. 

     So can you walk me through how something makes it onto the productivity tracking list?

     MS. SQUIRES:  I am referring currently to Exhibit A2, tab 11, schedule 2, which is our performance measurement framework evidence.  And in that evidence I am looking at paragraph 7, as an example, where we talk about the inclusion of capital project initiatives, O&M initiatives, and items that would illustrate actual and/or avoided cost savings and efficiency gains. 

     So that's how we've characterized the types of initiatives that would be included in our productivity initiatives report.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And so when you talk about capital project initiatives -- this goes back to what I was just discussing with Mr. Sanders, but that will include projects that can be done for lower cost or in a different way such that it results in a cost reduction?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And that list, which looks to me to be a master list of all possible productivity initiatives throughout the organization, that list, the SEIM-eligible projects will be a subset of whatever is on that list?

     MS. SQUIRES:  I expect so, yes. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And the process for determining what is SEIM-eligible, do we know who will be charged with that or how that will work?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I don't have an answer to that.  I think our first panel that was up spoke -- or they were the experts more on the SEIM process and the criteria for it.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And you spoke this morning about a cultural shift, and I am a little troubled by the idea that this is so nascent in its formulation. 

     So we're sitting here today and you are asking the Board to approve a $2-billion budget minus the other, and you're telling us that you are going to find productivity improvements but that you really don't know what those might be at the moment, and that a cultural shift will have to occur.


And I am just concerned about how -- I'm not hearing step one, step two, step three, like, this is the plan for getting there.  There's a -- everything else is very well mapped out.

And so can you help me with what exactly the plan is, how this will be mobilized and operationalized as an organization?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Well, I can tell you that when we first conceived of -- well, actually, we didn't conceive of it.  It was a part of our settlement agreement in 2013, that we would commit to the Board to track productivity.  I can't remember the exact language in the Decision.


But ever since that commitment in that settlement, we've been conscious of the need to develop some infrastructure or governance within the company around identifying and incorporating productivity improvements into the work that we do. 

     Between the -- that settlement and today, the extent of the cost pressures that we expect to be facing have grown, and our appreciation for the magnitude of that challenge has increased dramatically. 

     In my experience in the company, I would say that the extent of the challenge that we expect to face, even if our application is approved as filed, is significantly greater than anything in my memory in the company, in terms of how we will achieve that. 

     And that's what I was thinking about when I made the -- referred to the term "cultural shift."  And to me, that means, as managers in the company, we will have higher expectations of the people that work in our teams to make more prudent decisions, to be more thoughtful about their projects, and looking for alternative ways to accomplish them.  

     MS. LAWLER:  If I can add to that, part of my role as it exists right now is asset and integrity management, and the expectation that's been put onto me is to operationalize asset management. 

     And I think that this is part of the cultural shift that Ms. Squires is referring to.  Operationalizing asset management in my mind means fulsomely understanding our assets, our asset-related risks, and understanding alternatives to mitigate those risks in a living process. 

     So far as has been filed, we have a snapshot in time of our asset requirements on an annual basis, but in my mind operationalizing asset management means that we will, on a more continuous basis, understand the needs of our assets, and as a new risk is identified we will have to be evaluating what needs to shift in terms of our thinking or our priority.  

     MR. SANDERS:  I can offer as well that already in 2014 we've established a capital oversight committee that is new this year, and the mandate for that committee is to scrutinize every capital expenditure that occurs within the company. 

     It is a group of people who are somewhat removed from the actual capital requirements and complement it with some technical expertise on that panel as well. 

     That is a step one, and I think we are just beginning down that road, but as Ms. Squires has pointed out, I also agree that this is probably an unprecedented level of productivity improvement or cost reductions that we're going to have to go through for the next five years to achieve the plan as it has been presented.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  I just have a couple more questions on budget and then a completely different question, but there is only one.  

     You have talked a little bit this morning about prioritizing capital, and your evidence is very extensive with respect to the process you went through in the six reviews and the trimming and prioritizing and re-prioritizing, and you have given some undertakings to Mr. Quinn in that respect. 

     I couple that now to discussion that we've had over the last few days with respect to benchmarking.  And as I understand it, this budget was only internally reviewed; that's correct?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Partially correct.  I think I mentioned 

earlier this morning, when this process was undertaken we assembled an internal team.  We complemented that with some external resources to help us walk through the process. 

     I will say that the company has the unique skills and experience to do this, to build this comprehensive of a plan.  In my personal experience, I would find it very challenging to find individuals, organizations, that could come in to replicate both the process and provide meaningful input into this.


First of all, you would have to find somebody who was 

familiar with the working environment we're in, and the requirements of our business.  That would take time.  

     The costs would be another cost on top of the process that we wouldn't have typically incurred.

And then I would also see the -- I will say the challenge, again, in finding the expertise outside the business.  I am not aware of individuals or organizations that could come in and replicate that process.  

     MS. LAWLER:  And if I can add again, we did -- so not for the entire scope of work, but for the asset plan we did go through the process with the Technical Standards and Safety Authority, and they certainly didn't tell us that we were doing too little -- sorry, too much.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And who -- are those the external advisors you are referring to, or were there others?  

     MS. CONBOY:  Can I just interrupt for a minute, please?  I want to remind Ms. Lawler of what we discussed before the break with respect to repeating what you had -- what the Technical Safety and Standards (sic) Authority has or has not said.  

     MS. LAWLER:  Okay.  Sorry. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry. 

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I was just wonder -- you had referenced there were some external advisors. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Can you tell me about those?

     MR. SANDERS:  We used -- for some legal advice from Aird & Berlis, we brought in some of their team.  We used Mr. Bob Betts as well to help us through that process.

And I think that was the extent of the external people we used.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And you will agree with me -- I take no issue with the fact that there's a significant amount of expertise in-house at Enbridge.  I think you referred to over 100 years of experience.  But at the end of the day, it is not the same as having a completely fresh set of objective eyes on a budget; is that correct?  

     MR. SANDERS:  It is certainly not the same, and my challenge is, though, the ability to draw conclusions from that set of eyes is, I think, subject to some question.  Without the understanding of the process, the requirements and the environment that you are working in, there is always going to be a difficulty in trying to understand that in a meaningful and timely fashion.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  And you talked about prioritization with Mr. Thompson.  I had understood the review, what you call the internal peer review process and the six sets of reviews to have done exactly that, to have prioritized the projects to the point where some of them became variable and some of them stayed within the capital expenditures. 

     And from that, I took that if, for instance, this Board decided that the capital budget was a bit too high and cut it back by a certain amount, that you would be able to easily decide what projects could or could not be on the list.  Is that not a good -- do you have to -- I didn't understand the answer you gave Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Okay.  I'm sorry for that, and I will try and clarify. 

     There is -- through the process we did develop a list of projects.  Prioritization was one of the elements that went through that exercise.  It wasn't the only factor that was brought to bear on looking at the projects. 

     I think one point you made that caught my ear was that this would easily be done.  This would not be easily done. 

     We have endeavoured to provide, and we have provided, the lowest possible prudent plan.  If we do not have the full resources coming out of this process, we will have to go back and prioritize that list. 

     And I will use the broad example, again, that we're committed to meeting our safety and reliability requirements; that is not an option.  

We will have to look at all of the spend categories of the other capital spends -- the facilities, the fleet, the IT -- but we will also have to look at our growth spend 

as well, as one of the areas that we may have to reduce to meet our overall plan. 

     And then also it doesn't eliminate the possibility of 

exceeding the plan as well, if a particular area occurs.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Last question.  Leave to constructs, my 

understanding is you are not anticipating any others during this five-year plan?  

     MR. SANDERS:  At this time, we are not aware of any.  

     MS. LAWLER:  Sorry, no major leave to construct.      I think that the reinforcement panel can speak to that.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  Because I did have a question about the long-term energy plan and its reference to gas infrastructure in remote communities, and whether or not that has been built into the capital budget.  

Are you aware of that, or is that for another 

panel?  

     MR. STEVENS:  The panel number 3 is -- has the community expansion evidence as one of the items to which they're prepared to speak.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are Staff's 

questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  

     Thank you very much.  We will break for an hour and come back at 1:30. 

     I also want to give you a heads-up for tomorrow's planning purposes, that again we have a hard stop at noon until 1:15.  So that should provide you with some certainty as to when your break will be tomorrow.  See you at 1:30. 

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:31 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:34 p.m. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thanks very much.  Please be seated.  

     Okay.  We've got -- I think we've got one more -- one more intervenor cross; is that correct?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd?  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD: 
     MR. SHEPHERD:  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and I think I know you all anyway. 

     Madam Chair, I have a compendium of materials that I think has been passed around. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  If you would like to mark it, it would be K5.5. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

EXHIBIT NO. K5.5:  SEC COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And as I indicated earlier to Ms. Sebalj, I did have some difficulty preparing my cross, trying to figure out which panel went where, so I am sort of looking at it as a global total, but I think the 180 minutes I had for the capital panels will actually be less in the end. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Yes, we had talked earlier about the -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MS. CONBOY:  -- allocation of time. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then -- and I want the Panel to note, please, that I have written questions, computer questions, and I have questions on my phone.  Despite my advanced age --


MS. CONBOY:  That won't get you extra points, but go ahead.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The first question I want to ask is a follow-up to something Mr. Quinn was asking about.  He asked you, witnesses, about a TSSA director's order in 2006, and you accepted, subject to check, that there was such an order.

Do you recall that?

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that order, I am now advised, is dated August 15th, 2006.  It is number FS-08706, and it had a deadline for completion of April 30th, 2008.  That is the order I am advised that was subsequently codified in the regulations in 2012.  

     I wonder if you could undertake to produce that order, including the appendix, which details the requirements?

     MS. LAWLER:  You are requesting FS-08706?  Is that what you are request -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Assuming that is the right one, yes. 

     MS. LAWLER:  Okay. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the appendix, because I think we want to compare it to the director's 2012 order. 

     MS. LAWLER:  Okay.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?

     MS. LAWLER:  And so, sorry, which appendix?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  There is an appendix to the director's order from 2006 -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  The code adoption document?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that has all of the requirements.  

     MS. LAWLER:  I will undertake to provide you the information you are looking for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You will have seen this document before, right?


MS. LAWLER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not new to you? 

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Okay.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, it is J5.11. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.11:  TO PROVIDE FS-08706 AND  APPENDIX WITH DETAILED REQUIREMENTS.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could turn to page 2 of our materials.

There was quite a lot of discussion earlier today about the size of your capital plan, and this table, which we have prepared from your evidence, this was sent to you yesterday.  And you have had a chance to review it?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And is this an accurate depiction of your core capital spending for the years set out?  

     MS. AU:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


So I just -- I want to take you through it step by step to make sure that we understand it, because if we're all using the same numbers, this whole discussion goes a lot easier. 

     The first -- the 2014, '15 and '16, those are from your updated evidence, right?  

     MS. AU:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And 2017 and '18 are identical to '16 because you've said that you're simply going to use the same budget for those years, right?

     MS. AU:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in this table it shows that your core capital spending in the next five years is expected to be just over 2.2 billion, right?  

     MS. AU:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in an exchange with Ms. Sebalj earlier you talked about 2 billion.  That was a -- I assume that was just a slip, that it was intended to be 2.2?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I believe -- I believe we were just rounding. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then in addition to this 2.2 billion in those five years, there's another 632 million planned for the GTA and Ottawa reinforcements and WAMS, right?  

     MS. AU:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?  

     MS. AU:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, Mr. Sanders, you said in your opening statement that the budget included 758 million for those three items, but that includes years outside of the forecast period, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes.  Subject to check, I believe so, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 632, which we see on page 7 of our materials from your B2, tab 1, schedule 1, that 632 is the accurate figure for the test period, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I don't have the totals handy here, but...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is 561.9 for the two reinforcements and 70.1 for WAMS.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Subject to check.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept that, subject to check?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And we don't have 2017 and '18 here, but your 2017 and '18 budgets don't include anything for those items, do they?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then we went back and we said:  Okay, well, what happened in 2008 to 2012 -- which was your last IRM period -- and it looks to us like you spent almost $1.9 billion on capital in that period; is that right?  In core capital?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so let's just look at the lines in turn, because I am trying to focus down on what is the problem here.

Customer-related, in the last five years, you spent 625 million.  In the next five years, you're expecting to spend 675 million, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you are going from an average of 125 million a year to 135 million a year, which is essentially inflation?  

     MR. SANDERS:  On the customer growth amounts, again, not having all the numbers in front of me, but I think that would be driven largely by two factors.  One would be the attachment cost per customer, and then the attachment rates themselves.  So a number of customers that we would be attaching. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, of course.  And is this the one where you are estimating the unit costs going forward as being identical to 2012?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Pre-2012.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then you're not inflating these costs.  The 675 is not inflated from the past.  It is actually forced to stick to the same unit level as the past, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  If I can take you to B2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3 of 8?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MS. LAWLER:  The direct costs per customer does inflate from '14 to '15 to '16 and then is flat beyond that.  What Mr. Sanders is saying is that the 2014 cost per customer is back to pre-2012 levels. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so I misunderstood that.  I thought you were saying that you took a number prior to 2012 and you fixed it and you said:  That's what we're going to live with for the next five years.

But that's what you're going to live with for 2014, and then you are escalating it every year, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  We're escalating it by inflation for 2015 and 2016, and then it is flat for '17 and '18 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's flat for the last two.

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  And again, given the growth panel that's going to come up, we'll be able to speak to this in more detail, but I think that you will appreciate that there is a significant stretch in there relative to what we've seen in the actuals for 2013.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's what I was going to come to, because in 2013 your customer attachments were down 10 percent, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if your customer attachments were down 10 percent for the next five years, if that pattern continues, the effect is a reduction in your capital spending of 10 percent, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Not necessarily.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, help me understand it, then. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  As I indicated earlier, the drivers of the customer-related capital, certainly one of them is the number of customer additions, but sometimes even more significant are the mix of the types of customers that we attach. 

     Different types of customers will have a different average cost per attachment.  So a large commercial customer versus a subdivision residential customer will have very different costs associated with them. 

     Similarly, the regions that they're being attached in -- for example, in the Ottawa region where the distances that contractors have to travel to get to more remote communities to attach customers -- will drive up average costs per customer. 

     So it is things like geographic variation, customer mix and the nature of the conditions in the areas, whether there is lots of rock, or the nature of the soil and so on.  All of those will be factors in the costs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the budgets you presented to the Board assume the customer numbers in your application, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And those customer numbers are based on your assumption at the time that you are going to attach 39,000 in 2013, which you didn't, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I am just pausing because I am not sure at what point in 2013 we might have had some indication that -- I'm trying to remember what our nine plus three was -- that our customer additions number wasn't going to be what we forecasted it to be at the beginning of the year.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, when did you estimate these capital numbers?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Are you talking about the forecast period?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  For 2014 to 2018, when did you estimate those capital numbers?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  This all would have been leading up to the June filing of our application last year. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So at that time, you still assumed 39,000 attachments in 2013, right?

     MS. SQUIRES:  I can't say that for sure.  It would have been something close to that number.  But periodically through the year, as the information becomes available, our forecasts get adjusted six and six, five and seven points in the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you haven't changed these forecasts, the customer-related forecasts, since you 

filed, right?

     MS. SQUIRES:  No. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you haven't changed them since about -- March was the last review, Mr. Sanders?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I am just looking that up, Mr. Shepherd, the review schedule.  But I believe that probably was the last iteration; it was approximately that date, in the spring of 2013.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in March, then, you had a one and eleven, maybe.  Would that have changed your estimate of the 39,000?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, are you referring to 2013 actuals, or --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I don't know.  One and eleven, probably not, but I can't say for sure. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I am trying to get at.  You're saying to the Board:  Here's what we are going to spend, $675 million on customer-related in the 2014 to 2018 period. 

     But the evidence you have is that your customer numbers assumptions are probably high, or they may be high, right?  Because the best estimate you have is the most recent information?  And so you're saying:  Well, no, but it might be different because we might have a different customer mix.  

     Do you have any evidence on that?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  This panel doesn't have any evidence on this.  I know we have an upcoming panel that has a 

representative from our economics group and the customer group, that may have more information on more recent forecasts.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you're the capital panel.  Have you changed these capital forecasts?

     MS. SQUIRES:  No, we have not. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     So then the next line is "System integrity" and you can see that in the 2008 to 2012 period, you spend just over $800 million on system integrity projects, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're forecasting for the 2014 to 2018 IRM period to spend just over 1.2 billion?

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And we're going to talk at a little more length later about this, but just at the very high level, we asked you:  Is this intended to be a permanent increase in your system integrity spend?

Your answer is yes, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it’s about a 50 percent increase, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is also true that the last time around, system integrity was 43 percent of your core capital -- will you accept that, subject to check? -- and you are now proposing to bump it up to 55 percent of core capital?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Subject to check, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It looks about right, right?  

     And so my question, then, on that is:  Should we assume from that that this is a change in emphasis in the company, that there's -- like, Ms. Squires talked about a cultural shift in terms of managing things.  But I am talking about a different cultural shift, in terms of an increased emphasis, a different emphasis on system integrity.  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes, I'd say that it is a change in the focus of the company and probably, more broadly, the industry post-San Bruno and the new legislation that is expecting us to be in front of failures.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that it was from 2006, though.  Didn't we agree that you were told in 2006 to do that?  

     MS. LAWLER:  We were told to start to, in non-mandatory language. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  We're going to come back to 

system integrity in a second, but let me just ask a little bit about the "Other" line.  The "Other" is IT, buildings, fleet, all of that sort of stuff, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the last five years you spent $450 million on that.  But in the upcoming five years, you're only spending 324, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And these numbers, by the way -- these numbers don't include any of the CIS costs, right?  That is part of a separate budget?  

Can you accept that, subject to check?  

     MS. AU:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so now you have in the upcoming only $324 million in that same category.  

     Just at a very high level -- I don't want to spend a lot of time on the details -- can you just tell us why the drop in other capital in the upcoming period?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, again, there is a 

subsequent panel that will be coming up that will be able to give you a little bit more detail on the differences in the two different plans. 

     Generally speaking, though, I would say through the review process, I know there were a number of projects proposed, for the facilities group in particular, that were removed from the request.  That might be one factor.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a sense that the company -- that sometimes things in this category are more expendable, as it were?  If you don't have the money, that is where you look to see if you could cut back?

     MR. SANDERS:  That would probably be on the lower priority list, if that was necessary, but it also depends on the periodic nature of -- certainly on the facilities side.  And I imagine the same thing, to some extent, is true on the IT side of the equation. 

     Different systems and different hardware come of age at different points, and the same thing for buildings.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You said in your opening 

Statement -- you said that this was a departure from past capital plans, your new one.  And you called it an "extraordinary" capital plan, and in the evidence you referred to it as an "unusual" capital plan.

But I am confused -- and you talked about this a little bit earlier and on Tuesday -- because it looks to me like, at least with respect to your core capital, while you changed the mix for sure, the total amount of core capital you are proposing to spend in the test period is essentially the same as you would get in an I-X formula.  In fact, if anything, it might be a little less.

And I don't understand how this is so unusual.  

     MR. SANDERS:  When I was referring to the extraordinary capital, I am referring also to the GTA, the WAMS project is extraordinary amounts.  They're definitely unusual in the scale for this company. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Very unusual.  I am also thinking about the issue of the removal of the variable costs in this, and the risk the company is taking on recognizing there may be the potential need for that.

I recognize your point that if you look at 

the outcome, it is remarkably consistent, and again, looking back at 2012 and 2013, they're very consistent with the actual spends that we saw in that area.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You see, what I am trying to figure out is you've got big rate increases in your application, and I am trying to figure out where do the rate increases come from, if your core capital is basically flat.  

It's not flat, but it is growing at a typical fast pace, right?

     MR. SANDERS:  I believe the core capital out to 2017 and 2018 is, in fact, flat; it is almost lower than some of the earlier years. 

     Mr. Shepherd, I am not familiar with the rate calculations or how the overall determination was made.  I believe the earlier panels could have spoken to that issue.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  What I am trying to understand is the core capital increase of what looks like $66 million a year on average, a 17.6 percent increase, I can't -- in the 947 million that Mr. Culbert agreed is the amount of extra money you are asking for in this application -- some of it from growth, some of it from rates -- of that 947 million I can't figure out how that 332 million of extra capital can have an impact of more than 50 or $100 million.  

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm sorry, you've lost me in all your numbers there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're only adding 332 million of extra capital from your past history.  And I don't understand how that can drive a big increase in your rates.  It should only drive an increase of 5 or 10 -- of 50 to $100 million.  

     MR. SANDERS:  So again, Mr. Shepherd, I don't believe this is the appropriate panel for that question.  I am not aware and intimate with the details of the rate determination, the rate calculation. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  See, what I am trying to -- what I am trying to nail down here is I am trying to use our time wisely, and we've been sort of approaching this case on the basis that this $80 million a year or so bump in your system integrity spending is really the reason why everything -- why the rates -- the rate application is for so much money.  But if it isn't, then we're barking up the wrong tree and wasting everybody's time.

Yet you can't help me with that?  

     MR. SANDERS:  As I just said, this is probably not the best panel to ask that question to. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I will see if I can get it on the rate base panel later. 

     I want to turn to a second area, and that's -- and you have touched on this a little bit, and I just want to nail it down, I guess.


I want to try to understand the nature of the evidence that you are providing to the Board with respect to your capital plan.  And you will agree, won't you, that you can approach a capital plan either on a bottom-up basis, build up the numbers from the projects, or from a top-down basis:  Here's the reasonable amount.  What can we do within that?

There are two ways to do it, right?

     MR. SANDERS:  I would say there is a third --



MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes?


MR. SANDERS:  -- and that's a combination of the two. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.  Fair enough. 

     And so I am looking at your evidence, and from a top-down point of view you have provided no evidence at all, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  The process that we undertook for this capital plan was a bottom-up approach.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, but I am asking about the evidence that you are providing to the Board.  So you're not providing to the Board any evidence that benchmarks your level of capital spending from a top-down point of view, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I am not aware of any evidence to that effect, no. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, the only evidence that we have about that, I think -- if I can find it -- is sort of accidental.  It's on page 9 of our materials, and it is from your Mr. Coyne -- 

     MR. SANDERS:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, what materials are you referring to?  The compendium?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- our compendium, Exhibit K5.5. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Okay.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is an excerpt from Mr. Coyne's report that says that as of 2011, relative to your peers, the ones that he said were your peers, you actually have more net plant per customer than most of them.

Were you aware of that?  

     MR. SANDERS:  No, I was not. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is information like this, like the level of net plant that your peers have, is that relevant to you in capital budgeting?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Not directly.  And I think there is a number of variables that would have to go into understanding the meaning of net plant per customer and how that translates into a capital budget. 

     I am not sure what all the other circumstances are for the other companies, what the implications are, what their growth rates are, what their age of assets are, all those variables, to determine the need for capital and the need for their assets.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here's what I'm trying to understand.  And I am going to come back to bottom-up in a second, but just dealing with top-down, you did this process, the review process, where you're trying to assess how low can we get this capital budget.


If you have no external benchmarks, how do you exercise judgment as to what -- how hard you should push to get the costs down?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, the benchmark we were actually using was the 2013 Board-approved capital.  That was the piece of information that we had at that time.  Of course, the historical data that we had internally, so looking at it from an incremental perspective and that benchmark of the starting point of roughly 386 million from the Board-approved in 2013.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were saying:  Let's assume that our target is 386 million?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's one of the inputs, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you produced a capital budget that was about 300 million higher.

     MR. SANDERS:  Sorry, of core capital, 387, or 386. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And you produced a budget that was about 300 million higher in core capital, right?

     MR. SANDERS:  300?  I'm not getting your 300.  Per year -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am just adding up the numbers that you have here.  If you look on page 2, and comparing it to 386, it looks to me like it is about 300 difference --

     MR. SANDERS:  Over the five-year period, yeah. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So in fact -- in fact, the 332 extra, that's really -- that extra money that you are asking for is really because you didn't meet your target, right?  Your target was 386; you didn't meet it? 

     MR. SANDERS:  And we recognize that the 386 agreed to in 2013 was wrong.  It was not a number that was reasonably achievable.  We recognize that.

As we said, in 2013 we ended up spending $441 million, roughly, on the core capital.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So did your regulatory staff agree to it without asking you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Sorry, agree to what?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The 386.  

     MR. SANDERS:  I was not part of that process.  I believe we've already spoken to, today, that the original amount that was in the plan for 2013 was definitely more than the $386 million, and I am not aware of or wasn't party to the settlement process in 2013.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, somebody at Enbridge agreed to accept 386, right?  Somebody who knew something about capital spending agreed to 386, right?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so when they agreed to it, they thought it was a reasonable number, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I presume so, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So from a top-down point of view you have no benchmarking, except Mr. Coyne.  From a bottom-up point of view -- oh, just let me ask you one other thing about that. 

     In your system integrity plan, you have a step change from the past to the future of a 50-percent increase.  And we asked you:  Have you looked at what anybody else is doing?  Do you have any information on what other people are doing in the same area?

Your answer was no, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Sorry, I am trying to recall the context the question was asked in. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I will read it.  This is from SEC 149, under E48.  And the question was:

"Please provide all studies, reports or other documents in the possession of the applicant reviewing the system integrity and reliability capital spending of other gas distributors, including any such documents that show a similar permanent increase in capital spending in those categories." 

     And your answer was:   

"EGDI does not have any such reports, studies or documents that reviewed the system integrity and reliability capital spending of other gas distributors." 

     So it is true, isn't it, that when you decided to increase your spending in that category by $80 million a year and ask for more money from the ratepayers, you had no external empirical basis to do that, did you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then I want to turn now to the bottom-up side of this.  And you -- and I think everybody in the room agrees there is a whole lot of people at Enbridge who know a lot about building a distribution system.

But it is true, isn't it, that you still have a bias?  You're not independent?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Which bias would that be, Mr. Shepherd?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess your bias is that if your boss wants you to get more money, you have -- you're inclined in the direction of spending more, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Well, I will say, number one, my obligation is to ensure that we have a safe and reliable system in my current role, and that is my top priority and that will continue to be my top priority. 

     I think as an example, in 2013 we had to make decisions around spending that were beyond the original request and beyond our initial targets.  

We spent those monies recognizing we were 

not going to earn on that, because of the priorities that occurred in 2013. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, isn't it -- 

     MR. SANDERS:  So if the bias is an assumption that we will compromise other matters for the sake of earnings or growth, that is not correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't it also true that if you didn't spend extra money on system reliability and system integrity in 2013, then you wouldn't have had much chance of getting an increased budget this year, and in the next four years, would you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I wouldn't agree with that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The end result anyway is that this Board has no external verification of your capital budgets of any type, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Shepherd, I am not aware that in the 

regulatory process that is a requirement, that we would 

benchmark external budgets.  I am not aware of ever going through that process in the past. 

     This exercise in and of itself is the opportunity for 

external stakeholders to have and scrutinize our plan, and that is what we have endeavoured to do, is to provide enough detail to allow that process to happen.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I am a little confused.  

So one of two things must be true.  Either, because you say you need to spend the money, the Board should just say okay, or the Board should second-guess your engineering judgments and decide what they think your engineering plans should be.  

One of those two things is right; which is it?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, I am not sure I agree that it is a binary decision like that. 

     We have presented information based on our best engineering judgment, and I would submit that we have expertise, knowledge and highly qualified people to do that.  

     It is -- as a professional engineer in the province of Ontario, and as many of my staff are professional engineers in the province of Ontario, we take that obligation very seriously.  And we have an obligation to the public to ensure that our system continues to be safe and reliable.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, an engineer never asks for a budget that is more than they really need?  

     MS. LAWLER:  We also have an obligation to our ratepayers to not -- to not gold-plate things as professional engineers. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Also, Mr. Shepherd, again, the process that we presented and the review we went through was with the objective and the goal to arrive at the lowest prudent capital plan.  

     Again, what we've presented, and hopefully can be concluded from this process, we did arrive at that plan. Holding that budget flat for essentially seven years, I believe, is quite a risk to the organization, as we have presented.  

There is a number of items where we have reduced costs to the point of being uncomfortable, in the goal of reaching what we believe was a balanced budget, understanding exactly these issues, that there is a 

difficulty accepting our plans from the intervenors and from a number of parties. 

     So our goal was to present a reasonable balance between a lowest possible budget, but at the same time still achieving our requirements within the capital spend.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You said that the reason why you didn't get any external engineering advisors to review your plan is because you didn't think anybody would be capable of doing it, right?  

You said, I think -- I think this is an exact quote in my notes:

"I am not aware of any individuals or companies that can do this work."  

     MR. SANDERS:  From the broad perspective of looking at the overall process, we would have to bring in parties who would first have to understand the scope of work included, the operating environment we're in, the code and regulation requirements that we would have to do, and the process within the organization itself.  So dealing with all of the individuals in the organization to bring that plan and process together.  

     So there are elements of the plan, and certainly we are not averse to bringing in technical expertise when we need to, to look at particular areas to help us out. And we're not averse to doing that in the future as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you familiar with DNV, Det Worske Veritas?

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  They could do this.  They could review your plan and give you a good opinion, couldn't they?

     MR. SANDERS:  They could review the panel.  Again, I would have questions about how relevant it would be as a whole. 

     They will offer an opinion.  I am presenting or I'm 

suggesting that that expertise exists within our own 

organization.  I don't believe it is necessary to produce that plan. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But what you said is there were no experts outside of the organization; that is what I am trying to drive at.  

And there are experts, right?  Parsons Brinckerhoff, Siemens Energy, CB&I?  There is lots of them, aren't there? 

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, I would submit that all of those organizations have individuals with 

particular skills. 

     Unless they are intimate with the business of Enbridge Gas Distribution, and unless they are intimate with the regulatory environment in Ontario and the gas distribution business in Ontario, it would take a significant effort on their part to become detailed and versed in all of the requirements to build a five-year capital plan, as we went through.  

     I am not suggesting it is not possible.  It would be an extraordinary effort to get them to the point of being able to do that, and I question the value of doing that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If these top firms can't do it, how do you expect the Board to do it?  

     MR. SANDERS:  We're not asking the Board to do that.  We prepared this plan, and we have gone through the exercise of providing the information, hopefully to -- and again, we have endeavoured to provide enough detail to make an informed decision. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, just a couple of other questions in this area.  

     You were asked some questions about the rigour of your review, and I am not going to go into the details of that right now.  I just want to know that aside from what -- I want you to confirm that aside from what you said this morning about the rigour and how you described your process, do you have any other evidence to provide the Board to demonstrate that your review was, in fact, rigourous?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, I believe everything is submitted in evidence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The other question I want to ask is about over-forecasting, and again, this is just about what evidence are you offering.

And so my question is:  What evidence are you offering 

to demonstrate to the Board that you have not over-forecast your capital costs, aside from your description of the budget process?


MR. SANDERS:  Well, I can start with the outcome.  Again, as I presented in my opening statement, if we look at the areas that we've held our costs relatively flat, in and of themselves those create a challenge for the organization. 

     The overall budget, in and of itself -- again, looking at the fact that it is roughly forecast capital in the 442 million range, again flat over a very long period of time -- in and of itself would suggest that this is a very prudent budget, and will create a number of challenges for the organization. 

     The second part I would look at is the detail.  Again, as the additional panels come up, we can look at the detail as we went through and built up the plan from a bottom-up perspective, looking at each of the scopes of work and the requirements of that work.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So by "detail" you mean things like how you pace your amp fitting program?

     MR. SANDERS:  That could be one item, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So we could look at that and say:  Well, you had an expert that said do this -- do it this way, but you decided to do it a different way. 

     MR. SANDERS:  In fact, we decided to do it slower than our external experts suggested. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then how could the Board possibly conclude that you are right, if the experts said:  Do something else?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, it is our professional judgment.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So again, the Board should agree with it because you say so?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I am not going to suggest what the Board 

should or shouldn't do.  We're offering our professional opinion. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to turn briefly to fixed versus variable costs, and you have talked about this, but I guess I am trying to understand something here.  

You're pretty sure that some of these variable costs will have to be spent, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But they're not in your budget?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're also pretty sure that you are going to be able to meet your budgets?  

     MS. LAWLER:  I don't think we said that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no?  Okay.  So do you think you're going to be able to meet your budgets or not?  

     MR. SANDERS:  We do believe we will be able to meet our budgets.  The challenge that we have is that in doing that, we are going to have to find a number of productivity improvements along the way. 

     We have not discovered what all of those productivity 

improvements are going to be at this point in time. 

     We have a challenge to identify what those are going to be, and work on them over the IR term to achieve the budgets.  We are aware of that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of the variable costs which are not in your budget will have to be spent.  But the converse is that some of the costs that are in your budget, that you are saying:  Here's a reasonable budget for us to spend, those will actually not have to be spent, right?  Some of them?   

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm not aware of any of the items in our 

budget that we would not need to spend. 

     Again, the process we went through was to identify the things that we did not need to spend during the IR term. 

     There will be changing circumstances.  Again, I can't predict the future precisely for the next five years and exactly what is going to occur.  So there will be variations.  Some things will go up; some things will go down. 

     As we talked about, the growth forecast is a good example of that.  A number of variables will come into play in determining exactly what the attachment rates are going to be over the next five years.

But this is our best estimate at this point in time.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not talking about changing circumstances right now, Mr. Sanders.  I am trying to understand how variable fits in.  And it appears to me that you're saying:  Some of the variable, we will have to spend.  We'll get that by not spending some of the stuff that we said we were going to spend -- 

     MR. SANDERS:  No, that is not the case.  We're not --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How are you going to balance your budget, then?

     MR. SANDERS:  We're going to have to find efficiencies.  We're going to have to find productivity improvements. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you will spend less -- in your current budget you will actually spend less in order to fit in the variables, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I'm trying to follow your logic there on the reference to -- spending less from what?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a budget of $442 million in 2014, let's say.  I don't know whether that is right.  Let's say.  And that 442, it turns out you have to spend 50 on the variables. 

     MR. SANDERS:  I see.  Okay. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?  So now you only have 392 left, and you say:  Okay, well, we'll just -- for that 442 million worth of work, we'll spend 392.  

     MR. SANDERS:  That may be one option.  Another option would be we would have to overspend.  We will have to find productivity in other areas to partially offset over the IR term.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the thing I'm driving at is you're not telling the Board you're going to spend the money you say you are going to spend.  You don't actually think you are going to, right?  That 442 in those particular components, that is not what you actually think you're going to spend on, is it?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That is our best estimate of what the budget will be for that year, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're -- and you have -- 

     MR. SANDERS:  We're offering the -- a reasonable view to the variability that could occur over those years as well, though. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have a high degree of confidence that that list of things you're going to spend money on in each of those years is not going to be what you spend the money on; is that fair?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, it is not a complete -- every item on that variable list.  We would suggest it is a subset of that, has a high probability. 

     I've used the example again of the MOP assessment or the inline inspection of the pipelines.  It is difficult to determine what exactly the outcome is going to be until I actually send a tool down that pipe.  When the tool goes down the pipe and it finds issues that we need to address, we will need to address them.  We don't have a choice in that matter.

I can't sit here today and tell you we know exactly what those are going to be for the next five years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me move to a little more discussion of system integrity spending.  We've talked about it already, and I understand where you're coming from.  I just want to ask a couple of high-level -- you're the overview panel on that, right?  So I want to ask some high-level questions. 

     Is the problem here that your system integrity was substandard, was not good enough?

     MS. LAWLER:  No.  We have always complied with legislation.  And again, with this change in legislation, the expectation is that we are getting in front of the failure curve, in essence. 

     So with respect to amp fittings, what that means is because we know we have a failing fitting, we are both going to be increasing our leak survey of those components and also putting together the proactive program that is described in the evidence. 

     So we will continue to find leaks after they occur because of the nature of the problem, but we also want to, in a prudent way, get in front of the failure curve. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you want to find less leaks after the fact and more before the fact?

     MS. LAWLER:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I get it.  


And so basically you have made a decision, a corporate decision, to increase your safety and reliability levels, right?  

     MS. LAWLER:  We've made the decision to be proactive, based on the regulation, and it is improving the safety for our customers and our workers as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only reason you are doing this is because the legislation says you have to?  

     MS. LAWLER:  No.  As I described, post-San Bruno, there is a recognition of a shift in the legislation.  If I can direct you to B2, tab 10, page 58, the quote on that page, the quote comes from a National Transportation Safety Board report following the Marshall, Michigan event.  And as you can appreciate, this is an event that is near and dear to us.

     And what the NTSB recommends is that the API -- American Petroleum Institute -- facilitate the development of a safety management system standard specific to the pipeline industry that is similar in scope to the API Recommended Practice 750, "Management of process hazards."

So when we saw that recommendation, we endeavoured to understand what RP 750, "Management of process hazards," is so that we could again be in front of what this new API standard is going to be.  

     And so that is all about layers of protection, making sure that you have sufficient layers of protection from your threats and risks so that they don't manifest as undesired events with bad consequences. 

     So what our approach is trying to do is to -- I don't know if you've ever seen a layer protection diagram, but make sure that the layers of Swiss cheese are sufficient and that the holes are as small as possible.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, I guess.  It sounds like you're saying:  They changed the rules; we're following the new rules.

Whereas I thought the underlying concept here was that you were proactively trying to improve your safety and reliability because you recognized that it was not as good as it should be.  

     MS. LAWLER:  And it is both. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is both?

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Shepherd, I would also offer that the asset planning approach is also a factor here.  Bringing in that methodology and having a better insight into the life cycle of your assets also is a tool that would provide and identify risks that perhaps we did not identify before.  It is a different method of approaching and looking at your assets. 

     And as I mentioned earlier, some fairly simple math looking at our total pipeline quantity and our total number of services will show you that the replacement rate of our asset plan is not in a sustainable spot.  So this is a very simple view of that. 

     The asset planning approach will optimize that, will start to give us better insight into what those replacement cycles should look like.

So that is another factor I believe is driving that increased activity in the replacement area.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let me just follow up on that, because you are proposing over the next five years to increase your rate base by about $1.8 billion, net increase in rate base, on a basis of 4.1.

That is a big increase, and it doesn't seem consistent with either the level of growth of your utility or the natural replacement cycle of your assets, which are assets that, for the most part, last 40 or 50 or 60 years, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  And I am looking at those numbers too, Mr. Shepherd, and if I take, again, 36,000 kilometres of pipe and replacing it at less that 100 kilometres per year, it sure takes me beyond the 40-, 50-, 60-year life of that pipe.  That is the challenge that we have. 

     And this is, as I said earlier, one of the difficulties I see coming, is that -- and this is not different from a lot of the other infrastructure issues that the province is facing as well -- we need to get ahead of our replacement schedule or have at least a reasonable replacement schedule for our assets, or at some point we're just pushing that problem into the future.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is why is it 1.8 billion to do that.

     MR. SANDERS:  And in fact it may be more.  We have not done a calculation to determine the total replacement value of our assets, and I suggest it is significantly more than $1.8 billion.  But again, that is what the asset planning process is intended to provide, is an optimized, informed view of what is a reasonable life cycle for our assets, and that is what we're endeavouring to do. 

     Now, we have gone through two cycles of the asset planning process, and we are looking to enhance and improve that process to get better information and better outcomes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And what happened from the first to the second cycle was -- well, from none to the first cycle and from the first to the second is you kept identifying more and more risks that you had to deal with, right?

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're expecting that as you get better at it, you will continue to identify more risks, right?

     MR. SANDERS:  Not necessarily.  In fact, how you even treat the risk may change as we look at our view on what those risks are and how we manage them. 

     So in a more sophisticated view of the life cycle of the assets, we may come up with different alternatives than simply repair.  We could extend the life.  We can look at different repair methods, different survey and condition monitoring programs, perhaps, to extend the life of the assets. 

     But we need to look at every one of our assets and do that assessment.  So initially it is not unreasonable to expect, if you have not taken a close look at all your assets for a long period of time with this thorough a model, yes, we will identify potential risks that we have not identified in the past. 

     And not to mention the fact you are also bringing in new technologies.  The ILI process is a really good example, where you look at how that has evolved in the last decade, from the first tools we were running in the early 2000s or late '90s to the tools we're running now.  

They find cracks and combinations of faults in pipelines that we weren't able to detect 10 or 15 years ago.  So that technology gets better and better, and we'll be applying that to the assets to look for risks. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will find more anomalies, you will find more things that need to be fixed, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Likely, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's my problem.  You 

can always spend more money on safety and reliability, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't matter how much money the Board says you can spend.  You could always spend more if you had more, couldn’t you? 

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, the asset planning process is intended to find an optimal balance between operation and maintenance costs and replacement costs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the test of whether you have spent enough on safety and reliability is whether the amount you're spending minimizes your total cost?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, I think that is an oversimplification.  But that would be the goal, that you have optimized life cycle in both operating and maintenance costs and capital costs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  See, when we asked about system integrity spending and we asked what's the bang for the buck that the ratepayers get, your answer was -- I don't have it in front of me, but I am sure you will remember it.  

Your answer was:  That's not how we do system integrity.  We don't do it to save money.  We do it because we want it to be safer and more reliable. 

     MR. SANDERS:  And absolutely, that is the first priority. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so my question is:  You can always spend more money to make it safer and more reliable, can't you?

     MR. SANDERS:  That is not our objective, to spend more money.  Our objective is to find an optimal solution for the life cycle of that asset. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And what is the optimal solution based on, if it is not cost? 

     MR. SANDERS:  It would be based on a number of factors that we would do through the asset planning process.  So that could be the life cycle, the probability of the failure, the nature of the failure, the consequence of the failure, the type of asset, the location of the asset.

So there is a number of variables that would go into that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What I guess I am not getting here -- and maybe I am just dense -- is if safety and reliability are not about the dollars, they're about the level of safety and the level of reliability, how do you set that level of safety?  How do you set that level of reliability?  What is your metric?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Well -- 

     MS. LAWLER:  We have proposed some metrics.   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have proposed some tests as to what is appropriate.  The question is on what basis. 

     You don't go look at what anybody else is doing, so how do you decide what's the right level?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, the asset planning process is intended to work through those iterations of different spending levels with risk reduction. 

     So those risks -- and the simple view of risk is we have a failure; what's the consequence of that failure and the implication of that failure?  We have to work through each of those for our particular set of assets and determine what those risks are. 

     There is going to be a range of those through the asset planning process that would drive different solutions that we would need to implement through the integrity program.  

So I am struggling to think that there is a simple one answer on what particular measure we would be looking for, but certainly the risk reduction is the overarching measure that we're looking for. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the risk reduction is based on your 

professional judgment, right?  Or the professional judgment of the people in the company?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Correct.  If I can take you to SEC 

Interrogatory 114, Exhibit I.B18.EGDI.SEC.114, page 2, in the answer under (b), we suggest that:

"Success will be measured in terms of risk reduction, system reliability and improved safety.  More specifically, outcomes will be measured through a number of excavation damages per thousand locates, service leak per mile of service, total number of grade A leaks eliminated or repaired during the year, and outages per thousand customers." 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you should spend enough money to bring those numbers down to zero, right?

     MS. LAWLER:  That is our aspirational goal.  We don't 

think that we will get there any time soon. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you would have to spend an infinite amount of money to get there, right?  You're not going to get there on the calculations you have now, right? 

     MR. SANDERS:  I think we're moving in the realm of calculus here. 

That is not our goal, to spend an infinite amount of money.  We want to come up with the best solution we can to achieve those goals.  We're not suggesting that that is going to happen any time soon, and we will achieve zero.  

We're working towards that, and I think that is a reasonable goal.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am going to move on.  

     I want to ask one question first, and then I have a bunch of detailed questions.  

What time would you like to break, Madam Chair?  

     MS. CONBOY:  I have no specific time in mind, so I am not sure.  3:00 o'clock?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I can probably finish by then. 

     MS. CONBOY:  That would be great. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So my first simple question is:  For 2017 and 2018, you're not providing a bottom-up or top-down budget of any type, right?  You are just saying:  We're going to assume that they're going to be the same as 2016 and -- that those two years are going to be the same as 2016, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And there is no formula for that.  There is no particular reason why that is correct, is there?  You just picked that number?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  We picked that number because we were unable to come up with a bottom-up forecast that provided the same level of detail as we’ve provided for the prior years, but with some expectation that the 2016 level was probably representative of what is most likely to occur in those years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you want -- if you could turn to page 6 of our materials, this is the original version of SEC 83.

And in the original version of SEC 83, you actually did have budgets for 2017 and 2018, didn't you?  Page 2 of the -- 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, I see that.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Do you have a question?  I'm sorry. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My question was:  You did have budgets for 2017 and '18, didn’t you? 

     MS. SQUIRES:  At some point we did have numbers, and that was prior to our decision to hold constant at 2016. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the hold-constant number, is that your actual budget?  Or is this your actual budget?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  The 2016 value is our actual budget for 2017 and 2018.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so did you go through a review process to cut things out of the 2017 and 2018 budgets?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I think in B2, tab 1, schedule 1, the 

process we went through talks about the stage that we got to in deciding that the variable components in 2017 and 2018 became rather large, and anticipating the discomfort from a number of stakeholders in this process, that without certainty in those costs, it would be a challenge to present those and proceed on a budget basis. 

     So I believe it was around review 3 that we decided to not proceed with a five-year perspective.  We thought a three-year view on capital was more reasonable, and would provide more precise information.  So work was not continued on year 4 and year 5.  

     As you can see, I think, Mr. Shepherd, in your schedule here, the numbers -- and to be honest, I am not familiar with those numbers.  I don't recognize them.  But you can see at 485 and 509, those were the levels that we were starting to see in the latter years that created the discomfort of, as we talked about, benchmarking relative to the 387.  Those were substantial deviations from that for the core capital.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't provided the Board with any evidence that the 441.9 that you propose for those years has any basis, have you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  The evidence that would be supporting 2016 would be what we would suggest is appropriate for 2017 and 2018. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have already said that 2017 and 2018 are not going to be similar to 2016, are they?

     MR. SANDERS:  They're likely going to be higher. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the budgets you proposed are budgets that you know are not correct, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  And we're prepared to take the risk on those.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to turn to my last area of questions, which is with respect to pages 10 through 14 of our materials, SEC IR No. 91.

And this talks about how you reviewed and reduced your capital budget.  And the type is very small, but I couldn't figure out a way to make it bigger.  As soon as I made it bigger it got all hazy, but we're all young, so we can probably all read it.  

     I want to just take you through a few of these and you can help us understand what happened here, because I want to get a sense of the process. 

     And let me start by saying, this -- table 2 here, starting at page 3, these figures are without the departmental costs, without the overheads, without the IDC.  Those are all added at the end, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  On page 3 of 5?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you go to page 5, take a look at the line fourth from the bottom.  This is the DLC.  "DLC" is department labour costs; is that right?

     MS. AU:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in the budget process, you managed to go for the first three years from 268 million for those costs to 295 million, which doesn't sound like you were cutting back much.

Can you help us with happened there?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Mr. Shepherd, I think what's happened here is that there is -- I think there's an error in this table.  The table that precedes it in this IR response, the table 1 -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  -- was updated in a technical conference undertaking in response to one of your questions.  It was SEC Question 48, where we corrected table 1 of this interrogatory, but table 2, which wasn't part of your Question 48, did not get updated.


So I think we can answer the question by referring to table 1 rather than table 2 on the DLC. 

      MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  We haven't looked at table 1 because I was looking at the detailed ones.  So --

     MS. SQUIRES:  Well, table 1 also has a line for a DLC.  It's line number 8.  I am looking at page 2 of 5 of that.  Are you with me?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's okay.  And so you have an update for that?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  It was filed -- I don't know if it is on the screen here.  It was filed under technical conference Undertaking 3.1.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  3.1? 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Question 48, SEC Question 48.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do we have it up on the screen?

     MS. SQUIRES:  That's not it yet.

Yes, here we go.  This is it.  Yes.

And this is a corrected version of table 1, where you will see that the direct labour costs actually -- where are we -- decrease across the reviews.  I'm summing up -- I am looking at the sum of 14 to 16.  They decreased from 244 million to 223 million.  I think that is a reduction of 9 percent. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so where did those dollars go?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I'm sorry?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Where did those dollars go?  I mean, the thing has to balance, right?  The totals at the bottom are the same, so where did those 24,000 and 70,000 -- or, sorry, 24 million and 70 million go --

     MS. SQUIRES:  I believe in the original version of the table there was a misallocation or an incorrect allocation of some amounts, and once that was corrected it didn't change the totals, it just shifted dollars.  At the moment, I couldn't -- I can't say exactly from where to where.  But it was -- certain amounts had been put in the wrong row. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you telling me that everything in table 2, then, is going to be wrong?  Because table 2 -- table 1 is just a roll-up of table 2, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  No, I don't believe everything is wrong in table 2.  What I can't tell you right at the moment is which line items were affected, but we could find that out for you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a corrected table 2?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Not with us here, no.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But these are nested spreadsheets, right?  So table 1 is actually a different page in the same spreadsheet as table 2, isn't it?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I don't know if that is the case.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It looks like it to me. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  It could be, but I don't know. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It looks like you have a table look-up here.  And so what I would like you to do is I would like to ask the Board to let us take the break early, and I would like to have that during the break.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I can investigate whether that is possible, and if it is we will provide it.  If it requires a bit more time, we can -- we will have to report back.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  We can take it as an undertaking if that is the case. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I can't ask questions about it.  That's the problem. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Yes, I think that is the -- why don't we take a break for 15 minutes now?  See if you can pull up the working copy of that spreadsheet to see if the reallocations are in the spreadsheet.  Then Mr. Shepherd can continue.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  

     --- Recess taken at 2:40 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:04 p.m. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

We've got the spreadsheet?  Oh, we do.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in a larger font.  

     MS. CONBOY:  I don't know if you wanted to mark it. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Why don't we do that? 

     MS. SEBALJ:  K5.6. 

EXHIBIT NO. K5.6:  WORKING COPY OF SPREADSHEET ENTITLED "PROGRAM DETAILED COMPARISON OF CHANGES, FINAL REVIEW 6, VERSUS BASE LINE REVIEW 1."
     MS. SEBALJ:  For the record, it is table 2, 

"Program detailed comparison of changes, final review 6, versus base line review 1," which is a correction of what is currently in the evidence at Schools 91. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Please go ahead. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

In your undertaking response, TCU3.1, you say page 2 

contains an error and should be replaced with the corrected table 1.  

     I am now looking at the table 2 -- which you didn't provide, even though they're a match to each other -- and this is completely different from the one that you filed with SEC 91.  There are major changes to it.

So what happened?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Well, now I am confused, because there aren't major changes.  And perhaps you can point to where you see significant changes --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  20 reinforcement projects versus five.  Three types of ILI for pipelines versus one. 

     I can go on; there’s lots of them.

There is a new contingency that wasn't there before, I believe.  And that is just the first page; I haven't got to the other two yet.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  My apologies for that.  It appears that the version we have brought up is a more consolidated view.  

What I can tell you, though, is that the error that was in the original filed table was restricted to one line, and I can point you to that. 

     And if it's important -- and I guess all other lines, the original table 2 -- for example, if we're looking at 

"Reinforcement," the full package or the full portfolio of 

reinforcement items, they're unchanged.  They're still correct.  

So perhaps at this point I will just tell you where the correction was, and then we can still rely on table 2 for all other line items. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  So the correction is that the "DLC" line in the original table 2 contained values that should have been included in a line item in the "System integrity and reliability" section. 

     So on the revised spreadsheet that you just received, on the first page -- unfortunately there’s no line items here -- the third item under "System integrity and reliability program details" is identified as "Allocations."  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  That is a new line that wasn't in the original table 2, and that is system integrity and reliability-related direct resource costs. 

     So those are costs related to resourcing the specific system integrity and reliability initiatives, which could be anything from contractors to specialized labour that would need to be hired in order to execute on those programs. 

     The idea of separating those out and putting them into the system integrity category was to bring greater visibility to the total costs of executing on the system integrity portfolio of projects. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why are they called allocations if they are outside costs?  Allocations are normally allocations of internal costs.  So why are these allocations?  

It looks to me like, in fact, you have taken some of your DLC costs when they were going up, and hidden them in the system integrity budget.  That is what it looks to me. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  No.  In fact, I'd suggest that the opposite happened, that we had identified costs related to executing on the system integrity program that incorrectly got categorized with the DLC, and we have – our intention was to have them shown separately here, so we had increased visibility. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that $71 million of costs, what is 

that?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Shepherd, maybe it is helpful if we point you to Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 6 in our evidence.  It is, in fact, described in that section of the evidence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you help us with it?  Since we didn't even know it was there until two minutes ago, perhaps you can explain.  

     MR. SANDERS:  As Ms. Squires had pointed out, the intention of isolating this cost was to bring visibility and transparency to the costs of implementing the system integrity and reliability scope of work. 

     So as you can see in the evidence, in B2, tab 5, schedule 6, it is broken into two line items in table 1 on page 2 of 4.

So there's incremental system integrity reliability resources, which is similar to the direct resource costs -- or sorry, direct labour costs.

And the second component is the fixed costs related to 

outside contractors.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Which would also normally be in DLC, right?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you did is you took $71 million from DLC and you put it under system integrity?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have this thing where you say:  We're managing our DLC costs, we're keeping them way down, but in fact meanwhile you're hiding a $48-million increase in those costs, aren't you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Well, in fact we're not trying to hide 

anything.  We're bringing transparency to it by isolating it and showing it separately.  

We wanted to see what those costs were, and be able to manage and track those separate from the broader bucket of DLC costs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have similar costs to those in 

reinforcements, don't you?  You have similar incremental 

reinforcement resources, and you have similar construction and service contractor fixed costs in those as well, don't you?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So why aren't they in allocations in those sections?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Because again this was the area of largest increase.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you decided to have a special method of showing these -- which, by the way, you didn't give us.  

     MR. SANDERS:  As I pointed out, it was in evidence at B2, tab 5, schedule 6 and explained in that section of the evidence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me just ask a couple of questions about this --

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  I am trying to reconcile table 1 here that you have given us with what I see on allocations on the large spreadsheet, table 2.  

Should I be able to -- how do I connect the dots between that table and what we've got here?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Perhaps I can help.  Table 1 in the package that Mr. Shepherd provided was subsequently revised, and the corrected version was included in the response to TCU3.1.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Which is what is up on the screen right now?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No. 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Is it?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It was on the screen before.  

     MS. CONBOY:  I just noticed the 17 million 449 up on the table, and what is on the screen right now in the 

large spreadsheet, but is there no -- sorry?  

It is the same number, but not for 2015 and 2014.  

     MS. AU:  Okay.  In 2014 and 2015, the difference is 

approximately 8 million, and that amount is a program called EnVision extension.  

     MS. LAWLER:  And it is in the evidence at Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 5, attachment 3.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And why is that an allocation?  Why wouldn't that just be listed as a separate project?  

     MS. AU:  We did eventually list it as a separate project, but in this listing of projects it got grouped as allocation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what you have here on the screen from -- I don't remember what the reference was, but what you have here on the screen is not an explanation of what you have here in the spreadsheet, that line, is it, because they don't match?

     MS. AU:  Except for the EnVision extension project, which is at another exhibit.  

     MS. LAWLER:  Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 5, attachment 3.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is 8 million for each of 2014 and 2015?  

     MS. LAWLER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can I ask -- this spreadsheet, table 2, if we look at the numbers on the left-hand side and we track those to the numbers on table 1 on the left-hand side, everything that's a number 2, for example, if you added them all up they will be number 2 on table 1, right?  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Could you just give us the reference again for where we find the corrected version of table 1?

     MS. SQUIRES:  The corrected version of table 1 is at Exhibit TCU3.1, SEC Question 48.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So tell me whether that is right, Ms. 

Squires.  You have four items for reinforcement here in table 2.  If you add them up for any of the years, you will get the total for that year in table 1, the corrected table 1?

     MS. SQUIRES:  That should be the case. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, Excel just does this by a look-up, right?  It is just automatic.  And so if you add up all the number 4s, the system integrity, you will get that total for system integrity reliability for each of the years, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes.  Given the number of challenges we have had in reconciling these tables, I am a little hesitant to say yes, but that should be the case. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what is supposed to be the case?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so this has review 6, final capital -- and that would have been March of last year, right?  Or so, or April?  So when was this spreadsheet done?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Which spreadsheet?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Spreadsheet K5.6, when was that spreadsheet done?


[Witness panel confers] 

     MS. SQUIRES:  It would have been prepared in the beginning of December in response to the interrogatory, Interrogatory No. 91.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if this was prepared in response to 91, why do I have something different in response to 91 in December?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I'm sorry, the original table would have been prepared for 91, but corrected at the point -- around the time of the technical conference. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this was corrected, then?  This new K5.6 was done in February?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  It would have been corrected in February.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, you said there was only one change, and that is this "Allocations" line, but I am looking, for example, at "Reinforcements," and you've got 20 reinforcements.  And now you've got four, so this is actually quite a different spreadsheet, isn't it?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. SQUIRES:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, what we're dealing with is that over the course of time different iterations of the spreadsheet were developed, and some might have had a higher level of detail than others.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Why don't you go to the last page, the fourth-last line, which is WAMS post-implementation enhancements?  And so I am looking at page 14 of our material, and I think that has $8 million in it, and your new one has zero.  Totals are still the same, but now it has zero.

So presumably that's buried somewhere else now, right?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Well, the version of the table that's in your compendium does include two additional columns that don't appear in the version we handed out today.  Your version includes -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Really? 

     MS. SQUIRES:  -- estimates of fiscal 2017 and 2018, and those are the years in which the WAMS project contain amounts, the 5,000 and the 3,000 in '17 and '18. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So why did you take out those two years?

[Witness panel confers] 

     MS. SQUIRES:  I think you've caught us scrambling a little bit to recollect the timing of the different iterations of the spreadsheets and to understand the decisions behind what is included and what's not. 

     The totals for the '14 to '16 period should be the same.  As to the amounts that are included in '17 and '18, I would request some time to follow up and understand, you know, what decisions were made related to those.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't just hide it on the print job when you -- on the break, right?  You didn't just take those two out? 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Certainly not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hide those two columns?


MS. SQUIRES:  Certainly not. 

     MR. STEVENS:  I think that is an unfair accusation, Mr. Shepherd --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, no.


MR. STEVENS:  We moved as quickly as we could.  We had --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not saying --


MR. STEVENS:  -- maybe 15 minutes total.  Clearly people are scrambling to figure out whether perhaps a slightly different version of a spreadsheet was printed.  I apologize that we moved so quickly.  It feels like we didn't check it as closely as we ought to have, but to impute some sort of intention to that is highly unfair, in my view.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Fair enough, Mr. Stevens.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me ask you a couple of questions about this.  So in "Reinforcements" you have a York region reinforcement now as a new thing, which wasn't in your last one, right?  Well, it was in your last version, I guess; it was just different numbers?  

     MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Au, if I could ask you just to lift your mic up a little bit so you are not hitting it?  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that right?  Because what it says here in the old one is that the York region reinforcement was in your original budget, and you kept it.  In the new one, it says it wasn't in your original budget and you added it.

So which is it?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Mr. Shepherd, I think we would like to ask if we could take the time to properly analyze the differences between the spreadsheets and just make sure that we've got the most current information for you.

As Mr. Stevens said, we did this fairly quickly and I just want to make sure we're not providing the wrong evidence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me see if I can ask some of the questions I originally intended to ask, which are somewhat different, but maybe this will be still helpful. 

     Can you go down to the line that says:  "District station equipment replacement"?  It is about -- I don't know -- 20 down on the first page.  Do you see that?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, we have it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

And so you had this amount of $7.8 million in the original budget.  It is now out by review 6.  But you have -- the next line down, you have something that wasn't in the original budget, and by review 6 it is $27.2 million.

Are those two related?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Mr. Shepherd, I can't recall the details on this particular item.  We can undertake to answer that question for you, or again, the -- one of the subsequent panels could perhaps shed some light on the details of this particular area. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It was your review, wasn't it?

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, it was. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You can't tell me what you did in your review?


MR. SANDERS:  I can't remember every line item on the spreadsheet. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's $27 million.

     MR. SANDERS:  I would be speculating as to the sequence that occurred there. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  We have some -- you have an item, "Distribution" –- sorry, "Compression outlet service TEE study," $8.8-million.  Do you see that?

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that wasn't in the original request?  You added that, right?

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, I would have to go back and check.  I don't recall.  I believe it was.  I'm not sure why on this spreadsheet in particular it is not showing up in the first review.

Again, one of the subsequent panels will be talking about some of the details in that particular program, and I believe that is in the evidence in the B2, tab 5 series.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking about these because of the specifics of the individual ones.  I am asking about your budget review process.  

I want to know why this study, which nobody asked for, you decided you would do anyway. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Well, I am not sure how you concluded that nobody asked for the study. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Review 1, zero. 

     MR. SANDERS:  I would have to go back and look at reviews 2, 3, 4 and 5 and understand the dynamics between the programs and projects that were being brought forward through the process.  

This was not a binary process of one step.  There were several iterations, as we’ve presented in this. 

     This table is showing from review 1 to review 6.  In between those reviews, there were definitely iterations on the various programs.  So it could have been through one of the subsequent or previous reviews.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask about another one, then.

Distribution integrity technology, this is some sort of new technology?

     MR. SANDERS:  There is a group of technology projects that are associated with that, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that, again, wasn't in the original budget, but you added $5.6 million.

Do you remember about that one?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, vaguely I recall the process, and 

probably, in one of the earlier iterations, it was identified.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I thought the process, the way the process was described –- and maybe I’ve misunderstood -- is the individual departments said:  Here's what we want to do, here's what we want to spend. 

     And then you and a team of people then looked at it 

carefully to decide what actually made sense.  

And so I don't know where -- where do they get to ask for more?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, over that period of time, additional items may have been identified by the various groups. 

     Again, it is not a one-time ask, when you look at this from the period of time it started in the fall of 2012 through to the spring of 2013.  We were actually asking people to ensure that they've identified all of the requirements through that process as well. 

     And some of the groups may have subsequently identified things that they had not originally considered.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Perhaps I can add, as well, there's a 

technical conference question undertaking that I referred to earlier today, TCU3.1, and it is your own question, Mr. Shepherd, Question 49, where it characterizes the review process as a process whereby different departments were trying to standardize or normalize their criteria for what would be included and what wouldn't be included. 

     And we have said on numerous occasions that this process was not something that we had been through before, this multi-iteration sort of committee-type process of setting a budget for a multi-year period of time. 

     So what actually happened is you get representatives from different departments in the room, that have come to that first meeting or that first iteration with varying levels of understanding of what the pressures would be. 

     So you get some people that came in that were perhaps overly conservative in the beginning, and some that were perhaps overly, let's call it, aggressive in the beginning.

And over the subsequent reviews, you have a normalization and a standardization of people's expectations of what are the pressures and what are we trying to accomplish. 

     So that's why you're going to see -- that's why you're not going to see just a straight, downward line from review 1 to review 6. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That is interesting.  I have two questions about that.  

First of all, your budgeting process in every prior year, your internal operational budgeting process is a multi-stage process, right?  It's been in evidence in the hearings? 

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only difference with this one, aside from the fact you feel it was more rigourous, is that it was for multiple years?

     MS. SQUIRES:  Yes, certainly that was a factor, that it was for multiple years, and the fact that we expected the kinds of pressures that we have been talking about so far in this hearing.  I think that added an extra layer of rigour to the process. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And my second question about that is -- you described some departments as having not asked for enough, in effect -- they were too conservative -- so when they realized other people were asking for more, they asked for more, too. 

     That doesn't sound very rigorous to me.  

     MS. SQUIRES:  Typically, the budgeting process isn't done with the type of committee approach that we employed last year for this application. 

     And you've got long-term employees that have budgeted in a certain way for a fairly long period of time, and I think you've heard repeatedly that this was a more challenging exercise than before. 

     So to the extent that communication had been precisely the same to every individual in every department that was responsible for budgeting, I would say that on day one, that probably wasn't the case. 

     But as this committee functioned over the first -- whatever -- five months, six months of last year, as I said, that level of understanding of what needed to be done was standardized, and people were brought to the same place in terms of what their expectations were for the budget. 

     So in iteration 1, 2 and 3, you will see some ups and downs.  But in the latter stages of the iterations, I think you will see more of that downward trend. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Everybody was sufficiently aggressive, and then it was time to cut back?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I wouldn't characterize it that way. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you characterize it in an appropriate way, then?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  I think I have already done that.  In the first few iterations, different parties were trying to get to the same place of understanding what fixed and variable were, understanding what the extent of the pressures were, and then ultimately coming up with a budget that collectively we could live with. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you split off fixed and variable?  

     MR. SANDERS:  It was around review 3, or slightly after review 3. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then in the first few, there was no 

discussion about understanding fixed and variable, was there?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I was not part of that process. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking Ms. Squires, who said they were trying to understand fixed and variable in the first few.  They weren't, were they?  

     MS. SQUIRES:  No, and if I misspoke, I apologize.  The fixed and variable idea was introduced around iteration 3. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask for an 

undertaking about this, because I can't go through it all in this way.  I don't think it is productive of the Board's time. 

     I want to ask about one, though, because you’ll see --towards the bottom of the first page you will see two items:  "Isolated steel remediation program" and "Isolated steel study."  Tell me whether this is right.

The numbers on the two are the same.  The study was in the first review, so it is what they originally asked for, 2.7 million, and that's gone.  And in review 6, you now have the remediation program, also 2.7 million.

Am I right in understanding that this is just a change of name?  It is exactly the same thing, exactly the same budget, and you just changed the name?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, I would have to undertake to understand what the reason was.  But likely that is the case; it was simply a name change. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake -- tell me whether this is too much work, but I hope it isn't. 

     I wonder if you could undertake to go through this 

spreadsheet and identify each item that passes your materiality threshold -- so you have -- the company has a materiality limit, right? -- each item that passes the materiality limit in changes, and identify the reason for the change and when it happened.  

Can you do that?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, I would have to make best efforts on pulling out the information from that period of time when the reviews were done, and I can't guarantee that we have all of the detail information available as we went through them.  

We could undertake to do that.  But it will be a considerable effort to do that.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Just to clarify, when you speak of a 

materiality threshold and changes, are you speaking to a change meeting a materiality threshold, or the program itself meeting a material --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  A change meeting the materiality threshold.  Most of programs meet it, or many of them do, but I am only looking for ones where there was a change that met the threshold.  

If it is too much work, that's fine.  I am giving you the opportunity to show your rigour in this process.  It’s up to you.  

[Witness panel confers] 

     MS. CONBOY:  Remind us, please, what that materiality 

threshold change is.  Do we know?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't actually remember, Madam Chair. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Madam Chair, that is one of my challenges.  I am trying to navigate through the process here and understand what that threshold would be.  

I am trying to come up with a practical solution to this that -- on a best-efforts basis, perhaps we can do this and at least start the process and identify some of the larger items that changed as an example for the Board, if that is helpful.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think if it is not consistent, it is not really very helpful, because then you can select whatever examples you like. 

     MR. SANDERS:  I would think of maybe starting with the 

largest changes towards the smallest changes, in that form. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't we say 5 million?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Changes of 5 million or more? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Changes of 5 million.  That would get you 30 or 40. 

     MR. SANDERS:  Okay.  I agree to undertake that.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  It is J5.12. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.12:  IDENTIFY EACH ITEM OF OVER $5 MILLION THAT PASSES THE MATERIALITY LIMIT IN CHANGES, AND IDENTIFY THE REASON FOR THE CHANGE AND WHEN IT HAPPENED.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, those are our questions.  Thank you for your indulgence in letting me continue.  I am going to leave, and I do not have questions for panel 5. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

Before we give you a chance for re-examination, Mr. Stevens, I believe we have some questions from the Panel.  

     QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD: 
     DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, just a few questions.  

     Mr. Sanders, you talked earlier about the prioritization process of the capital program.  You mentioned that safety and reliability come first. 

     What other criteria do you use in the prioritization process?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Certainly looking at the demands of our customers would be a priority that would follow closely after that, our obligation to serve and to grow the system as demanded within the criteria. 

     We would also look at the economics of the projects as well, to determine if they meet our internal economic thresholds and do a prioritization on that basis as well.

I believe those would be the major ones. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


You talked about life cycle management.  I want to understand what you meant by that term.  You have asset plans, but do you have life cycle plans that go beyond that for the life of the asset?  

     MR. SANDERS:  That's the goal in the asset plan process.  At the moment, we have not included, for example, all of our assets.  We don't have our storage facilities in the asset planning process.  The asset planning process has not yet brought in the operating and maintenance costs, for example. 

     Our goal would be to incorporate all of that into the asset management tool and asset management process, to bring in that full life cycle view. 

     So I would be looking at it literally from the time of installation to the time of abandonment and what are the costs associated over that entire life cycle for the assets.

DR. ELSAYED:  And to support that, what kind of condition assessment, engineering evaluations, would you envisage?  Or do you do now or envisage to do in supporting these life cycle plans?


MR. SANDERS:  I will ask Ms. Lawler to help me out a little bit on this one as well, but there are a number of different condition monitoring programs that we have in place, and we will be introducing some new ones based on expanding them into different classes of assets.


The most fundamentals would be line patrols that would include leak surveys, using flame ionization units, line patrols from aero-patrol, which is watching for construction.  We'd be doing depth-to-cover surveys, some of the more basic patrol items.  Station maintenance checks for our regulating stations would be done through physical check of equipment.


We would also include things like inline inspection programs.  This would be where we would be inserting the tools that go right inside the pipeline and record the damage as they travel down the pipeline, the more sophisticated ones.

We have corrosion surveys, where we look for pipe-to-soil voltage differences and monitor corrosion levels.


So those are a number of the programs.  I am not sure if I have missed any.  Ms. Lawler?  

     MS. LAWLER:  I think you hit the major ones. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Well, how much of that do you do now?  

     MR. SANDERS:  All of that, to some extent.  It is now looking at how we would deploy those differently to different assets.

So ILI, for example, is limited to the pipelines that operate at 30 percent of SMYS and higher.  We are looking to move that down into lower SMYS pipelines.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  On a different topic, the bottom-up approach of building up your capital budget, obviously you have a discrete number of capital projects, as we have seen.  And the level of uncertainty in those estimates varies, I suppose.


How do you account for the cost estimate uncertainty, given that in many cases you haven't defined the scope 

completely?

     MR. SANDERS:  So I think there is two ways of dealing with that, and in some, especially the larger projects, we would have project contingencies associated with GTA, and I believe that was part of the evidence for the GTA application, the large leave-to-construct projects. 

     In most of the smaller, blanket-type projects of growth, the actual unit costs do not -- and I could be corrected on this.  I believe they do not contain contingency amounts.  They are just based on historical forecasts on unit costs. 

     Again, that was our effort to look at the uncertainty, and in identifying those through those variable costs, the tables that we've provided are trying to identify where we don't have certainty and what those might look like.


So in other words, the initial iterations of the projects came forward again with reasonable expectation that there would be some outcome of an inspection, that you would have to replace something or there would be some requirement. 

     We chose again to take those costs away from the projects and bear the risk as a company if those costs incur, again, other than the two categories of main replacement and relocation that we have asked for variance accounts on. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  A couple of quick questions as well.

Going back to the previous area of asset management, at what stage do you assess options like operational changes or -- other than capital spending, like, the various options of dealing with that?  When do you do that?  

     MR. SANDERS:  So again, we're just new into the asset management world.  We have only gone through a couple of 

iterations, and we have recognized that is our next -- one of our next stages, is to bring the operating and maintenance costs in.  And the solution for mitigation that could incur could be done through different repair methods or different maintenance procedures. 

     So we have not actually taken that step yet in the asset management process, but that would be one of our next steps. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  But that could lead to implementing operational measures that could avoid some of the capital expenditures.

     MR. SANDERS:  It could.  And in fact then create pressures on the operating and maintenance costs that we don't have embedded in the program right now, yes. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  My last question, I guess, is how do you accommodate -- obviously sometimes unforeseen projects come up or needs come up during this period.  How do you accommodate them?  

     MR. SANDERS:  As I mentioned earlier, we would have to go through a review of prioritization of the programs that are -- and projects that are already in the plan and potentially change those, depending upon the scope, scale and complexity of the projects that do come up that we haven't identified. 

     And as we have asked for in this application, potentially variance accounts, if they are significant enough, but recognizing in the relocation and the main variance accounts we still would have to hit that threshold of materiality -- I believe it is a 15 million, approximately, capital threshold on top of the 5 we 

have.  So it would have to be above the 20 million threshold, so it would have to be substantial.

And we would have to also potentially look at over-spending if it is necessary.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Yesterday you had mentioned, Mr. Sanders, in your opening statement that the application is -- you are going out for three years, bottom-up approach.  And it includes an embedded productivity.

And if I understand correctly, over the past few days we have been hearing that this embedded productivity is akin to what would normally be an X factor in an IRM.  

     And I am trying to get a sense of how different is that budgeting approach that you have had -- that you have undertaken for the next three years.  How is that different than what normal, good utility practice budgeting would be?  

     MR. SANDERS:  I don't believe it actually would be.  I think that a good utility budgeting process would go through that same rigour every time and produce similar results.  So I don't think that the process would be very different in any utility.

I have worked at Union Gas as well and have undertaken a similar process. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So there hasn't been one step beyond because of the nature of this -- of this application? 

     MR. SANDERS:  I think the additional step that took place was recognizing the gap from -- as I mentioned, the benchmark we were using was 387 million or 386 million from the 2013, and recognizing that the cost pressures that we saw, based on, again, the integrity program, we had to come up with different methods of reducing that budget.

And the one mechanism we came up with, again, was removing that variable component. 

     That, I think, put on the company an additional layer of risk that typically would not be accepted in a sort of typical budgeting process. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  And my last question with respect to the variable costs and the uncertainty with respect to the variability costs.

I am again thinking about what -- you know, a typical cost of service application, be it one year or two year, if there were costs that were -- you were uncertain about, would those be -- would those be costs that would find their way into a normal type of application anyway?  

     MR. SANDERS:  Yes, absolutely they would, and I have done it myself in the past.  If I have a program -- and I am thinking to when the initial inline inspection programs were started for 30 percent SMYS pipelines.  When we budgeted for those projects, we budgeted for modifying the pipeline to accept the tools, running the tools, and we budgeted for a reasonable expectation of replacement as a result of those programs. 

     We would not have known what the outcomes of those programs would be, but we reasonably expected that we would have to replace some component of the pipeline after running the tools. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are our questions.

Mr. Stevens, have you got redirect for your witnesses?  

     MR. STEVENS:  No, I do not.  Thanks. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Well, the witnesses are excused with our thanks, and I think we have time to get your next panel up.

     MS. CONBOY:  While we're doing that, do we have an order for cross-examination for panel 5? 

     MS. SEBALJ:  I believe Mr. Wolnik has volunteered -- he is nodding -- to go first for this panel. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.  I have you down for 15 minutes.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, that should do. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Which means we will get beyond that today.  Who is after Mr. Wolnik?  Okay.  Thank you.  It is like having a reticulated bus.

Good afternoon, Mr. O'Leary. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, my name is Dennis O'Leary and I am delighted to be able to introduce panel 5, which is the capital budget, system integrity and reliability, stations replacement and upgrades, and other capital programs. 

     This is the evidence that appears at B2, tab 5, schedule 4 and B2, tab 5, schedule 5, and the attachments to those particular schedules. 

     And before I begin, has the panel been affirmed yet?  

     MS. CONBOY:  They have not, and we will do our efficient group affirmation.

While Dr. Elsayed is doing that, we won't be going through their CVs, and if you could just take us through somebody adopting the evidence and then we can move on.  

     Mr. O'Leary, I didn't have you down for any direct. Is that correct?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  That is correct.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 5


Stefan Surdu, affirmed

Chris Moore, affirmed

Deirdre Broude, affirmed

Robert Milne, affirmed

Catherine McCowan, affirmed
     MR. O'LEARY:  Before I ask the panel to adopt, I thought I might just point out that under Exhibit K1.1, which is the list of the -- is the hearing plan, you will actually see that the witnesses on this panel are identified from left to right, which is the top to bottom.  So it worked out quite conveniently. 

     And I am otherwise happy to introduce them, but I did want to just make one suggestion or request, and that is that Mr. Milne is on a plane at 7:00 a.m. tomorrow morning, so we're hoping that we would be able to complete this panel today.  And with Mr. Shepherd's decision not to cross-examine, that appears to give us about the right amount of time. 

     If I may, then, I would turn to you, Ms. Broude, and ask you on behalf of the panel:  Was the evidence that has been prefiled in this proceeding, the interrogatory answers that were given and the technical conference responses, were they all prepared by the members of the panel, or under your direction and control?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes, they were. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  To the best of your knowledge, on behalf of the panel, were these answers and the evidence correct?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.  Do you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding?  

     MS. BROUDE:  We do, yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, we do not have any evidence in-chief.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Wolnik, would you like to start?

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WOLNIK:

MR. WOLNIK:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is John Wolnik, and I represent the Association of Power Producers of Ontario. 

     I have a few questions related to Exhibit B2, tab 5, 

schedule 4, and it is also in the compendium that was handed out, at tab 4. 

     Maybe just while I raise that, I wonder if we should give the compendium an exhibit number. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, we should.  It is K5.7. 

EXHIBIT NO. K5.7:  APPrO COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS.
     MR. WOLNIK:  Some of the questions that I've got were 

answered by the last panel, so that should make it a little bit quicker, but there was one that was raised, and maybe -- it is probably best just to start there. 

     I don't know whether you saw the exhibit that was just 

handed out, the table, Exhibit K5.6, but it was a long list of projects, and I appreciate that -- I think it was Ms. Squires who indicated that it may not necessarily be the right schedule.  

I don't know if you have a copy of that handy, but I just wanted to be able to compare what was in K5.6 to what is in your evidence.  

     Maybe first looking at your evidence, and it is on the screen now, under the row entitled "District stations" you've got a budget for the forecast period for 2014, 2015 and 2016, and by my math, that works out to about $32 million.  Does that seem about right?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Great.  Now, can I get you to look at K5.6?  About midway down the first page, there are two categories called -– well, the first one is called "District station equipment replacement."  Then the next one is "District/header station equipment replacement." 

     I think Mr. Shepherd may have pointed this out, but district station equipment replacement seemed to not end up in the final review, review number 6, with zero dollars budgeted for that. 

     But the second item, the district station equipment 

replacement program, did make it in for review 6, and there's three years there, 2014, 2015 and 2016, totalling $27 million.

Was that intended to match what you have in your budget here of the 32 million?  Is that the same as the district stations in table 2?

     MR. MOORE:  Again, my apologies.  I am just reading this now.

I think if we included the header stations, which is a few lines down from that, it might be closer to the $32 million -- 

     MR. WOLNIK:  It is a combination of those two, then, and that looks like it probably does match. 

     And I hadn't heard or seen the reference to header stations before in your evidence -- or if I did, I missed it. 

     Can you just explain what that is?

     MR. MOORE:  Yes, I can.  It is in the evidence at  Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 2, page 1.  We just say:

"District and sales station equipment replacement program focuses only on district/header stations and sales stations."

     So we kind of think of the two as one type of station.  

Some of them we call district stations; some we call headers, for our purposes. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So they're one and the same, then, essentially?  

     MR. MOORE:  Effectively, the same function. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.  That's fine.  

     One of the themes we have heard here today and yesterday, I guess, relates to some of changes in legislation and whatnot. 

     You are responsible for these stations.  I just wanted to ask -- sometimes when new regulations are brought in, existing equipment is grandfathered.  Would you agree with that?  

     [Witness panel confers]

MR. MOORE:  So I think I understand the question.  You are asking, if there was old facilities that maybe don't meet the new regulations, we would be allowed to continue to use them?  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Yes. 

     MR. MOORE:  That is your grandfather.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Perhaps I should have been clearer, but that is exactly right.  

     MR. MOORE:  Honest, I'm not sure.  In this case, for this particular piece of evidence, we're talking about -- we are talking about facilities that at one point we did consider them to be suitable for service, and because of failures and other events we now don't, and would like to upgrade them and replace them. 

     Similarly, you know, when you buy a new car you're comfortable with the car.  There is not a lot of breakdowns for a number of years.  Things go fine.  And then something fails, and then another thing fails, and you start to think perhaps it is time to replace it.

So we have been in that kind of way of thinking, looking at our district and sales stations, if that helps. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Because I thought one of the categories of projects that you had was related to electronic measurement devices, and they needed to be retrofitted, for instance, to meet with electrical codes.

     MR. MOORE:  That's correct. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So were those codes in existence when you put those stations in, and did you just miss it?  Or -- or are these -- did the codes change after they were installed?

     MR. MOORE:  I believe in this case that my understanding is they probably were in place at that point.  But we didn't -- we didn't consider them when we installed these devices.  At least the installation practices and the location of them was in an area that now, when we look at the code and look at the existence of these devices, we know it needs to be fixed. 

     In fact, we have started to fix it.  We had started in 2013.  We're doing kind of a front-loaded plan.  You may see that page 5 of 14 of that same Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 2, we plan to replace 800 or remediate 800 of those locations in 2014 and 800 in 2015, because of our concern about the electrical compliance of those devices.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I will come back to that in a minute, but just to finish off the last line of questioning, in terms of some of the equipment that potentially could be grandfathered.  I think you weren't sure if any of that was.  I think -- if I understood your point, is you have decided to replace it because of your own evaluation of safety and reliability of that equipment; is that right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. SURDU:  If you refer to the change in regulation that deals with the monitoring of conditions that lead to failures and the obligation of the operating companies to mitigate those risks, all assets, new and existing, will be subject to that requirement.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  So your point is none of them would be grandfathered, then?  Is that...

     MR. SURDU:  For that particular code change, all of them will be subject to that requirement. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So no assets would be grandfathered?

     MR. SURDU:  No. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.


So just coming back to these, I guess, facilities that need to be remediated -- and I think we just talked about these electronic measurement devices and the need to comply with current electrical codes -- there were some other projects that I noticed.  For instance, insufficient test points that weren't installed at the time of construction, I think there were some boot-style regulators that were plugging up for debris. 

     And my question really goes to:  When these new stations are designed and constructed, do you meet all the codes and regulations?

I guess technically you haven't, because you have already acknowledged that, at least on the electrical side, you haven't met those codes. 

     But who has final say in terms of what the design is?  And how is it built?  Is it built according to the design?  Or is there a lapse in sort of the chain of command here, in terms of what has been designed and what has been installed?  Do installers have a lot of flexibility to change that design?  

     MR. MOORE:  And I will ask my friend, Mr. Surdu, to help me.  But those designs are -- they've got -- there's an engineering approval for each of them, and I don't want to say that all of them -- in the past these things we're replacing and fixing, I don't draw the conclusion that they were an inadequate design at the time or an inappropriate design.  They -- in my mind, for most of them, save the electronic devices, they were.  

     So -- but over time and with the change in FS-196, we've started to look at failures.  We've looked at the -- we call them trouble calls, but the times we have to get called out to them.  Sorry, do you want me to back up?

We look at, you know, all those operating considerations in addition to what is required by codes and standards. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So there was a fair bit of money, I think, budgeted for things like plugging up a boot-style regulator.  So -- and I understand you did have some failures, so those that had failures or those that you are planning on replacing, I assume that they didn't have filters installed on them to prevent debris from coming down the pipeline to plug up those sleeve regulators?  

     MR. MOORE:  Some of them do; some of them don't. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Some of them do?  So -- 

     MR. MOORE:  To go kind of into the details of why they failed, each failure of those boot-style regulators, which is sort of described in page 8 of the same exhibit, they -- you know, for example, if -- and I don't want to speak specifically about one or more of them, but if a station didn't have a filter on it at the time, we may have thought that was appropriate.


But over time we have done things like internally inspecting our pipelines, and through doing so we generate a lot of debris from the inside of the pipe.  The pipes are scraped clean and debris flows down the line. 

     Also, there's been a lot of growth, so the pipelines flow more at a higher velocity, and that carries the debris along, so it can cause failures.  And, you know, we're talking about stations here that -- these district stations, they can feed hundreds or thousands of customers.  Failure of them is not a desirable occurrence at all.  Failure can be -- can mean an over-pressure condition of the downstream piping.


So we had proactively -- on the boot-style, we proactively changed out the boots.  We tried to do maintenance that would prevent them from failing, and that didn't work either.  We know that there's certain circumstances where we need to change the style of regulators so that they could be robust enough and not have that kind of failure.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.  

     Based on the table at B2, tab 5, schedule 4, page 5 -- that is table 2 -- it looks to me that your budget for these stations is increasing about 66 percent from 2013 budget.  I didn't compare that to the actual, but a fairly significant increase. 

     If the Board said you could only have the 2013 budget plus inflation, what would the implications be?  

     MR. MOORE:  The implications to this line item, the district stations one?  Is that what you're asking? 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Well, the entire budget here, you know, roughly $25 million a year for each of the three years here.

MR. MOORE:  Well, these are all -- they're necessary projects, so we can speak to these.  We intend to go ahead and do the work.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  So if you didn't have the budget you would do it anyway, is the point?  Because in your -- Mr. Sanders said earlier safety and reliability was job one, and he would do it regardless of the budget.  Is that -- so these would fit into that category?  

     MR. MOORE:  I would say yes, yeah.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And one final question.

So you are spending a lot of money to upgrade or replace a lot of these stations, and you are telling us that they're going to meet or exceed all of the codes and regulations, and you certainly have much more stringent codes and regulations today than you might have had 10, 20 or 30 years ago. 

     So my question is, given -- and also given your asset management program, where you are now proactively, I think, looking at these facilities on an ongoing basis, would you expect these stations to last longer, be more -- have a longer useful life than the ones you had installed 10 or 20 years ago?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes.  Actually, if you -- if I could just speak to the district station component of that, in fact, what we intend to do and are doing -- just a minute -- and it is in our evidence.  We're doing things like, where appropriate, replacing the stations that are an issue with standardized stations. 

     Those standardized stations we have –- you know, just by doing so, it is going to be eliminating future call-outs, so that there is costs associated with that. 

     Those standardized stations -– well, today we have something like 58 unique, different regulator types.  These are all -- they're not easy to figure out how to fix and maintain. 

     So with 58 different and unique regulator types for this category of stations, we spend a lot of time training new employees.  We also have to buy a lot of spare parts, and with our plan to have -- which we're doing -- standardized stations, you can see lower training time for those employees, fewer spare parts.

But also, more to your question, you were asking about the technology. 

     Well, we used to just paint the stations and put them in the ground, and then every six or seven years or so, you have to come back and paint them –- more so when they're underwater, like some of our stations are, and in areas where there is corrosive soil and stuff. 

     So the new stations, we epoxy-coat them.  We have -- in a shop, they're assembled and they have a very high integrity coating, which we do -- we do expect will last quite a bit longer and save those return calls.

     MR. WOLNIK:  When you say "quite a bit longer," can you just -- I appreciate this may be subjective, but could you give me a better estimate of what that means?

     MR. MOORE:  It depends on the location of the station and the conditions.  But it is not the five, six, seven years; it is more like -- and this is my estimate -- 20 to 40 years. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So double?  Would it double the existing 

stations?  

     MR. MOORE:  Double the length of time between 

paintings, sure. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I am talking about the overall life, not just between paintings, and when you would have to replace it again.  

I appreciate that epoxy paint is probably a lot better than regular paint. 

     MR. MOORE:  Mm-hmm.  So your question is:  Do the stations last twice as long, the new stations?  

     MR. WOLNIK:  I am asking you -- I asked you if they would last longer.  You said yes.  So now I am trying to get you to quantify what that means.  

     MR. MOORE:  My apologies.  I mean, we haven't done a study and these haven't been around for -- the new ones haven't been around for that long.  But intuitively, yes, we think they're going to last quite a bit longer. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So 50 percent more?  I am not trying to get a precise number; I am trying to get some indication.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. MOORE:  I can't answer the question.  I don't have that information.  That's not something that -- we're doing our best efforts to make them last longer. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So quite a bit more was your initial 

response, right?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes, that is our estimate. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  One of the expenses of the utility is depreciation, which is really recovery of the capital of these facilities.

So I think what I hear you say saying is that as a result of the good work you're doing here, these stations will last longer, and perhaps some of the other integrity work that is being done as well. 

     So to the extent that they are going to last quite a bit longer, is the company asking for a longer depreciation life?  And if not, why?  

     MR. MOORE:  I don't think that is a question for our panel.  I'm certainly no expert in those matters, depreciation.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I would just remind Mr. Wolnik through the Board, there is a depreciation panel, panel number 12, and questions like that, that panel would be certainly willing to entertain. 

     MS. CONBOY:  They will have the benefit of having read the transcript, so they will know it is coming. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Madam Chair, I don't have any time for that panel.  If I could come back and ask that panel that question, that would be appreciated.  

     MS. CONBOY:  We will see how we go, Mr. Wolnik.  If that doesn't work, then if you can give your question to one of your colleagues, that would be great. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Those are my questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Thompson, I have you down for a half an hour.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I will be much shorter than that, Madam 

Chair.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, the first topic of your evidence here is the stations replacement and upgrades; am I correct?  

     MR. SURDU:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that is Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 4?  

     MR. SURDU:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And if I go to page 2 of that evidence, you describe in paragraph 4 the five subsets of this topic?  Gate stations and select district station upgrades, and then there are four others as well?

     MR. SURDU:  That is correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And I believe that there's an attachment to B2, tab 5, schedule 4, for each of those topics; is that correct?   

     MR. SURDU:  That is correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  We're certainly drilling down quite 

thoroughly here. 

     Now, would you people present this kind of information to the executive management team?  Or does somebody just take your information up to them and condense it?  

     MR. MOORE:  Sorry, in what forum are you envisioning us taking this information to the executive management team?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I am not -- I don't think you take it there; am I right?

I think somebody else bundles it up in a summary and presents it; is that correct?  

     MR. SURDU:  We're not sure.  I'm not sure what the process is.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, have you presented to the executive management team?  

     MR. SURDU:  Not myself. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Anybody on this topic?  

     MR. MOORE:  I mean, no, not the executive management team.  But I think Mr. Sanders talked about the review we did on capital and we did present, in great detail and at great length, the many iterations of it, each of these programs, and were challenged and, you know, this is what ended up after, if that helps.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I appreciate you are involved in the detailed work that Mr. Sanders described.  

     Now, in paragraph 5 of this evidence, you say:

"The capital requirements for Gate and Select District Stations upgrades or replacements are driven by safety and reliability risk mitigation, security concerns, compliance with codes and regulations, capacity requirements and finally, the condition, age or obsolescence of operating components or equipment."

I hope I read that correctly.

I suggest to you it was ever thus; this is not something new, is it?  

     MR. SURDU:  Component?  Components of -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  The drivers for these gate and select 

district station upgrades have always been these factors?  

     MR. SURDU:  Components of the compliance section are new.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, I'm suggesting to you that historically, these drivers –- "safety and reliability, risk mitigation, security concerns, compliance with codes and regulations, capacity requirements and the condition, age or obsolescence of operating components or equipment" --- have been the drivers for the kind of activities that you are describing here in your evidence, and for which there's a significant budget increase presented.  

     Am I clear?  

     MR. SURDU:  I guess we can say that the drivers are the same as in the past, the drivers per se, but components within those drivers are changing based on, for example, the regulation.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we had discussion about the regulations with the prior panel.  Are we talking about the same regulations?  

     MR. SURDU:  In part, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what is the part that -- 

     MR. SURDU:  Section 3.2, for example, in the CSA Z662, oil and gas pipeline systems that require -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, is that -- 

     MR. SURDU:  Sorry. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, carry on. 

     MR. SURDU:  That requires the operators to identify 

operational risk and mitigate those risks before failures occur.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But is that something that's been in place for some time?  

     MR. SURDU:  The code adoption happened in November -- I am just trying to find the --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is this the November 1, 2012 code that was being talked about this morning?

     MR. SURDU:  Yes.  I am just trying to find the exact 

evidence that details that information.  

     So it was Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1, paragraph 45.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we had a lot of evidence on

that this morning, that those requirements date back prior to that date, so I won't go through that again.  

     But in terms of the evidence here -- again, it is page 2 of B2, tab 5, schedule 4 -- Mr. Wolnik drew your attention to it; the 2013 number there is 15,767.

Is that budget or actual, or do you know?  

     MR. MOORE:  We believe that was the budget.

     MR. THOMPSON:  If you know, can you provide me with the actual for that year?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And if you can't, you can do it by way of undertaking.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I think we have to do that by way of 

undertaking, Mr. Thompson.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  And would you add to the undertaking the average for the period 2008 to 2012 for that number?  So we will have that historical number and we will have the actual for 2013.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  J5.13. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.13:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL NUMBER FOR 2013, AND THE AVERAGE FOR THE PERIOD 2008 TO 2012.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, did you folks consider those numbers that I have just mentioned, the historic average 2008 to 2012 and/or the actual of 2013, when developing this budget for '14, '15 and '16?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that a problem, that question, for some -- requires a huddle?

     MR. MOORE:  No, no.  We were just discussing how our approach was.  We certainly looked at some of the numbers in previous years, but we looked at the needs and built the budget based on our needs that met the reliability and safety concerns for each program.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And did anybody during this review process say to you:  Those are too high.  They're not compatible with historical actuals.  You've gone too far.  Cut it back?

     MR. MOORE:  I can speak for parts of it.

We were certainly challenged.  We were challenged quite a bit.  You know:  Why do you need this?  Why now?  What's the benefits?  So...

     MR. THOMPSON:  You weren't -- 

     MR. MOORE:  We weren't asked to -- like, I don't think there's any direction, any kind of:  Drop the numbers by something.

It was more challenging the need and the timing, and this is what we ended up with.  

     MS. BROUDE:  I think -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You mentioned when you were being examined by Mr. Wolnik -- 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, I think Ms. Broude was about to complete the answer there, Mr. Thompson. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  

     MS. BROUDE:  Sorry.  What I was going to add to that is these particular programs went through that same progress and rigour identifying what the firm costs were, what the variable costs were associated with any of the uncertainties that we did have. 

     So, you know, as Mr. Moore here did mention that, you know, there was incredible pressure on us to start looking at the various line items and identifying exactly what was needed. 

     So we believe that this is what we need.  We believe that we will spend the money associated with this, and we believe we're going to be challenged to delivering to this budget. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Mention was made, I think -- when you were being examined by Mr. Wolnik, I noted the phrase:  Something was "front-end loaded."

Could you just elaborate on what you were talking about there?

     MR. MOORE:  Yes.  In the -- it is Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 2, paragraph 2, the remediation of electronic devices.

Now, we started these already.  This was -- this work has already started because of the compliance need that we recognized.  And we looked at our resources, you know, who can do the work and when, and we were comfortable that we could get it done in the first two years, but we didn't want to wait to the third, right?  We wanted to get it done as soon as practical. 

     So that's what I meant by "front-end loaded".  You see dollars in 2014 and 2015, not in 2016, if that makes sense. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, you were just talking about that one example, were you?

     MR. MOORE:  I was just talking about that one example,

because of the compliance --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Are there any other examples of what you call "front-end loading" in this topic area?  

     MR. MOORE:  That was the section I was speaking to.  I didn't mean it for any other sections.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Did you do any analysis for the years 2017 and 2018, or does your analysis stop at 2016?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. BROUDE:  We budgeted consistent with the rest of the evidence for the years of 2014, '15 and '16, and then years '17 and '18 were flat, without that same detail as from 2014 to '16.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, did you actually do that, or did you just plug in the number?  Did you do any analysis for those years?  

     MS. BROUDE:  So for 2017 and '18, we recognized our needs are not going to change.  We will be continually challenged.  So the dollars identified for '17 and '18 reflect the continuation of our integrity programs.  

     MR. MOORE:  Could I add to that just a little bit?

In one of the programs in particular, the commercial industrial low-pressure regulator stations, which is tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 3, you know, we have 105,000 of these devices.  These are sitting right outside commercial industrial premises.  We have had some issues in the past with them. 

     So primarily the work there for the first couple years is the studying, studying it and determining what kind 

of appropriate work has to happen later on. 

     So do we have a, you know -- a really clear understanding of what we're going to have to do in 2016?  No.  Sorry.  2017, 2018?  No.  It depends on the result of the studies.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you have been doing this work before 2013.  I mean, this is not something new.  

     MR. MOORE:  No, but to get a really representative understanding of it, there is -- with 105,000 of them, they have to do a lot of samples.  They have to look at a lot of devices.  It takes time. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you have had 105,000 for some time, right?  

     MR. MOORE:  We have.  But they're not something that we had been reviewing with this kind of rigour, you know.  With the change in the legislation, we have to be looking at the failure mechanisms, try to understand them, make sure that we don't have these fail. 

     MS. BROUDE:  So for this particular population of assets, if you refer to B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 3, and at the bottom of page 4, we -- you're right.  I mean, we have had these for a significant length of time.  We inspect them on a regular basis.  These particular units, because of the configuration, can only be visually inspected.  And really in terms of the requirements to meet the new legislative standards, a visual inspection just is not sufficient to identify the performance of these particular assets. 

     So additional rigour needs to go into determining what the condition is of a sample population and how that really translates to the entire population of these assets. 

     So specific attention needs to be given these, to allow us to manage them in compliance with legislation.  

     MR. MOORE:  And if I could just add to that scenario, now we're at risk if we need to spend more than what is budgeted based on the results of these studies.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Finished?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Just quickly, then, in terms of these attachments, in terms of the undertaking you have given to me with respect to the table 1 in tab 5, schedule 4, page 2, if you could just break it out to cover the dollars and the budgets for each of these categories. 

     So for example at B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 1, page 2, we get the segment there for gate and select district station upgrades, do you see that?  With the budget for 2013 of 6,642?

     MR. SURDU:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So what I would like to have added to the undertaking is the actual for 2013, and the 2008 to 2012 average for that particular schedule.  

     MR. SURDU:  Sorry, can you repeat that?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  We can make this all part of the same undertaking.  If we then go to -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Thompson, I think you have been asked to repeat your request.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.  So with respect to tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 1, page 2, we have the actual amount for 2013, and the average for 2008 to 2012.  

     MR. SURDU:  Actuals, right?  Actuals, you're asking for?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Actuals for 2013 and average for 2008 to 2012, which would be actuals, yes.  

     MR. SURDU:  We can undertake that. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     MR. MOORE:  We can undertake and take it -- I just want to comment, though, that I know in this particular instance, there was a project planned for 2013 that we were not able to do, and it was fairly significant.  

Mr. Surdu can talk to the size, scope of it, but we had an issue with our large 30-inch line that feeds downtown.  And because of that work, we had to restrict work on other parts of the network, so that we didn't have a risk of affecting gas supply. 

     So there was one project that was deferred.  Actually, I think it's pushed into 2014, so it is not -- it's not represented here, but it is a pressure in 2014.  

So I just wanted to add that, that the story may not line up when you look at just the numbers. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, if you want to add 

qualifiers to the numbers, do that in the undertaking.  I am okay with that. 

     MR. MOORE:  Okay.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But I would like the same, then, for each segment of the -- of that total budget. 

     So for example, attachment -- the next one is attachment 2.  You will see the numbers there on page 1.  So I would like the actuals for 2013, and the average for 2008 to 2012.

Do you understand what I am asking for?

     MR. MOORE:  I think we understand it.  It is not easy to do, but I think we have undertaken to do it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I don't think I need to go 

through the other schedules, 3, 4 and 5.  There is numbers in there which have the 2013 budget and 2014, 2015 and 2016 budgets.  But I would like the actual for 2013 and the average 2008 to 2012.  

Can that be done, please?  

     MS. BROUDE:  We will undertake -- yes.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Just to be clear, that is your intention, Mr. Thompson, to have that as part of J5.13?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Correct. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then finally and just quickly, in terms of the other subject matter of your testimony, which is -- I think it is B2, schedule 5, and if we go to B2, tab 5, schedule 5, page 2, we have meter and regulator replacement program, distribution records management program, and then the EnVision extension project. 

If I could have, for the first two lines, the actual 2013 and the average 2008 to 2012 numbers, could you undertake to provide that, please?

     MR. MOORE:  We would be pleased to do that. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  That would be Undertaking J5.14. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.14:  TO PROVIDE ACTUAL 2013 AND AVERAGE 2008-2012 NUMBERS FOR FIRST TWO PROJECTS NOTED IN B2, TAB 5, SCHEDULE 5, PAGE 2.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And finally, with the EnVision extension project, there is testimony on that, I believe, at attachment 3, and there is an 8 -- is that $8 million in each of years 2014 and 2015?  

     MR. MOORE:  My apologies.  I think that's for a different panel that would be speaking to that. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, that is not your evidence?  Okay.

     MR. O'LEARY:   That’s the WAMS panel, which will be up likely tomorrow.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Quinn or Mr. Brett, who is up next?  

     MR. QUINN:  I am prepared to go, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Brett, we have to get through this panel today, so you will be prepared afterwards, after Mr. Quinn?  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I have 15 minutes.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. QUINN:
     MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-Housing Providers of Ontario. I am going to try to touch on a couple of items, and hopefully in a concise manner. 


You were talking with Mr. Thompson -- and I will give you the reference.  It is B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 1, page 1, if that could be brought up.  

As usual, Bonnie is faster than I am. 

     I understand that some of the break-out is on page 2, but I was struck by the level of expenditure as $29.7 million forecast over the three-year period. 

     The 74 regulation stations within the scope of this 

evidence, does that mean the 74 stations that are going to be worked on with that $29.7 million?  Am I reading that accurately, or is there a different translation?  

     MR. SURDU:  The stations that are being worked on are 

detailed in table 1, so that is Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 1, table 1.  

     And in addition to that, there is table 7, that details all the other stations that are being worked within that amount. 

     MR. QUINN:  I guess with my engineering background, I would love to have a detailed conversation about that, but we don't have time. 

     I am just trying to ask -- am I interpreting the first summary, that $29.7 million will be spent on 74 pressure regulating stations in the next three years?  

     MR. SURDU:  As I just said, $29.7 million refers to work that is detailed in table 1 and table 7 of that, of Exhibit B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 1.  

     MR. QUINN:  And is that 74 stations?  

     MR. SURDU:  No.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then the interpretation that is 74 

stations, what does that refer to?  

     MR. SURDU:  The 74 stations refer to stations, gate stations, select district stations.  Within the select concentric stations, we have the larger district stations that have telemetry systems, so communication back and forth with our gas control and compounds. 

     MR. QUINN:  So do you know offhand how many stations are actually going to be worked on with the $30 million?  

     MR. SURDU:  As I said, they are detailed in table 1 and table 7.  I can go through those, if you want me to. 

     MR. QUINN:  I am actually looking for a total number of stations.  I'm sorry I misinterpreted the 74. 

     MR. SURDU:  I can count them, if you want.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Let's do this, if I can, by way of 

undertaking.  

Can you provide the $29.7 million and divide 

that by the number of stations to be worked on in the next three years, by way of undertaking?  

     MR. SURDU:  I can certainly do that. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. SCHUCH:  That will be Undertaking J5.15. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.15:  TO DIVIDE THE $29.7 MILLION BY TOTAL NUMBER OF STATIONS TO BE WORKED ON IN THE NEXT THREE YEARS.
     MR. O'LEARY:  May I just inquire as to what specifically the undertaking is?  I am assuming that it is just a request for the number of stations that will be worked on, because to do simple division into 29 million is not going to provide any credible evidence of anything.  It is just the number of stations; is that correct?  

     MR. QUINN:  What I am trying to ask, Mr. O'Leary -- and I misinterpreted the 74 station as being the ones that needed to be worked on.  I have done the math and that would be about $400,000 a station. 

     I am going to be asking a few questions about the 

age of the stations that fall into that category.  And if I am understanding, there's a total of 74 stations that fall into that category; is that correct?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All I was simply asking is if the number comes back, we will provide -- we will give you the number of stations that will be worked on, but to simply divide that number into 29 million would not provide you with anything, because that does not indicate the actual cost of the work in relation to each of the stations.  

     MR. QUINN:  It does --

     MR. O'LEARY:  You can do the math and make whatever argument, but I just don't see it as being of any benefit.  

     MR. QUINN:  I will continue on, and then maybe refine an undertaking that maybe they can take more holistically.  I was just trying to move us along, because --

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please proceed. 

     MR. QUINN:  -- 74 stations, that is the total number that would fall into this, large stations that have telemetry?  Do I have that correct now?  

     MR. SURDU:  And compounds.

     MR. QUINN:  And compounds?  Okay.


Are they in a certain range of -- or do you have a certain plant type that these stations fall into?  You have referred to them by this generic category; is that a plant type in your accounting records?  

     MR. MOORE:  Sorry, we are not the panel to ask accounting questions to.  My apologies.  We're technical folks.  

     MR. QUINN:  What I am trying to get to, and maybe you can help me get there, is you are spending $30 million.  There's 74 stations.  If every 74 -- one of those 74 stations worked on, that is $400,000 of remediation on stations over a three-year period. 

     I would like to know what the average age of those stations is.  If it is a plant type, you should be able to get that from your plant records.  And to the extent that you have plant records in that category, you would say what is the total value of stations in that area.

     So if each was worth a million dollars, you would have $74 million worth of stations in that plant type, and you are going to spend $30 million on it.  I am trying to get a high-level understanding of what kind of turnover of equipment are we looking at over a three-year period in a very select category of stations.

     MR. SURDU:  Averaging out the cost per station may not be providing a lot of value as -- within the scope of the evidence.  There's work that relates to rebuilds, there's work that relates to risk mitigation, and the actual cost per station, if you want to look at that, could vary significantly from -- depending on what the work type is.


I am going to try to give you some more information.  Maybe that will help.  In this category there are stations that could -- are probably -- it will cost to build, let's say, between -- anywhere between -- just to put it in context, 1.5 million to maybe north of $15 million.


To put things in context, these are industrial plants where natural gas is being processed.  It goes through several processes, metering, heating, pressure regulation, odourization.  It is a fairly complex plant.


I am not sure if that helps with your assessment or not.  

     MR. QUINN:  I understand how the stations work.  I designed some in my day, and I would like to know how much turnover you are looking for in terms of the composition of what's in that category, and what does $30 million look like in terms of turning it over. 

     Mr. Moore tried to suggest that, you know, as cars age, we maintain them.  If we've got a two-year-old car, it's going to have less maintenance than a 10-year-old car.

I am trying to look at what is the average age of the stations that you're working on, and if you have any kind of representative figure as to what the total cost of those stations are.  You've given us some frame of reference. 

     Are we talking about a 5 percent turnover in terms of plant equipment, or a 50 percent turnover in plant equipment?  If you can give me anything that would be helpful in that area, I would appreciate it.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. SURDU:  So I just want to clarify a little bit more, if I may.  The projects that are proposed are detailed in the evidence, and not all of the projects refer to equipment replacement, if that is what you are interested in. 

     A lot of the -- or a significant portion of the projects proposed deal with risk mitigation type of initiatives, which don't necessarily include equipment replacement. 

     So I am not sure whether you would take any benefit from that kind of information.  

     MR. QUINN:  Can you do it on a best-efforts basis and I can see if I can benefit from that?  

     MR. SURDU:  Sorry, what is your request again?  

     MR. QUINN:  You are spending $30 million on an area of plant.  You can ask your accounting people if it is a plant type, and then you have a base account that you are dealing with.  If you do have that, what is the composition of that 

account?  How much is in that account?


I am trying to get a sense for how much plant equipment -- including risk mitigation, if you want to add that in and put some caveats with it -- what kind of turnover we can expect that you are trying to invest in.  I have one follow-up question in that area, but I would like at least to get the numbers to understand how your expenditures went from $6 million in budget 2013 to approximately $30 million over the next three years. 

     So that's a significant increase in budget, and I am trying to understand what is being accelerated in terms of plant replacement.  

     MR. MOORE:  Well, the evidence certainly speaks to what is being accelerated  in terms of plant replacement.  It tells the story very clearly.

I think you're asking us to figure out from our accounting group the value of each of those stations?  Or the aggregate value of those 74 stations?  

     MR. QUINN:  If you have a plant type, it is one number in a plant-type account.  To the extent that they can look at an allocation to, say, 74 stations, there's actually 100 that fall into that plant type, so 74 per cent of that, that is all the kind of number I am looking for, what is invested in those stations already, and what is -- and we can compare that to the amount of replacement that you are going to incur in the next three years. 

     MR. MOORE:  Okay.  I think we understand. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that will be J5.16. 


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.16:  TO PROVIDE THE COMPOSITION OF THE ACCOUNT AND TO PROVIDE THE SPECIFIC SIGNIFICANT CODE CHANGES THAT ARE DRIVING THE INCREMENTAL INVESTMENT OVER THE NEXT THREE YEARS.

     MR. QUINN:  And if I may -- and either as part of that undertaking or a separate one, provide the specific significant code changes that are driving the incremental investment over the next three years.  

     I understand you are looking at general risk mitigation and those types of things, but I would like the specific drivers.  Is it a deterioration you talked about, actual flow valves and debris in the valves?  Are you having to replace them with Mooney Flowgrids?

Whatever your response is to a code change, just to give some detail around that, that would be helpful.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I can help to move things along. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Yes, please. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  We will provide a response as best we can, but I just wanted to point out that the $29 million figure which is set out -- which is the sum of the three years for table 1, part of it is made up of $19 million, which appears at table 7, and there is a whole list of upgrades, and I would call them housekeeping items.  That may be wrong, but...

So the response back, you will see, I would anticipate may not be exactly as Mr. Quinn might be expecting, because we have breakdowns for some specific items that are going to be undertaken at different stations. 

     So I don't know how providing a quote in respect of one station is going to assist in this regard, but we will do the best we can to try and provide a reason for the increase.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Quinn?

     MR. QUINN:  That is satisfactory. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. QUINN:  I am just going to touch on one more area -- oh, we have the undertaking?  You can add those qualifications to the undertaking, then?

I see Mr. Mandyam is nodding, so thank you.  

     The other areas -- I read that you are replacing paper charts with electronic recorders, and that came as somewhat of a surprise for me, because, as I understand it, there is a significant amount of cost associated with paper charts.  Some of it, you have recorded in your evidence, but you have got to maintain the charts, you've got to replace them, you've got to read them, you've got to data-enter them.

There is a significant cost associated with those paper charts, is there not?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What I didn't see in the evidence -- I know you are spending several million dollars on replacing them, and I think that probably is a wise investment over time, but there must be a corresponding operations and maintenance reduction associated with it. 

     I thought it would be covered in the evidence.  If I missed it because it is in another section of O&M, if you can point me to that reference, that would be great.  Otherwise, we can ask the O&M panel as they come up. 

     MR. MOORE:  Can I tell you, generally?  

     MR. QUINN:  Sure.  

     MR. MOORE:  So for each chart recorder we've got, we have -- just so everybody knows, these are paper charts with pens that you have to replace, and you have to replace the paper charts.  It is somewhere in the order of $200 a year we spend on the parts and the changing of those. 

     The electronic recorder, which does not have any consumable items like paper, still does have batteries and they have to be changed, and some other minor costs. But they're about $100 a year.  

So, you know, we're saving about $100 a year per replacement. 

     We also add new stations every year.  So we had, last year, 592 new stations added.  That's about 17 stations for every 1,000 customers, so we kind of link it to the customer growth. 

     And we have 55 maintenance people and they maintain about 260 stations each.  So following my math, every year of this program we're effectively displacing the need for adding two full-time maintenance people to do the rest of the work. 

     So to us, this is -- I guess I should call this the -- it's productivity; it's the right thing to do. 

     MR. QUINN:  Right.  And if -- either by way of undertaking, or if we want this question to be brought to the O&M panel, where do we find those resulting savings in the O&M budget?  

We would like to -- if we're investing in the equipment to save all of that money, then we should be able to see it in the O&M budget, I would presume.  

     MR. MOORE:  We are keeping our labour flat, our people flat.  So there's no reduction per se.  

There's a growth in the work, but the people stay the same.  So same number of people. Would you like that explained in an undertaking?  

     MR. QUINN:  How about you quantify the overall O&M savings associated with it, and I will be satisfied with that.  Thank you.  The annual O&M savings as a result of this program.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  We will try and do a calculation. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Schuch?

     Mr. SCHUCH:   Madam Chair, that will be J5.17. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.17:  QUANTIFY ANNUAL O&M SAVINGS ASSOCIATED WITH ELECTRONIC RECORDER PROGRAM.

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. QUINN:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Brett?  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:
     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  Good 

afternoon, panel.  I have just a few questions for you, a couple of general questions.  

But before that, Mr. Moore, I am looking at this chart, K5.6, that you spoke to others about, this big table here.  And there is an item in here which is called "District header station equipment replacement."  I think you spoke to Mr. Thompson about this.  

     MR. MOORE:  Right.  

     MR. BRETT:  It is a total of -- at least in this, it is a total of 27 million on this table, $27,189,000 over the three years. 

     And my question is:  Is that one of your projects?  Is that one that you brought, that you had to justify before the screening committees?  

     MR. MOORE:  The district header station equipment 

replacement, yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I notice in here that it's found in the final review, review 6; do you see that?  But not in the review -- in the first review.  

     So that means, to my sort of simple way of thinking, that somehow between the first and sixth review -- 

     MR. MOORE:  Right. 

     MR. BRETT:  -- this project crept in, so to speak, and got included.  Can you explain that process?

     MR. MOORE:  I can try.  I can point you to the line item above it, the district station equipment replacement project.

MR. BRETT:   Yes, I see that.

MR. MOORE:  And then the line item down lower, the 

header stations. 

     MR. BRETT:  Wait a second.  The header stations, yes, I see that.  That is a total of about 10 million or something, roughly?  11? 

     MR. MOORE:  I think this is probably something that -- my general recollection is we combined them together, but I think I would have to take it away and give you -- 

     MR. BRETT:  That is the answer.  I guess I heard that 

answer, but I must have -- given the lateness of the hour, it must have eluded me. 

     Okay.  A couple of quick questions.  We have talked a bit about sort of the taxonomy of these stations, and I have just a couple of quick questions on that. 

     How many gate stations do you have in your system?

Now, the gate stations, as I understand it, are the big stations where you get custody transfer of gas from the transmission companies to your people? 

     How many of those stations do you have?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. SURDU:  45.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then how many district stations?  You have obviously another, what, 30 or so, 30 or so district stations -- 29 maybe -- that are equipped with telemetry and perimeters, security compounds, as you call it?  I take it that's what that means.  They have their own sites?  

     MR. SURDU:  Correct. 

     MR. MOORE:  That's correct.  Just to add, though, we have another 3,350 district stations. 

     MR. BRETT:  That was my next question.  You have 3,350 

district stations, and those are -- those are sort of regional stations, as it were, eh?  

They're pressure reduction stations scattered across your whole service territory that move pressures down to something pretty close to what's required to serve clients; is that right?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then in addition to that, you've got, as I understand it, about 13,000 or what you are calling -- I am going by tabs here.  We just talked about tabs 1 and 2, right?  Gate stations and district stations?  

In stage 3, you talk about sales stations, and I am not sure -- you have about 104,000 of those; is that right?  

     MR. MOORE:  Well, could I correct myself earlier? There's about 1,350 what we call low-pressure district stations, and then 3,350 district stations.  

     There's also 9,600 sales stations that are delivering two, five or 10 PSI to customers. 

     MR. BRETT:  And that is how you get to 13,000?

     MR. MOORE:  That is how we get to 14,200, or whatever. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That's good. 

     MR. MOORE:  And then -- sorry. 

     MR. BRETT:  Then you have a couple of million of individual connections, effectively?  

     MR. MOORE:  Correct.  We have a couple of million of 

individual regulators. 

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. MOORE:  People's houses. 

     MR. BRETT:  That is dealt with in schedule 5?  Okay.  I don't need more than that at this stage. 

     Let me just -- unless you want to add something badly.  The way I do the arithmetic here, at a high level, if I take schedule 4 and schedule 5 together, it looks to me like you are spending about $200 million over the three years.

Is that reasonably in the ballpark as a high-level number?

That would include -- that may include the EnVision capital, so you might have to take $16 million off that, but we're talking about in the range of 160 to 180 to $195 million over three years on station replacements, and then what you call other programs, which are the regulator and meter replacement program and the records replacement program. 

     So those three buckets, if you like, total about $200 million?  

     MR. MOORE:  I get a little less in my head, but subject to check, yes, about $200 million. 

     MR. BRETT:  If there is a problem, you can let me know. 

Now, I would like you to turn up -- on the gate station, this would be attachment 1 to B2, tab 5, schedule 4.  I would like you to turn up page 7 of that, if you could.  You have given an example at -- do you have page 7?  

     MR. SURDU:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. BRETT:  You have given an example of the Campbellford gate station, and you are basically expanding the capacity of it, as I understand it. That is sort of a fundamental driver; is that right?  

     MR. SURDU:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  What I am interested in is sort of how 

this works out.  

Your last sentence here in that paragraph, the first 

paragraph on page 7:

"This job on Campbellford ensures the reliable supply of natural gas to Enbridge customers and the safe operation of the station, while capturing productivity and efficiency savings."

     My question is:  When you're referring to "productivity and efficiency savings," I see in your response there -- well, what are you referring to specifically?  

     MR. SURDU:  So it refers to productivity gains or efficiency gains by combining projects to avoid multiple project planning and mobilization of working crews onsite.  So in this particular --

     MR. BRETT:  That's okay.  I understand that.  That is the -- that is sort of doing these other tasks at the same time as you are doing the capacity expansion, to get it all done at once? 

     MR. SURDU:  That is correct, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  My question, then, is -- and that's fair enough -- do you have a dollar number for that?  Any idea of what that amounts to?  

     MR. SURDU:  We don't have a dollar number that specific -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Could you get it?  Could you estimate it?  I am really using this as an example.  I realize there are dozens and dozens of these.  But this is -- I am trying to get sort of a topology of the kinds of savings that you might get from these projects, so if you could give an estimate as to how much you would save by doing it this way, that would be helpful. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I mean, we could certainly come up with a scenario, but I am not sure under which scenarios -- I am just concerned that it wouldn't be of any assistance. 

     MR. BRETT:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Mr. O'Leary, you have said this three or four times now.  I don't -- it would be of interest to me, and I think it would be of interest to the Board, to know what the -- you see, we're very interested in productivity and efficiency savings here.  That is the whole point of this series of panels, from our point of view. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I appreciate that, but the question becomes:  Is the scenario where every unit that's being replaced or upgraded is done at a separate time, and those are the savings that we should be calculating?  

     MR. BRETT:  That's right.  I'm sorry, that --

     MR. O'LEARY:  Or do you have them at the same time or –-

MR. BRETT:  That's exactly right.  The savings that you get -- I thought I was pretty clear, but the savings you get by doing these things simultaneously.  And I think Mr. -- I think the two gentlemen on the right understand what I am after. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  It will be subject to many qualifications, but certainly we will do our best.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Perhaps I could give an example of some of the type of savings we think we could get. 

     MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry?  What was that?

     MS. McCOWAN:  Perhaps I could give an example of some of the places where we think we will get productivity savings, not necessarily the exact dollars, but an example of the dollars. 

     MR. BRETT:  No.  I want -- I just want an estimate of what you think the ballpark estimate of what the dollar savings would be by combining this capacity upgrade with these six or seven other -- six or seven other tasks that you are going to do at the same time. 

     MS. CONBOY:  We understand that there will be some qualifying statements along with that, Mr. O'Leary, so we will be -- 

     MR. SURDU:  Madam Chair, I would like to ask a question about that, just to make sure that I understand -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  Sure. 

     MR. SURDU:  -- what we need to do. 

     So what would be the base case that we compare with?  Would it be to have individual projects for all these elements that are combined within the project that we're proposing?

So there could be six or eight items or 10 items.  Would we compare with the base case that would have one project and a mobilization of crews by each individual item?  Is that what is requested?  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, you could do it this way, but you might -- you'd need to specify, if you do it that way, what is involved in each of the other six or seven items, because I am assuming the mobilization wouldn't be the same.  They're all quite distinct projects, right?

     MR. SURDU:  They would be different indeed. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  We will do our best. 


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, I think that would be Undertaking J5.18. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.18:  TO PROVIDE A BALLPARK ESTIMATE OF DOLLAR SAVINGS ACHIEVED BY COMBINING THE CAPACITY UPGRADE WITH THE OTHER TASKS BEING DONE SIMULTANEOUSLY.
     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. BRETT:  Now, the other thing, just the flip side of that question is you've identified five or six or five to seven additional tasks that you would do at the same time in this paragraph, and I noticed going through your evidence that the same five or six items appear in every -- almost every upgrade.

So in other words, this is a package of items that you seem to be adding, you know, a security system, a weather system, carbon monoxide and methane detection, communication redundancy, RTU upgrades, pressure-relief valves on the glycol loop.

You've got those in many of the other projects; correct?  

     MR. SURDU:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  If I am calling it a standard package of add-ons, I wouldn't be misstating it?

     MR. SURDU:  That is correct.  They are all detailed in table 7. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, I understand that, but do you need all of that?  Do you need all of that stuff?

I mean, the driver for this project is the capacity increase.  So what you are doing here is you're doing a capacity increase, and then you are loading on these six or seven other things, and you are doing that repeatedly across the board as you progress with capacity increases. 

     The question is:  Do you need all those six or seven 

things in every case, or is this sort of a "like to have" as opposed to a "must have"?

I understand the capacity is a must have.  What I am asking about are these other six or seven add-ons. 

     MR. SURDU:  They are all must-have items.  They are identified through our risk analysis, and they need to be deployed for the whole portfolio.  And we are taking an opportunity to deploy those items with the -- at the same time we have other initiatives going at gate stations, to achieve productivity. 

     They are must-do, and they need to be deployed across the portfolio. 

     MR. BRETT:  So for example, you don't have carbon monoxide monitoring now on your stations?

     MR. SURDU:  No, we don't.  

     MR. BRETT:  And a weather system, how is a weather statement an absolute must-have?  What does that mean?  Well, never mind.

What is it and why is it a must-have?  

     MR. SURDU:  In case of -- for example, in case of an oil spill, it is critical to understand what the weather conditions are to identify the appropriate mitigation if that occurs.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, at the end of this section, page 29, the end of the first tab, B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 1 -- I think this was touched on maybe earlier.  I'm not certain.  But you say that you see no more large projects in sight, effectively.

Is that -- so that means -- and no more major projects are contemplated, if I have this right.  Yes, last short sentence:

"There are currently no forecast additional major projects." 

     Is that over the term of the IRM?  Is that what you're saying here?  Up until 2018 there should be no more major 

projects?  

     MR. SURDU:  That refers to the 2014 to 2016. 

     MR. BRETT:  '16 only?

     MR. SURDU:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  So it doesn't refer to '17 and '18?


MR. SURDU:  That is correct. 


MR. BRETT:  '17 and '18, you can have more major projects.  What is your criteria for major?

     MR. SURDU:  I don't have that information -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I didn't catch you.  I 

Interrupted, I'm sorry. 

     What is your criteria -- let's take it in two parts.  What is your criteria for major?  Is it...

     MR. SURDU:  So major are -- I guess for the purpose of this evidence, is considered projects over $2 million.

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  And I think your answer on the first part was you don't have the information for 2017 and '18 yet?  

     MR. SURDU:  That's correct.  

     MR. BRETT:  I mean, it hasn't been figured out yet, in other words?

     MR. SURDU:  That is correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I am getting down toward the end of my time here, but I have -- I guess -- and that answer, I've not -- you have given a similar answer. 

     Well, hang on just a second.  Let me just look at this next step here.  

     Okay.  So on number 3, attachment 3, the -- this is the 105,000 low-pressure regulator stations that we talked about.  And this, as I understand it, if we go to page 7 of 8, B2, tab 5, schedule 4, attachment 3, as I understand it, in the period 2014 to 2016 you're going to study this in some detail.  You're going to have a couple of pilot projects, and you are going to determine during this period what the scope of the program -- of this program really should be; is that correct?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes, that is correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  So the real program, if I can put it that way, the big -- the implementation program, which I think, if I recall the -- if I recall the asset plan, is a substantial sum of money estimated -- well, it's not in sufficient detail there. 

     But basically, the big program won't start until 2017; is that right?  The actual implementation of this program?  It will roll out after you have done your studies and after you have done your pilots, and if everything is green, goes green for you -- get the green light -- you will start the big program in 2017; is that a fair characterization?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Well, I wouldn't say it is an entirely accurate characterization. 

     We are keeping our costs flat for the 2017 and 2018 period of time.  So what it means is we're going to need to be prioritizing this work, once we understand the implications based on the study that we commence. 

     MR. BRETT:  You're going to do a few more pilot programs, in effect?

     MS. BROUDE:  No, no, not at all.  Along with the pilot programs, we are going to be replacing, as needed, these types of sets. 

     So it is kind of like the start of a pilot and a paced 

replacement program.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Let me put it this way.  If you were to go on at that pace, that $2 million a year pace, how long would it take you to complete this program, roughly?  Are you looking at about 50 years, or --

     MS. BROUDE:  It's the -- I think currently the plan over the 2015 and 2016 period of time was to replace approximately 630 of these installations. 

     Now, they don't all need to be replaced.  So again, we're going to be prioritizing and replacing the critical ones that we see not meeting our safety and reliability criteria.

     So we really don't know the extent of what that is going to be, but, you know, there are going to be ones that will need to be replaced.  We're going to need to prioritize them, and we will be able to manage it in a safe and reliable way to our budget.  

     MR. BRETT:  Just one question on each of the remaining two programs.

If I switch gears to the schedule 5, and the 

regulator or meter and regulator replacement program, you have quite a lot of money tied up in that.  I think 25,000 -- well, it's -- I will have a quick look at that.

It's about 28,000 -- well, it is about 24,000 a year, right?  In each of the three years, 24,000 in 2014 going to 28 in 2016?

     MR. MILNE:  Yes, that's correct.  It is actually on page 1 of 6. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, that's where I am.  Yes, table 1.  Right. 

     MR. MILNE:   So that is a million.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  This is driven by -- as I understand it, by a new standard from Metering Canada.  This is not TSSA-driven; this is a thing driven by the Metering Act?

     MR. MILNE:  Yes, Measurement Canada, so it’s the Electricity and Gas Inspection Act.  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, all right.  Again, this is sort of the front end of a somewhat -- is this a multi-year program, the front end of a multi-year --

     MR. MILNE:  This would be the new reality that we need to operate going forward from this point on.  

MR. BRETT:  So you are expecting what?  You would be expecting amounts of that level going forward?  

     MR. MILNE:  Yes, I would, with adjustments, of course, for things like inflation. 

     MR. BRETT:  This is to gradually replace your non-compliant meters?

     MR. MILNE:  What is driving the Measurement Canada's new standards is trying to improve billing accuracy.  So because of that, the amount of meters that are being sampled and the amount of meters that are being replaced is increased. 

     So under that new regime, it will be that same level until the requirements change. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes. 

     MR. MILNE:  At this point, there is no foreseeable change to those new requirements. 

     MR. BRETT:  This doesn't mean all of your meters have to change, I take it.  This means you have certain categories of meters that are not compliant with that new standard, and have to be gradually changed. 

     MR. MILNE:  Actually what it is, it is a testing method.  So all of the meters are supposed to ensure they have accurate bills.  Right?  

So you divide your meters into homogenous 

groups of similar age, make and model, and you bring some of those in a year before they come due in terms of their seal life, and you test them.  

And based on the results, if they pass a certain threshold they can stay in service; if they fail that threshold, you need to remove them by the end of the next year. 

     MR. BRETT:  One last question.

On your GPS systems, you've got money under your -- if we turn to your records management program at tab 5, schedule 5, attachment 2, it is about a $21 million program over three years –- it’s a little more than that, I guess. 

     But in any event, GPS, you put in $3 million a year for GPS here.  And it looked to me from reading your evidence that you were -- that this was a new program you were launching.  When did GPS -- have you used GPS before, and when did it start? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  I can speak to that.  By the table I am 

looking at, we're spending nine million over three years, three million in each of three years. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, I see that. 

     MS. McCOWAN:  And so we established that towards the end of 2012 and through 2013, we established the standards, our engineering standards, the processes, the governance and technology. 

     MR. BRETT:  This is your first real -- this is your launch of that program, if I can put it that way? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, we launched it 2013 to our construction crews working on mains.  And from that point on, for most of the mains, they have been creating their as-built drawings from the GPS data. 

     MR. BRETT:  Is it $3 million a year more or less forever? 

     MR. MONDROW:  Certainly for the foreseeable future. 

     MR. BRETT:  And do you need this?  I mean, why do you need this now?  I mean, everybody talks about GPS in different contexts, but my question is:  Why do you need this now, going forward?  What's the -- what's the driver for this now?  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Okay.  I can speak to that.

So we think there's a couple of real benefits.  If you look at the rules around verifiable, traceable and complete information, if you think about a paper drawing and somebody writing things down and then scanning that in, and then it being transposed in the office onto another record, there's opportunity for errors to come in. 

     And there is also a fair delay that is brought in as the information is transferred from the field to the office.  

So with our GPS project, that information goes straight from a GPS hand-held unit in the field right into the GIS system. 

     And there's an additional benefit, which is where I was going to speak to productivity earlier.  Our traditional as-built drawings are done by measuring the location of the main relative to features that you can see above-ground, so fire hydrants, curb lines, that kind of thing.  

And as roads are realigned and construction takes place, those records could become outdated and that means that our locates can't be done as effectively, and that kind of thing. 

     And if I could just take you to our table 3 in our evidence, you will see a line. 

     MR. BRETT:  Table 3.  What page?  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Table 3 in Exhibit 2, tab 5, schedule five, attachment 13. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, I am aware of this. 

     MS. McCOWAN:  You will see there is a "Re-survey" line.  That re-survey line item is for exactly that; it is for going out and finding those assets where the road realignment and stuff has meant that we no longer have a good record of that asset's location. 

     MR. BRETT:  Have you calculated the savings you will get as an organization from using this method, as opposed to whatever your paper method is, as you put it?  Have you or could you demonstrate what the annual savings are from these investments?

     MS. McCOWAN:  We haven't done that calculation.  The areas that we're seeing the savings are in particular for our pipeline inspectors, who are creating the records.  Now that they're comfortable with the technology, they're able to spend more of their time actually watching the installation of the asset.

Like I said before, there is the fact we won't need to go out and re-survey this plant. 

     Now, we don't see that benefit next year or the year after; road realignment doesn't take place all the time. But as you can see, we have a fair amount of money in every year to do that type of -- 

     MR. BRETT:  I understand that.  I think I understand that and there is a fair point there.

But could you give me an undertaking to do some kind of a -- do a forecast of what you think the savings would be, say, over a three-year period from an annual investment of $3 million in GPS?  Say, in 2014 what would the savings look like in 2015 and 2016, 2017 and 2018?

That should be sufficient.  I just want to get a feel for what kind of financial benefit there is to the company in making this investment. 

     This is a significant multi-year new program launch that we are seeing, and I don't know that it is connected directly to the statute and regulations, as some of the other stuff is. 

     But in any event, could you give me an undertaking to do that, please?

     MS. McCOWAN:  Sure. 

     MS. BROUDE:  Mr. Brett, if I could just add to this, you know, through our asset plan and through a lot of our evidence, we identify the damages that are the greatest threat that we have on our distribution system. 

     And one of the pieces that is really key to reducing these threats on our system is having accurate records. 

     I mean, they're really the foundation, so --

     MR. BRETT:  I take your point.  I shouldn't have editorialized at the end.  I am not quarrelling with you that there would be some security benefit. 

     Indeed, in some ways, having good records is probably where this thing should start, not finish, but I would still like to see an analysis of the benefits. 

     MS. BROUDE:  Oh, for sure.  For sure.

I'm just saying there are other intangible kind of benefits outside of that. 

     MS. McCOWAN:  To be clear, it actually did start with good records. 

     MR. BRETT:  Can we have a number for that, please?

     MS. CONBOY:  Just a minute, please.  Go ahead, Mr. O'Leary. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  We will provide an undertaking.  I just wanted to indicate that as I heard from Ms. McCowan, some of these benefits may be longer down the road than simply 2017 and 2018, so the answer may have a longer view as well. 

     MR. BRETT:  Well, that's why I put it at four years.  I gave you four years to show the payback, essentially. 

     Anyway, those are my questions, and I appreciate you giving me the extra time at the end of the day. 

     MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, there is an undertaking.


MS. CONBOY:  There is?


MR. SCHUCH:  That would be J5.19.

UNDERTAKING J5.19:  TO PROVIDE A THREE-YEAR ESTIMATE OF SAVINGS FROM AN ANNUAL INVESTMENT OF $3 MILLION IN GPS.
     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  

     MS. CONBOY:  The Panel has no questions of this panel.


Mr. O'Leary, have you got any redirect for them?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  We don't, Madam Chair.  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Well, thank you very much, panel.  You are excused with our thanks.  You can make your flight for your trip home.

And we will adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:15 p.m. 
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